CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA

Meeting Agenda
City and Borough Assembly

Mayor Mim McConnell
Deputy Mayor Matt Hunter
Vice-Deputy Mayor Benjamin Miyasato
Aaron Swanson, Steven Eisenbeisz
Tristan Guevin, and Bob Potrzuski

Municipal Administrator: Mark Gorman
Acting Municipal Attorney: Brian Hanson

ASSEMBLY CHAMBERS
1332 Seward Ave.
Room 229
Sitka, AK
(907)747-1811

Tuesday, June 14, 2016

6:00 PM

Assembly Chambers

REGULAR MEETING

I CALL TO ORDER

L. FLAG SALUTE

M. ROLL CALL
Iv. CORRESPONDENCE/AGENDA CHANGES
16-109 Reminders, Calendars and General Correspondence
Attachments: Reminders and Calendars.pdf
Public Works Update.pdf
V. CEREMONIAL MATTERS
None anticipated.
VI. SPECIAL REPORTS: Government to Government, Municipal

Boards/Commissions/Committees, Sitka Community Hospital, Municipal Departments,
School District, Students and Guests (time limits apply)

16-117

VII. PERSONS TO BE HEARD

Halibut Point Road/Peterson Street crosswalk improvement project -
Police Chief, Sheldon Schmitt

Attachments: Special Report.pdf

Public participation on any item off the agenda. All public testimony is not to exceed 3
minutes for any individual, unless the mayor imposes other time constraints at the
beginning of the agenda item.
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City and Borough Assembly Meeting Agenda June 14, 2016

VIIL. REPORTS

a. Mayor, b. Administrator, c. Attorney, d. Liaison Representatives, e. Clerk, f. Other

IX. CONSENT AGENDA

All matters under Item IX Consent Agenda are considered to be routine and will be
enacted by one motion. There will be no separate discussion of these items. If
discussion is desired, that item will be removed from the Consent Agenda and will be
considered separately.

A 16-107 Approve the minutes of the May 19, 24, and 31 Assembly meetings

Attachments: Consent and Minutes.pdf

B 16-106 Award a 3 year Library services contract to Malo's Janitorial for a total
cost of $22,680.00 per year with the option to be extended by mutual
agreement between the City and Borough of Sitka and Contractor for 2
additional 3 year extensions
Attachments: Award of Library services contract.pdf

C RES 16-09 Setting the millage rates for the Fiscal Year July 1, 2016 through June
30, 2017
Attachments: Res 2016-09.pdf

D 16-111 Grant preliminary approval authorizing the lease of approximately 7,082
square feet of sloping tidelands to Petro Marine Services in Alaska
Tidelands Survey 15 adjacent to 1 Lincoln Street
Attachments: Prelim approval for tidelands lease request.pdf

X. BOARD, COMMISSION, COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS

E 16-108 Reappoint: 1) Debra Pohiman to a term on the Planning Commission, 2)
Brendan Jones to a term on the Port and Harbors Commission, 3)
Morgan Doubleday to a term on the Animal Hearing Board, and, 4)
Grant Miller to a term on the Gary Paxton Industrial Park Board
Attachments: Motion and reappointment apps.pdf

XI. UNFINISHED BUSINESS:

F ORD 16-17  Adjusting the FY16 Budget (disaster declaration work/PERS funding)

Attachments: Motion Ord 2016-17.pdf

Ord 2016-17.pdf

G ORD 16-20  Adopting budgets for Fiscal Year July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2017

Attachments: Motion and Ord 16-20.pdf
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City and Borough Assembly Meeting Agenda June 14, 2016

XIl. NEW BUSINESS:

New Business First Reading

H ORD 16-15A Amending Title 15 of the Sitka General Code by adding a new Chapter
15.15 entitled "Community Assisted Utility Subsidization Effort" (first
reading as amended)

Attachments: Motion Ord 2016-15A.pdf

Ord 2016-15A.pdf
Community Options for Utility Assistance.pdf

| ORD 16-21 Repealing Chapter 7.20 "Marijuana Advisory Committee", and creating
Chapter 7.40 "Local Regulatory Authority", formally dissolving the
existing local regulatory authority and its framework and designating the
City Assembly as the permanent Local Regulatory Authority, and
creating Chapter 7.50 "Licensing", detailing the procedure of the City
Assembly in reviewing, approving and protesting marijuana licenses
Attachments: Motion Ord 16-21.pdf

Ord 16-21.pdf

Additional New Business Items

J 16-110 Consideration and award of the request for proposals submitted for the
available funds ($37,989) in the Fisheries Enhancement Fund
Attachments: Motion and Memo Fisheries Enhancement Fund.pdf

Sitka Sound Science Center Submittal.pdf

Alaska Longline Fishermen's Association Submittal.pdf

K 16-112 Discussion of the Memorandum of Understanding between the State of
Alaska and the Southeast Conference for the Alaska Marine Highway
System strategic plan and approval of a $10,000 grant from the
Southeast Economic Development Fund to Southeast Conference to
assist with funding of the plan
Attachments: MOU Alaska Marine Highway strategic plan.pdf

L 16-113 Approve the 2016-2019 Alaska State Employees Association (ASEA)
Collective Bargaining Agreement
Attachments: ASEA Collective Bargaining Agreement.pdf

M 16-114 Approve the 2016-2019 Public Safety Employees Association (PSEA)
Collective Bargaining Agreement
Attachments: PSEA Collective Bargaining Agreement.pdf
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City and Borough Assembly Meeting Agenda June 14, 2016

N 16-115 Approve a 10-year purchase agreement and a 20-year purchase
agreement for raw water in bulk for export with Alaska Bulk Water Inc.

Attachments: Motion and Memo ABWI.pdf

ABWI correspondence.pdf
RFP Bulk Water Sales.pdf
Alaska Bulk Water Inc - RFP Bulk Water Sales.pdf

ABWI 10 year purchase agreement.pdf

ABWI 20 year purchase agreement.pdf

o) 16-116 Approve a 20-year purchase agreement for raw water in bulk for export
with Arctic Blue Waters (Canada) Inc.
Attachments: Motion and Memo Arctic Blue Waters (Canada) Inc..pdf

RFP Bulk Water Sales.pdf
Arctic Blue Waters - RFP Bulk Water Sales.pdf

Arctic Blue Waters (Canada) Inc. 20-year purchase agreement.pdf

Xl PERSONS TO BE HEARD:

Public participation on any item on or off the agenda. Not to exceed 3 minutes for any
individual.

XIV. EXECUTIVE SESSION

XV. ADJOURNMENT

Sara Peterson, CMC
Municipal Clerk
Publish: June 10
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CBS received a FY15 State of Alaska Municipal Harbor Facility Matching Grant, for the
Sitka Transient Float Replacement Project, which will cover 50% of eligible construction
costs not to exceed 2,700,000 in match funding. CBS has allocated a total of $3,450,000
from the Harbor Enterprise Fund, ~$198,000 from unspent ANB Harbor bond proceeds,
and $500,000 from the CBS Electric Fund for the project for a total budget of
$6,848,000. CBS awarded a contract to Northern Construction Service (NCS) in the
amount of $4,986,329 for the Base Bid and all additive alternates.

Seaplane Base:
Milestones This Period
o Finalized and submitted Request for Entry into the National Plan of Integrated Airport
Systems (NPIAS) for the Sitka Seaplane Base to the Federal Aviation Administration
(FAA). This document assists FAA with its consideration of the proposed relocation
and expansion of the seaplane base (SPB).
Future Milestones
e Completion of repairs to existing SPB anticipated August 2016.
e Siting Study Update completion June 2016.
Background
In August 2002, the Sitka Seaplane Base Master Plan was completed and includes a
Condition & Needs Assessment and Master Plan Alternatives Report. The plan considered
12 alternative sites for a new seaplane base and found the north end of Japonksi Island,
between the Coast Guard Base and the cove behind the SEARHC buildings on Seward
Avenue was the best alternative. In February 2009, the Assembly unanimously approved
Resolution 2009-35 “Supporting the development of the Sitka Seaplane Base.” This approved
staff applying for and executing a Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) Airport Improvement
Program grant for up to $500,000 to develop the siting plan, issues resolution, design,
environmental, and permitting phases of the project. Utilizing proceeds from that grant, in
June 2012, an updated Sitka Seaplane Base Siting Analysis was completed which
considered a new site and redevelopment of the existing site in addition to the previously
recommended Japonski site. The Japonski site was again selected as the preferred site. The
findings of this study were presented to the Port and Harbors Commission on April 11, 2012
where they unanimously approved further study of the Japonski Island site. Due to a decline
in the number of based aircraft, FAA requires an update to the Siting Study prior to
application for any future grant funds for this project.

Gary Paxton Industrial Park Dock:
Milestones this Period

e CBS Staff working with consultant on Design/Build (D/B) Request for Proposals (RFP).
Future Milestones

e Finalize D/B RFP scope and formulate RFP documents.

e Advertise RFP June 2016.
Background
The project is funded by a designated Legislative Grant, administered by the State of Alaska,
Dept. of Commerce, Community & Economic Development, and Division of Community &
Regional Affairs. The total amount of the grant is $7.5 million. The project is administered by
Public Works and the GPIP Director, Garry White. The firm of Moffatt & Nichol (M&N) was
previously awarded a contract to provide the design for the GPIP Dock when it was
envisioned as a fixed pier or bulkhead structure. M&N may assist CBS as technical reviewer
during D/B proposal evaluation and construction.










e Assembly walkthrough and Public Open House May 19, 2016.
e SCADA upgrades by Boreal Controls, Inc. and flow controls valves for final system
upgrade to address the UV Disinfection Facility and the new higher dam elevation.
Future Milestones

e Final Completion June 2016.
Background
The Blue Lake drinking water system is a surface water system, which must comply with the
EPA Enhanced Surface Water Treatment Rules (ESWTRs). The UV Disinfection Facility will
provide the additional microbial and disinfection controls required under the ESWTRs. The
current total project cost estimate is $8,966,000. Funding for this project is provided by State
of Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation (ADEC) loans and grants:
$4,000,000 FY 2011 ADEC Loan (Includes $2,500,000 financed with $1,500,000 subsidized)
$2,550,000 FY 2012 ADEC Loan
$3,500,000 FY 2012 ADEC Grant (30% local match requirement).

$2,061,000 FY 2013 ADEC Grant (30% local match requirement).
$12,111,000 Total Project Funding

Sitka 2016-17 Paving Project:
Milestones This Period

e Design proposals received April 25, 2016.

e Selection of design consultant & scope/fee negotiation May 2016
Future Milestones

e Advertisement for bids November 2016.

e Construction is anticipated in spring 2017.
Background _
The project includes new pavement and ADA required improvements with curb and gutter,
storm drain improvements and sidewalk as applicable. Funding for the project is provided by
the following sources:
$ 500,000 CBS Capital Improvement Lincoln Street — Jeff Davis to SNHP FY16
$1,130,000 CBS Capital Improvement Katlian Avenue FY16
$ 310,000 CBS Capital Improvement Gavin Street — Brady to Cascade FY15 & FY16
$1,940,000 Total Project Funding

North Kramer Debris Removal and Repair:
Milestones This Period

e Plans and specification complete

e Advertisement for bids May 20, 2016
Future Milestones

e Construction beginning June 2016
Background
The Assembly passed Ordinance 15-44 on August 21, 2015 which declared a local
government disaster declaration as a result of the slides of August 18, 2015, authorized the
expenditure of local emergency funds, and requested the Governor declare a Disaster
Emergency to exist as described in AS 26.23 and provide State assistance to the
CBS. Governor Walker authorized up to $1,000,000 from State Disaster Relief Funds to
assist with the cleanup and recovery. These funds can be utilized to remove the debris from
the right-of-way and restore municipal infrastructure to its pre-disaster condition. On October
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Special Report

Halibut Point Road/Peterson Street crosswalk improvement project
Police Chief, Sheldon Schmitt
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CONSENT AGENDA

POSSIBLE MOTION

e

| MOVE TO APPROVE THE CONSENT AGENDA
CONSISTING OF ITEMS A, B, C, & D

| wish to remove ltem(s)

REMINDER - Read aloud a portion of each item being
voted on that is included in the consent vote.



Should this item be pulled from the Consent Agenda the following motion is suggested:

POSSIBLE MOTION

| MOVE TO approve the minutes of the
May 19, 24, and 31 Assembly meetings.






City and Borough Assembly Minutes - Draft May 19, 2016

Yes: 5- McConnell, Hunter, Swanson, Eisenbeisz, and Potrzuski

Absent: 2- Miyasato, and Guevin
B 16-099 Discussion/Direction/Decision of the FY2017 General Fund and as it relates to
other Funds, the School District, and the Sitka Community Hospital

Chief Finance and Administrative Officer Jay Sweeney told of final steps taken to balance
the FY2017 General Fund including assumption of Sales Tax revenue increase and
reductions in wage, benefits, and force. Budget/Treasury Officer Janet Schwartz gave
details of the reductions in the wage, benefits, and grant reimbursement. Sweeney
answered questions with regards to furlough, told that marijuana licensing fees was not
included, and of landslide financial information.

VI. EXECUTIVE SESSION

None.

Vil. ADJOURNMENT

A motion was made by Hunter to ADJOURN. Hearing no objections, the meeting
ADJOURNED at 7:58pm.

ATTEST:

Melissa Henshaw
Acting Municipal Clerk
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City and Borough Assembly Minutes - Draft May 24, 2016

Vill. REPORTS

a. Mayor, b. Administrator, c. Attorney, d. Liaison Representatives, e. Clerk, f. Other

Mayor - Attended the inaugural plaque exchange with Star Princess cruise ship, AML
Board retreat in Anchorage. Board was asked by Bruce Botelho, who attended the
meeting, to file an amicus brief to support Juneau in the case brought by Cruise Lines
International Association Alaska against CBJ. The board is interested but the decision to
file a brief will need to be approved during the August AML meeting. Our Assembly should
discuss this issue before it's voted on by the AML board in August. The board created a
line item in its budget to help its board of directors attend meetings. My trip in August had
been cut out of our budget but with this financial help, | have decided to attend and follow
through with my commitment to represent Southeast region communities. At the AML
meeting, we went around the table and directors described the level reached by their
governing bodies in regulating marijuana. Responses were varied, including one that has
a 2-year moratorium. Juneau has a local $250 marijuana license so they can puli it if
need be and not be dependent on the ABC board.

Administrator - Acting Administrator Michael Harmon pointed out correspondence in the
packet of a letter to Senator MacKinnon and the statewide harbor rates. He thanked
Hunter and Potrzuski for attending the UV Facility ribbon cutting.

Attorney - Acting Municipal Attorney Brian Hanson thanked Legal Assistant Reuben
Yerkes.

Liaisons - Potrzuski attended the School Board meeting, reported former students
working at the School District, and recognized retiring teachers. Miyasato reported the
Parks and Recreation Committee has a full commission, reminded that city playgrounds
require leashed dogs, and of the topic of the Community Playground.

Clerk - Acting Municipal Clerk Melissa Henshaw encouraged the pubilic to volunteer on a
board or commission.

IX. CONSENT AGENDA

A motion was made by Swanson that the Consent Agenda consisting of items A &
B be APPROVED. The motion PASSED by the following vote.

Yes: 5- McConnell, Swanson, Miyasato, Guevin, and Potrzuski

Absent: 2- Hunter, and Eisenbeisz

A 16-101 Approve the minutes of the May 2, 3, 5, 10 Assembly meetings
This item was APPROVED ON THE CONSENT AGENDA.

B 16-104 Approve a liquor license transfer of ownership, transfer of location, and
restaurant designation permit for Alejandro Vazquez dba Agave Restaurant
This item was APPROVED ON THE CONSENT AGENDA.
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X. BOARD, COMMISSION, COMMITTEE APPOINTMENTS

c 16-103

Reappoint Melissa Greenhalgh to a three-year term on the Port and Harbors
Commission

Miyasato thanked the applicant for reapplying.

A motion was made by Miyasato to APPROVE this Item. The motion PASSED by the
following vote.

Yes: 5- McConnell, Swanson, Miyasato, Guevin, and Potrzuski

Absent: 2 - Hunter, and Eisenbeisz

XI.  UNFINISHED BUSINESS:

D ORD 16-16

Adjusting the FY16 Budget (Airport baggage and TSA project)

A motion was made by Swanson to APPROVE this Ordinance on SECOND AND
FINAL READING. The motion PASSED by the following vote.

Yes: 5- McConnell, Swanson, Miyasato, Guevin, and Potrzuski

Absent: 2 - Hunter, and Eisenbeisz

Xll. NEW BUSINESS:

E ORD 16-15

Amending Title 15 of the Sitka General Code by adding a new Chapter 15.15
entitled "Community Assisted Utility Subsidization Effort" (first reading)

Clyde Bright testified in opposition to the ordinance.

Guevin explained the intent was to create a mechanism for relief for individuals and
families basic needs with the rising cost of living, rising costs of utility rates, and due to
uneven distribution of income in Sitka. Potrzuski echoed and stated that you could not
have a community without service workers. Chief Finance and Administrative Officer Jay
Sweeney answered funds could come from rate payers or from the General Fund.
Guevin told of a possible trial year, thought to use the Southeast Economic Development
Fund, and told of the requirements. Sweeney explained the historic revenue including
more subsidization funding available in the winter. Swanson spoke in opposition to the
ordinance. Mayor wondered if there was a way to use the funds as a matching grant of
some type with another entity. Acting Municipal Administrator Michael Harmon suggested
it not be required to contract out for flexibility.

A motion was made by Guevin that this Ordinance be PASSED ON FIRST READING
AS AMENDED. The motion PASSED by the following vote.

Yes: 4- McConnell, Miyasato, Guevin, and Potrzuski

No: 1- Swanson

CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA

Page 3



City and Borough Assembly Minutes - Draft May 24, 2016

Absent: 2- Hunter, and Eisenbeisz

Sweeney indicated that staff was not equipped to handle judgment calls on eligibility and
spoke to the difficulty of personnel time. Clyde Bright wondered what the cost would be to
administer it. Guevin stated the amendment would leave options open to contracting it
out or not and stated that line 136 would also need to change.

A motion was made by Potrzuski that this Ordinance be AMENDED deleting lines
128 to 131. The motion PASSED by the following vote.

Yes: 5- McConnell, Swanson, Miyasato, Guevin, and Potrzuski

Absent: 2 - Hunter, and Eisenbeisz

F ORD 16-19

Amending Sitka General Code Title 19 "Building and Construction” by
amending Chapter 19.01 "Building Code" by adding a new Section 19.01.105
entitled, "The International Building Code Chapter 18 Amended" (first
reading)

Miyasato questioned if this was a part of the community mapping. Acting Municipal
Administrator Michael Harmon stated the city mapping would move forward as a separate
element, that this was similar to flood mapping, and was not currently in code. Potruzski
clarified that this would be an expense to the applicant. Harmon told of cost to the
developer and their due diligence. Swanson asked the cost of the applicant to have
property reviewed. Harmon stated a range of $5,000 to $15,000 or more with a major
development. Harmon told that risk mapping was in place for the Gary Paxton Industrial
Park.

A motion was made by Miyasato that this Ordinance be PASSED ON FIRST
READING. The motion PASSED by the following vote.

Yes: 5- McConnell, Swanson, Miyasato, Guevin, and Potrzuski

Absent: 2 - Hunter, and Eisenbeisz

G ORD 16-17

Adjusting the FY 16 Budget (first reading - disaster declaration work/PERS
funding)

A motion was made by Swanson that this Ordinance be PASSED ON FIRST
READING. The motion PASSED by the following vote.

Yes: 5- McConnell, Swanson, Miyasato, Guevin, and Potrzuski

Absent: 2 - Hunter, and Eisenbeisz

H ORD 16-18

Adjusting the FY 16 Budget (second reading - Sitka Seaplane Base repairs)

Kevin Knox, Chair of Port and Harbors Commission told of support from the Commission,
SouthEast Alaska Aviation Association, and the public. He spoke of replacing the base as
it was and brought up the Southeast Economic Development fund since he felt this was
an economic driver of the community. Dave Gordon, a seaplane owner was in support of
replacing the current structure. Mayor McConnell and Acting Municipal Administrator
Michael Harmon told of this community need.

A motion was made by Swanson that this Ordinance be PASSED ON FIRST
READING. The motion PASSED by the following vote.
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Yes: 5- McConnell, Swanson, Miyasato, Guevin, and Potrzuski

Absent: 2 - Hunter, and Eisenbeisz

Xlll. PERSONS TO BE HEARD:

Clyde Bright encouraged the Assembly to release public land for affordable housing.

XIv. EXECUTIVE SESSION

[ 16-091

Legal matter - Baranof Island Brewing Company loans

A motion was made by Potrzuski to go into Executive Session with the Acting
Municipal Attorney to discuss a legal matter affecting the municipality and the
Baranof Island Brewing Company loans and invite in Chief Finance and
Administrative Officer, Jay Sweeney.

Yes: 5- McConnell, Swanson, Miyasato, Guevin, and Potrzuski

Absent: 2- Hunter, and Eisenbeisz

XV. ADJOURNMENT

The Assembly met in executive session for 45 minutes regarding two Southeast Alaska
Economic Development loans to Baranof Island Brewing Company. Chief Finance and
Administrative Officer Jay Sweeney briefed the Assembly on the status of the two loans.

A motion was made by Miyasato to RECONVENE as the Assembly in regular
session. The motion passed by an unanimous voice vote.
A motion was made by Miyasato to ADJOURN. Hearing no objections, the meeting

ADJOURNED at 7:46pm.

ATTEST:

Melissa Henshaw
Acting Municipal Clerk
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A motion was made by Swanson that this Ordinance be APPROVED on SECOND
AND FINAL READING. The motion PASSED by the following vote.

Yes: 4- McConnell, Swanson, Miyasato, and Guevin

Absent: 3- Hunter, Eisenbeisz, and Potrzuski

Vil. NEW BUSINESS:

B ORD 16-20 Adopting budgets for Fiscal Year July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2017 (first

reading)

Assembly members spoke favorably of the FY2017 budget process and thanked staff for

their work. Gorman stated that while the FY2017 budget had been unusually challenging,
ultimately a balanced budget had been presented.

A motion was made by Swanson that this Ordinance be APPROVED on FIRST
READING. The motion PASSED by the following vote.

Yes: 4- McConnell, Swanson, Miyasato, and Guevin

Absent: 3- Hunter, Eisenbeisz, and Potrzuski

Viil. PERSONS TO BE HEARD:

None.

IX. EXECUTIVE SESSION

None.
X. ADJOURNMENT

A motion was made by Miyasato to ADJOURN. Hearing no objections, the meeting
ADJOURNED at 6:07pm.

ATTEST:

Sara Peterson, CMC
Municipal Clerk
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Should this item be pulled from the consent the following motion is
suggested:

POSSIBLE MOTION

| MOVE TO award a 3 year Library services contract to
Malo’s Janitorial for a total cost of $22,680.00 per year,
with the option to be extended by mutual agreement
between the City and Borough of Sitka and Contractor for
two additional 3 year extensions.
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If this item is pulled from the consent agenda the following motion would
be in order:

POSSIBLE MOTION

I MOVE TO approve Resolution 2016-09 on
first and final reading.
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Sponsor: Administration

CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA

RESOLUTION NO. 2016-09

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA
SETTING THE MILLAGE RATES FOR THE FISCAL YEAR JULY 1, 2016
THROUGH JUNE 30, 2017

WHEREAS, the Assessor has completed the final assessment records and the total
assessed value of all real and personal property within the City and Borough of Sitka as of
January 1, 2016, is $1,113,635,486; and

WHEREAS, Sitka General Code 4.12.110 states that the Assembly shall fix the rate of
tax levy and designate the number of mills upon each dollar of assessed taxable real and personal
property.

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Assembly of the City and Borough of
Sitka, Alaska by this resolution hereby adopts and levies the following millage rate upon each
dollar of assessed taxable real and personal property for the fiscal year July 1, 2016, through
June 30, 2017:

GENERAL PURPOSES........cccoooiiiiiiicrieeenieneees 2.000 mills
SCHOOLS......ooiiiitiiteece s 4.000 mills
TOTAL.....oreer e 6.000 mills

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, all property taxes shall become due sixty days after the
billing date and if not paid by the due date are delinquent.

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED by the Assembly of the City and Borough of
Sitka, Alaska on the 14th day of June, 2016.

Mim McConnell, Mayor
ATTEST:

Sara Peterson, CMC
Municipal Clerk

1* and final reading 6/14/16



Roll Certification
January 1, 2016
Assessed Values

TAXABLE REAL PROPERTY VALUE S 975,577,680
SENIOR/VETERAN EXEMPTED VALUES
SEN EXEMPT VALUE $ 58,293,100
SNC EXEMPT VALUE 3 7,500
SNV EXEMPT VALUE $ 16,785,870
VET EXEMPT VALUE $ 2,261,800

$ 77,348,270
TOTAL SEN/VET EXEMPTED VALUES h 77,348,270
TOTAL ASSESSED REAL PROPERTY VALUE $ 1,052,925,950
TAXABLE PERSONAL PROPERTY VALUE 3 60,709,536
TOTAL ASSESSED RP/PP VALUES $ 1,113,635,486
TOTAL TAX AMOUNT @ 6 MIL $ 6,681,813
($1,113,635,486 * .006 = $6,681,813)
FLAT TAX BOAT AMOUNT $ 136,280
SEN/VET EXEMPTED AMOUNTS:
REAL PROPERTY $ 464,090
PERSONAL PROPERTY $ 1,100

$ 465,190
LESS SENIOR CITIZEN/VET EXEMPTION $ (465,190)
ASSESSMENT PROJECTED REVENUES

s 6,352,903

Prepared by Wendy Lawrence

C:\Users\wlawrence\Desktop\Work in Progress\MSMAIN AFTER APPEALS 2016-05-09-WORKINGROLL CERT-2016




Boat Tax

January 1, 2016
Taxable Boats
Class Length  Tax Number Revenue  Assessed Value
B1 <15 $ 20 206 3 4120 $ 498,347
B2 15<20° § 30 627 3 18,810 $ 4,819,885
B3 20300 $ 50 693 § 34,650 $ 18,120,819
B4 30<500  $ 100 564 $ 56,400 $ 42,333,058
BS 50+ $ 200 117 § 23,400 $ 32,242,895
Totals 2207 $ 137,380 3 98,015,004
Less Senior Exempt Boats
Class Length Tax Number Revenue  Assessed Value
B4 30<50°  $ 100 S5 $ (500)
BS 50+ $ 200 38 (600)
Totals 883 (1,100)
Total Boat Tax Revenue 2199 § 136,280
Boat Flat Fee Tax Full Value Equivalenc 3 22,713,330

($ 136,280 /

0.006 )

Full Value - State Reported*

Less Boat Tax Equivalency

$ 98,015,004
$  (22,713,330)

Optionally Exempted Boat Full Value

3 75,301,674

Optionally Exempted Boat Tax $ 451,810

($ 75301,674 X

0.006 )

*Owner Declared Boat Values from Personal Property Surveys

Prepared By: Wendy Lawrence, City & Borough of Sitka Assessor
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Legislation Details

File #:
Type:
File created:
On agenda:

Title:

Sponsors:

Indexes:

Code sections:

16-111 Version: 2 Name:

ltem Status: AGENDA READY

6/7/2016 In control: City and Borough Assembly
6/14/2016 Final action:

Grant preliminary approval authorizing the lease of approximately 7,082 square feet of sloping
tidelands to Petro Marine Services in Alaska Tidelands Survey 15 adjacent to 1 Lincoln Street

Attachments: Prelim approval for tidelands lease request.pdf
Date Ver. Action By Action Result
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POSSIBLE MOTION

| MOVE TO grant preliminary approval of a
proposed tidelands lease request filed by
Petro Marine Services for 7,082 square feet
adjacent 1 Lincoln Street.

Note: Following preliminary approval, the applicant will then go back to the
Planning Commission and go through the minor subdivision process before
coming back to the Assembly for approval of a lease authorization
ordinance.















Petro Marine Services
Land Management - Tideland Purchase Request
1 Lincoln Street
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Windsor/Pohiman moved to POSTPONE until a representative can attend a
meeting. Motion PASSED 5-0.

E Public hearing and consideration of a variance request filed by Peter
Thielke for 722 Biorka Street, in the R-1 residential zone. The request is
for the reduction of the easterly front setback from 20 feet to 6 feet, and
the reduction of the southerly rear setback from 10 feet to O feet for the
relocaton of a shed. The property is also known as a fractional portion of
Lot 13, Block 14, U.S. Survey 1474, Tract A, identifed on the deed as
Parcel 2. The application is filed by Peter Thielke. The owner of record is
Peter L. Thielke.

POSTPONED by consent, as the applicant could not be reached by phone.

F Public hearing and consideration of a final plat for a major subdivision of
ASLS 2015-06. The request is filed by Global Positioning Services, Inc.
The owner of record is State of Alaska Department of Natural Resources
Division of Mining, Land, and Water.

Scarcelli described the request for subdivision of state property. The lots will
be primarily accessed via water, and will be intended for recreational use. Staff
does not anticipate that roads will be developed in the near future. The
applicant has agreed to include a plat note stating that the city is a party to all
easements.

Stan Sears with Global Positioning Service represented the applicant. Access
to some lots requires the use of easements. There are 4 or 5 coves for water
access. Sears stated that the plat note making the city a party to all easements
is acceptable to GPS.

Spivey stated that request is straight forward.

Parker Song/Pohiman moved to APPROVE the preliminary plat of a major
subdivision for ASLS 15-06, and request that the final plat include a plat note
that states that the municipality is a party to all easements. The request is filed
by Global Positioning Services. The owner of record is Alaska Department of
Natural Resources Division of Mining, Land, and Water. Motion PASSED 5-0.

G Public hearing and consideration of a tideland sale application filed by
Forrest Dodson for tidelands adjacent to 263 Katlian Avenue.

Bosak explained the request. The applicant previously purchased the tidelands
seaward of 263 Katlian, and now request to purchase tidelands adjacent to the
house. Bosak stated the need to maintain public access to tidelands, and that
tidelands may increase in value over time. Staff recommend denial of the sale,
and recommend a Class |, month-to-month lease.

Forrest Dodson stated that he would prefer to purchase the property.
Construction will cost $10,000 more if he cannot acquire this parcel, and he
would like to have more elbow room. Dodson stated that he believes there
would be sufficient water access even if he was allowed to purchase the
parcel. Hughey asked about current fill in the parcel. Dodson stated that the fill
was temporary, and would have to be removed. Dodson stated that the parcel
isn't being used. Hughey clarified that the previous proposal was to move the
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house onto the seaward parcel with parking in front.

Margie Esquiro stated that Dodson's wife does a great job of restoring old
properties.

Hughey stated that work on the house will happen regardless of the approval
of this purchase, and stated that it would serve the public good to preserve
access to the tidelands. Pohiman stated that the Land Use Plan meetings have
raised concerns for lands on Katlian that were taken for the WWII effort. Bosak
stated that the applicant can move forward to the Assembly even if the
Planning Commission does deny the request. At Pohlman’s request, Bosak
explained the difference between the 3 tideland lease classifications.

Parker Song/Hughey moved to DENY the proposed land sale of 1,017 square
feet of tidelands adjacent 263 Katlian Avenue and instead encourage the
applicants to apply for a Class | tideland lease. Motion PASSED 4-1.

H Public hearing and consideration of a tideland lease request filed by Petro
Marine Services for tidelands adjacent to 1 Lincoln Street.

Bosak explained the request for a 50-year Class 3 tideland lease. The request
was originally a purchase request, but staff directed the applicant to pursue a
lease. No public comment has been received. Staff recommend approval of the
lease proposal.

Jerry Jacobs represented Petro Marine. Jacobs stated that Petro does not
anticipate any change of hours. Windsor asked about access to the Forest
Service dock. Jacobs stated that he believes the new dock will improve
access. Hughey stated that it looks like a good idea. Bosak stated that staff
anticipates that upland owners will respond to mailed notices if they anticipate
problems. Jacobs stated the new dock will improve control of spills.

Hughey/Pohlman moved to RECOMMEND preliminary approval of the
proposed tideland lease adjacent to 1 Lincoln Street filed by Petro Marine
Services. Motion PASSED 5-0.

| Public hearing and consideration of a conditional use permit request filed
by Kristy Crews and Levi Hunt for a short-term rental at 3001 Mikele
Street, in the R-1 residential zone. The property is also known as Lot 7
West Subdivision.The request is filed by Kristy Crews and Levi Hunt. The
owners of record are Kristy M. Crews and Levi G. Hunt.

Pierson described the request, and read a letter of support from Peter and
Michelle Kennedy at 3002 Mikele.

Kristy Crews stated that they are new to home ownership, and would like to
experiment with various lengths of rentals.

Windsor clarified that a short-term rental must be used within 12 months or it
becomes void.

Pohiman/Windsor moved to APPROVE the required findings for conditional
use permit.

Required Findings for Conditional Use Permits. The planning commission shall
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not recommend approval of a proposed development unless it first makes the
following findings and conclusions:

1. The city may use design standards and other elements in this code to
modify the proposal. A conditional use permit may be approved only if all of
the following findings can be made regarding the proposal and are supported
by the record that the granting of the proposed conditional use permit will not:
a. Be detrimental to the public health, safety, and general welfare;

b. Adversely affect the established character of the surrounding vicinity; nor
c. Be injurious to the uses, property, or improvements adjacent to, and in the
vicinity of, the site upon which the proposed use is to be located.

2. The granting of the proposed conditional use permit is consistent and
compatible with the intent of the goals, objectives, and policies of the
comprehensive plan and any implementing regulation.

3. All conditions necessary to lessen any impacts of the proposed use are
conditions that can be monitored and enforced.

4. The proposed use will not introduce hazardous conditions at the site that
cannot be mitigated to protect adjacent properties, the vicinity, and the public
health, safety, and welfare of the community from such hazard.

5. The conditional use will be supported by, and not adversely affect,
adequate public facilities and services; or that conditions can be imposed to
lessen any adverse impacts on such facilities and services.

6. Burden of Proof. The applicant has the burden of proving that the
proposed conditional use meets all of the criteria in subsection B of this
section.

The city may approve, approve with conditions, modify, modify with
conditions, or deny the conditional use permit. The city may reduce or modify
bulk requirements, off-street parking requirements, and use design standards
to lessen impacts, as a condition of the granting of the conditional use permit.
In considering the granting of a conditional use, the assembly and planning
commission shall satisfy themselves that the general criteria set forth for uses
specified in this chapter will be met. The city may consider any or all criteria
listed and may base conditions or safeguards upon them. The assembly and
planning commission may require the applicant to submit whatever reasonable
evidence may be needed to protect the public interest. The general approval
criteria are as follows:

1. Site topography, slope and soil stability, geophysical hazards such as
flooding, surface and subsurface drainage and water quality, and the possible
or probable effects of the proposed conditional use upon these factors;

2. Utilities and service requirements of the proposed use, including sewers,
storm drainage, water, fire protection, access and electrical power; the
assembly and planning commission may enlist the aid of the relevant public
utility officials with specialized knowledge in evaluating the probable effects of
the proposed use and may consider the costs of enlarging, upgrading or
extending public utilities in establishing conditions under which the
conditional use may be permitted;

3. Lot or tract characteristics, including lot size, yard requirements, lot
coverage and height of structures;

4, Use characteristics of the proposed conditional use that affect adjacent
uses and districts, including hours of operation, number of persons, traffic
volumes, off-street parking and loading characteristics, trash and litter
removal, exterior lighting, noise, vibration, dust, smoke, heat and humidity,
recreation and open space requirements;

5. Community appearance such as landscaping, fencing and screening,
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dependent upon the specific use and its visual impacts.

Motion PASSED 5-0.

Pohiman/Windsor moved to APPROVE the conditional use permit request for a
short-term rental at 3001 Mikele Street, subject to conditions of approval. The
property is also known as Lot 7 West Subdivision. The request is filed by Levi
Hunt and Kristy Crews. The owners of record are Levi Hunt and Kristy Crews.

Conditions of Approval:

1. Contingent upon a completed satisfactory life safety inspection.

2. The facility shall be operated consistent with the application and plans that
were submitted with the request.

3. The facility shall be operated in accordance with the narrative that was
submitted with the application.

4. The applicant shall submit an annual report every year, covering the
information on the form prepared by the Municipality, summarizing the number
of nights the facility has been rented over the twelve month period starting
with the date the facility has begun operation. The report is due within thirty
days following the end of the reporting period.

5. The Planning Commission, at its discretion, may schedule a public hearing
at any time following the first nine months of operations for the purpose of
resolving issues with the request and mitigating adverse impacts on nearby
properties.

6. Failure to comply with all applicable tax laws, including but not limited to
remittance of all sales and bed tax, shall be grounds for revocation of the
conditional use permit.

7. Failure to comply with any of the above conditions may result in revocation
of the conditional use permit.

8. The property owner shall register for a sales account prior to the Conditional
Use Permit becoming valid.

Motion PASSED §5-0.

J Public hearing and consideration of a conditional use permit request for
marijuana retail at 1321 Sawmill Creek Road Suites O and P, in the C-2
commercial and mobile home zone. The property is also known as US
Survey 2729. The request is filed by Mike Daly. The owner of record is
Eagle Bay Inn LLC.

Scarcelli explained the request. Bays O and P will be reconfigured to house
two facilities — one for retail and one for cultivation. Staff believes that parking
is adequate. Staff recommends a condition of approval that the plaza’s parking
is striped to delineate 107 spaces. Scarcelli read a letter of concern submitted
by Clyde Bright. Staff recommends approval. Windsor asked about electrical
load. Scarcelli stated that the applicant has submitted the load calculation to
staff.

Wike Daly stated that he is building airtight rooms and use filters to control
odors. Daly stated that they will test for mold as they go. Daly stated that
windows will be blacked out. Daly stated that eventually wants a smoke room
for tourists. Spivey thanked Daly for thorough plans.

Joe D’Arienzo stated that this proposal will be a positive first step for the
industry in town, and supports the application “whole heartedly.”
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Jennifer Davis urged caution. Children and families frequent the theater and
Pizza Express.

Jay Stelzenmeller stated that he is encouraged by the thorough work of the
applicant and staff.

Parker Song stated that the plans are thorough, and it seems like a good
location. Spivey stated that kids do play in the neighborhood, and families do
frequent the plaza. Spivey stated that the applicant’s plans are sufficient to
mitigate any concerns. Hughey stated that the applicant has set a high bar for
future applicants. Hughey stated concern that the applicant will invest heavily,
and the conditional use permit could theoretically be revoked in the future.
Windsor stated that there aren’t many areas for marijuana retail in town. Bosak
stated that the reception room is a nice feature.

Windsor/Hughey moved to APPROVE the required findings.

Required Findings for Conditional Use Permits. The planning commission shall
not recommend approval of a proposed development unless it first makes the
following findings and conclusions:

1. The city may use design standards and other elements in this code to
modify the proposal. A conditional use permit may be approved only if all of
the following findings can be made regarding the proposal and are supported
by the record that the granting of the proposed conditional use permit will not:
a. Be detrimental to the public health, safety, and general welfare;

b. Adversely affect the established character of the surrounding vicinity; nor
c. Be injurious to the uses, property, or improvements adjacent to, and in the
vicinity of, the site upon which the proposed use is to be located.

2. The granting of the proposed conditional use permit is consistent and
compatible with the intent of the goals, objectives, and policies of the
comprehensive plan and any implementing regulation.

3. All conditions necessary to lessen any impacts of the proposed use are
conditions that can be monitored and enforced.

4. The proposed use will not introduce hazardous conditions at the site that
cannot be mitigated to protect adjacent properties, the vicinity, and the public
health, safety, and welfare of the community from such hazard.

5. The conditional use will be supported by, and not adversely affect,
adequate public facilities and services; or that conditions can be imposed to
lessen any adverse impacts on such facilities and services.

6. Burden of Proof. The applicant has the burden of proving that the
proposed conditional use meets all of the criteria in subsection B of this
section.

The city may approve, approve with conditions, modify, modify with
conditions, or deny the conditional use permit. The city may reduce or modify
bulk requirements, off-street parking requirements, and use design standards
to lessen impacts, as a condition of the granting of the conditional use permit.
In considering the granting of a conditional use, the assembly and planning
commission shall satisfy themselves that the general criteria set forth for uses
specified in this chapter will be met. The city may consider any or all criteria
listed and may base conditions or safeguards upon them. The assembly and
planning commission may require the applicant to submit whatever reasonable
evidence may be needed to protect the public interest. The general approval
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criteria are as follows:

1. Site topography, slope and soil stability, geophysical hazards such as
flooding, surface and subsurface drainage and water quality, and the possible
or probable effects of the proposed conditional use upon these factors;

2. Utilities and service requirements of the proposed use, including sewers,
storm drainage, water, fire protection, access and electrical power; the
assembly and planning commission may enlist the aid of the relevant public
utility officials with specialized knowledge in evaluating the probable effects of
the proposed use and may consider the costs of enlarging, upgrading or
extending public utilities in establishing conditions under which the
conditional use may be permitted;

3. Lot or tract characteristics, including lot size, yard requirements, lot
coverage and height of structures;

4. Use characteristics of the proposed conditional use that affect adjacent
uses and districts, including hours of operation, number of persons, traffic
volumes, off-street parking and loading characteristics, trash and litter
removal, exterior lighting, noise, vibration, dust, smoke, heat and humidity,
recreation and open space requirements;

5. Community appearance such as landscaping, fencing and screening,
dependent upon the specific use and its visual impacts.

Specific Guidance from 22.24 on Findings for Marijuana Uses

Findings of Fact: Upon review and considerations of the required criteria, the
Planning Commission shall determine whether the proposed use(s) at the
proposed project location are found to not present a negative impact to the
public's health, safety, and welfare.

1. If such a finding can be made, then the proposed use shall be approved
with standard regulations, dimensions, and setbacks.

2. In the alternative, where the Planning Commission finds negative impacts
are present, the Planning Commission shall only approve conditional use
permits where the negative impacts can be adequately mitigated by conditions
of approval that preserve the public's health, safety, and welfare. These
conditions of approval shall be case by case specific and in addition to the
standard regulations.

3. If negative impacts to the public's health, safety, and welfare cannot be
mitigated through conditions of approval then the Planning Commission shall
so find and deny the proposed conditional use permit.

Motion PASSED 5-0.

Windsor/Parker Song moved to APPROVE the conditional use permit request
filed by Mike Daly and Northern Lights, LLC for marijuana retail at 1321 Sawmill
Creek Road, Units O & P, in the C 2 General Commercial and mobile home zone
subject to the attached 12 conditions of approval. The property is also known
as U.S. Survey 2729. The owner of record is Eagle Bay Inn, LLC.

Conditions of Approval:

1. Owners, operators, and staff of conditional uses shall comply with all state
and municipal licensing regulations.

2. All licensed facilities shall comply with all life and safety regulations as
promulgated by the municipal Building Official.
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3. All licensed manufacturing and cultivation uses shall provide a fire safety
plan, material handling plan, and comply with all fire safety regulations that
satisfies the Fire Marshal or their designee and the Building Official.

4. All licensed facilities and/or uses shall provide screening from public view of
any marijuana related commercial, retail, cultivation, or manufacturing use.

5. All licensed facilities and/or uses shall establish an active sales account and
business registration with the Municipality and shall comply with all standard
& required accounting practices.

6. It shall be a standard regulation that all conditional uses comply with all
applicable state regulations and licensing laws or it shall be deemed to
abandon and extinguish and associated municipal license or conditional use
permit.

7. All approved conditional use permits shall comply with all Sitka General
Code or shall be deemed to abandon and extinguish any associated municipal
license or conditional use permit

8. Applicant shall provide a Parking Plan that complies with Section 22.20.100
for all uses present and proposed at the current property including striped
parking spaces where feasible (i.e. concrete or asphalt areas).

9. Odor Control shall include charcoal filters and other best means to limit and
mitigate odor impacts to surrounding uses. Should a meritorious odor
complaint be received the Planning Commission may require additional odor
control measures to mitigate any actual negative impacts.

10. The proposed retail site shall not be located within 500 feet of any school
grounds, recreation or youth center, religious service building, or correctional
facility that was legally established prior to approval of this conditional use
permit as intended by licensing restriction and regulations of the state in 3
AAC Chapter 306.

11. This permit only conditionally approved the use of retail; however, at the
same time, all legally vested uses operating within Units O and P must comply
with all pertinent state and local regulations, licenses, and permits to remain
valid.

12. The Planning Commission may, at its discretion and upon receiving
meritorious evidence of negative impacts to public health, safety, and welfare,
schedule a review to address issues of concern and pursue mitigation through
additional conditions if necessary.

Motion PASSED 5-0.

K Public hearing and consideration of a conditional use permit request for
marijuana cultivation at 1321 Sawmill Creek Road Suites O and P, in the
C-2 general commercial and mobile home zone. The property is also
known as US Survey 2729. The request is filed by Mike Daly. The owner
of record is Eagle Bay Inn LLC.

Scarcelli described the request for a cultivation facility. The applicants
submitted their entire AMCO application. One public comment was received,
with concerns for odors. Staff believe that parking is sufficient, but the lot
should be striped. There is no known sensitive use within the 500 foot buffer
zone. Staff recommend approval.

Mike Daly stated that he had nothing additional to contribute. Windsor asked if
Daly anticipated difficulty with striping the parking lot. Daly replied that the

owner has given consent to striping.

Michelle Cleaver stated that the owner has stated that the entire lot will be
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striped by the end of the month.
Parker Song/Pohiman moved to APPROVE the required findings.

Required Findings for Conditional Use Permits. The planning commission shall
not recommend approval of a proposed development unless it first makes the
following findings and conclusions:

1. The city may use design standards and other elements in this code to
modify the proposal. A conditional use permit may be approved only if all of
the following findings can be made regarding the proposal and are supported
by the record that the granting of the proposed conditional use permit will not:
a. Be detrimental to the public health, safety, and general welfare;

b. Adversely affect the established character of the surrounding vicinity; nor
¢. Beinjurious to the uses, property, or improvements adjacent to, and in the
vicinity of, the site upon which the proposed use is to be located.

2. The granting of the proposed conditional use permit is consistent and
compatible with the intent of the goals, objectives, and policies of the
comprehensive plan and any implementing regulation.

3. All conditions necessary to lessen any impacts of the proposed use are
conditions that can be monitored and enforced.

4. The proposed use will not introduce hazardous conditions at the site that
cannot be mitigated to protect adjacent properties, the vicinity, and the public
health, safety, and welfare of the community from such hazard.

5. The conditional use will be supported by, and not adversely affect,
adequate public facilities and services; or that conditions can be imposed to
lessen any adverse impacts on such facilities and services.

6. Burden of Proof. The applicant has the burden of proving that the
proposed conditional use meets all of the criteria in subsection B of this
section.

The city may approve, approve with conditions, modify, modify with
conditions, or deny the conditional use permit. The city may reduce or modify
bulk requirements, off-street parking requirements, and use design standards
to lessen impacts, as a condition of the granting of the conditional use permit.
In considering the granting of a conditional use, the assembly and planning
commission shall satisfy themselves that the general criteria set forth for uses
specified in this chapter will be met. The city may consider any or all criteria
listed and may base conditions or safeguards upon them. The assembly and
planning commission may require the applicant to submit whatever reasonable
evidence may be needed to protect the public interest. The general approval
criteria are as follows:

1. Site topography, slope and soil stability, geophysical hazards such as
flooding, surface and subsurface drainage and water quality, and the possible
or probable effects of the proposed conditional use upon these factors;

2. Utilities and service requirements of the proposed use, including sewers,
storm drainage, water, fire protection, access and electrical power; the
assembly and planning commission may enlist the aid of the relevant public
utility officials with specialized knowledge in evaluating the probable effects of
the proposed use and may consider the costs of enlarging, upgrading or
extending public utilities in establishing conditions under which the
conditional use may be permitted;

3. Lot or tract characteristics, including lot size, yard requirements, lot
coverage and height of structures;

4. Use characteristics of the proposed conditional use that affect adjacent
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uses and districts, including hours of operation, number of persons, traffic
volumes, off-street parking and loading characteristics, trash and litter
removal, exterior lighting, noise, vibration, dust, smoke, heat and humidity,
recreation and open space requirements;

5. Community appearance such as landscaping, fencing and screening,
dependent upon the specific use and its visual impacts.

Specific Guidance from 22.24 on Findings for Marijuana Uses

Findings of Fact: Upon review and considerations of the required criteria, the
Planning Commission shall determine whether the proposed use(s) at the
proposed project location are found to not present a negative impact to the
public's health, safety, and welfare.

1. If such a finding can be made, then the proposed use shall be approved
with standard regulations, dimensions, and setbacks.

2. In the alternative, where the Planning Commission finds negative impacts
are present, the Planning Commission shall only approve conditional use
permits where the negative impacts can be adequately mitigated by conditions
of approval that preserve the public's health, safety, and welfare. These
conditions of approval shall be case by case specific and in addition to the
standard regulations.

3. If negative impacts to the public's health, safety, and welfare cannot be
mitigated through conditions of approval then the Planning Commission shall
so find and deny the proposed conditional use permit.

Motion PASSED 5-0.

Parker Song/Pohiman moved to APPROVE the request the conditional use
permit request filed by Mike Daly and Northern Lights, LLC for marijuana
cultivation at 1321 Sawmill Creek Road, Units O & P, in the C-2 General
Commercial and mobile home zone subject to the attached 12 conditions of
approval. The property is also known as U.S. Survey 2729. The owner of record
is Eagle Bay Inn, LLC.

Conditions of Approval:

1. Owners, operators, and staff of conditional uses shall comply with all state
and municipal licensing regulations.

2. All licensed facilities shall comply with all life and safety regulations as
promulgated by the municipal Building Official.

3. All licensed manufacturing and cultivation uses shall provide a fire safety
plan, material handling plan, and comply with all fire safety regulations that
satisfies the Fire Marshal or their designee and the Building Official.

4. All licensed facilities and/or uses shall provide screening from public view of
any marijuana related commercial, retail, cultivation, or manufacturing use.

5. All licensed facilities and/or uses shall establish an active sales account and
business registration with the Municipality and shall comply with all standard
& required accounting practices.

6. It shall be a standard regulation that all conditional uses comply with all
applicable state regulations and licensing laws or it shall be deemed to
abandon and extinguish and associated municipal license or conditional use
permit.

7. All approved conditional use permits shall comply with all Sitka General
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Code or shall be deemed to abandon and extinguish any associated municipal
license or conditional use permit

8. Applicant shall provide a Parking Plan that complies with Section 22.20.100
for all uses present and proposed at the current property including striped
parking spaces where feasible (i.e. concrete or asphalt areas).

9. Odor Control shall include charcoal filters and other best means to limit and
mitigate odor impacts to surrounding uses. Should a meritorious odor
complaint be received the Planning Commission may require additional odor
control measures to mitigate any actual negative impacts.

10. The proposed cultivation site shall not be located within 500 feet of any
school grounds, recreation or youth center, religious service building, or
correctional facility that was legally established prior to approval of this
conditional use permit as intended by licensing restriction and regulations of
the state in 3 AAC Chapter 306.

11. This permit only conditionally approved the use of cultivation; however, at
the same time, all legally vested uses operating within Units O and P must
comply with all pertinent state and local regulations, licenses, and permits to
remain valid.

12. The Planning Commission may, at its discretion and upon receiving
meritorious evidence of negative impacts to public health, safety, and welfare,
schedule a review to address issues of concern and pursue mitigation through
additional conditions if necessary.

Motion PASSED 5-0.

L Public hearing and consideration of a conditional use permit request for
marijuana cultivation at 4614 Halibut Point Road, in the C-2 general
commercial and mobile home zone. The property is also known as Lot 3
of Carlson Resubdivision. The request is filed by Green Leaf, Inc. The
owners of record are Connor K. Nelson and Valerie L. Nelson.

Scarcelli explained the request for a cultivation facility. The applicant has
worked with staff to mitigate staff concerns. Cultivation tends to have lower
traffic than other manufacturing uses. Staff have received public comment
about noise from the fans; however, the property is commercially zoned. The
applicant has proposed extensive ventilation. Staff recommends approval.

Aaron Bean asked that the application be amended to list Green Leaf, Inc. as
the applicant. Spivey asked if the applicant plans to do retail in the future. Bean
stated that he hopes to eventually do retail on a different lot at the same site.
Spivey thanked the applicant for the thorough application.

Hughey/Pohiman moved to APPROVE the required findings.

Required Findings for Conditional Use Permits. The planning commission shall
not recommend approval of a proposed development unless it first makes the
following findings and conclusions:

1. The city may use design standards and other elements in this code to
modify the proposal. A conditional use permit may be approved only if all of
the following findings can be made regarding the proposal and are supported
by the record that the granting of the proposed conditional use permit will not:
a. Be detrimental to the public health, safety, and general welfare;

b. Adversely affect the established character of the surrounding vicinity; nor
c. Beinjurious to the uses, property, or improvements adjacent to, and in the
vicinity of, the site upon which the proposed use is to be located.
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2. The granting of the proposed conditional use permit is consistent and
compatible with the intent of the goals, objectives, and policies of the
comprehensive plan and any implementing regulation.

3. All conditions necessary to lessen any impacts of the proposed use are
conditions that can be monitored and enforced.

4. The proposed use will not introduce hazardous conditions at the site that
cannot be mitigated to protect adjacent properties, the vicinity, and the public
health, safety, and welfare of the community from such hazard.

5. The conditional use will be supported by, and not adversely affect,
adequate public facilities and services; or that conditions can be imposed to
lessen any adverse impacts on such facilities and services.

6. Burden of Proof. The applicant has the burden of proving that the
proposed conditional use meets all of the criteria in subsection B of this
section.

The city may approve, approve with conditions, modify, modify with
conditions, or deny the conditional use permit. The city may reduce or modify
bulk requirements, off-street parking requirements, and use design standards
to lessen impacts, as a condition of the granting of the conditional use permit.
In considering the granting of a conditional use, the assembly and planning
commission shall satisfy themselves that the general criteria set forth for uses
specified in this chapter will be met. The city may consider any or all criteria
listed and may base conditions or safeguards upon them. The assembly and
planning commission may require the applicant to submit whatever reasonable
evidence may be needed to protect the public interest. The general approval
criteria are as follows:

1. Site topography, slope and soil stability, geophysical hazards such as
flooding, surface and subsurface drainage and water quality, and the possible
or probable effects of the proposed conditional use upon these factors;

2. Utilities and service requirements of the proposed use, including sewers,
storm drainage, water, fire protection, access and electrical power; the
assembly and planning commission may enlist the aid of the relevant public
utility officials with specialized knowledge in evaluating the probable effects of
the proposed use and may consider the costs of enlarging, upgrading or
extending public utilities in establishing conditions under which the
conditional use may be permitted;

3. Lot or tract characteristics, including lot size, yard requirements, lot
coverage and height of structures;

4. Use characteristics of the proposed conditional use that affect adjacent
uses and districts, including hours of operation, number of persons, traffic
volumes, off-street parking and loading characteristics, trash and litter
removal, exterior lighting, noise, vibration, dust, smoke, heat and humidity,
recreation and open space requirements;

5. Community appearance such as landscaping, fencing and screening,
dependent upon the specific use and its visual impacts.

Specific Guidance from 22.24 on Findings for Marijuana Uses

Findings of Fact: Upon review and considerations of the required criteria, the
Planning Commission shall determine whether the proposed use(s) at the
proposed project location are found to not present a negative impact to the
public's health, safety, and welfare.

1. If such a finding can be made, then the proposed use shall be approved
with standard regulations, dimensions, and setbacks.
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2. In the alternative, where the Planning Commission finds negative impacts
are present, the Planning Commission shall only approve conditional use
permits where the negative impacts can be adequately mitigated by conditions
of approval that preserve the public's health, safety, and welfare. These
conditions of approval shall be case by case specific and in addition to the
standard regulations.

3. If negative impacts to the public's health, safety, and welfare cannot be
mitigated through conditions of approval then the Planning Commission shall
so find and deny the proposed conditional use permit.

Motion PASSED §-0.

Hughey/Parker Song moved to APPROVE approve the conditional use permit
request filed by Green Leaf, Inc. for marijuana cultivation at 4614 Halibut Point
Road, in the C 2 General Commercial and Mobile Home zone, subject to
conditions of approval. The property is also known as Lot 3 of Carlson
Resubdivision. The owners of record are Connor K. Nelson and Valorie L.
Nelson.

Conditions of Approval:

1. Owners, operators, and staff of conditional uses shall comply with all state
and municipal licensing regulations.

2. All licensed facilities shall comply with all life and safety regulations as
promulgated by the municipal Building Official.

3. All licensed manufacturing and cultivation uses shall provide a fire safety
plan, material handling plan, and comply with all fire safety regulations that
satisfies the Fire Marshal or their designee and the Building Official.

4. All licensed facilities and/or uses shall provide screening from public view of
any marijuana related commercial, retail, cultivation, or manufacturing use.

5. All licensed facilities and/or uses shall establish an active sales account and
business registration with the Municipality and shall comply with all standard
& required accounting practices.

6. It shall be a standard regulation that all conditional uses comply with all
applicable state regulations and licensing laws or it shall be deemed to
abandon and extinguish and associated municipal license or conditional use
permit.

7. All approved Conditional use permits shall comply with all Sitka General
Code or shall be deemed to abandon and extinguish any associated municipal
license or conditional use permit

8. Applicant shall provide a Parking Plan that complies with Section 22.20.100
for all uses present and proposed at the current property including striped
parking spaces where practical.

9. Odor Control shall include charcoal filters and other best means to limit and
mitigate odor impacts to surrounding uses. Should a meritorious odor
complaint be received the Planning Commission may require additional odor
control measures to mitigate any actual negative impacts.

10. The proposed cultivation site shall not be located within 500 feet of any
school grounds, recreation or youth center, religious service building, or
correctional facility that was legally established prior to approval of this
conditional use permit as intended by licensing restriction and regulations of
the state in 3 AAC Chapter 306.

11. The Planning Commission may, at its discretion and upon receiving
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meritorious evidence of negative impacts to public health, safety, and welfare,
schedule a review to address issues of concern and pursue mitigation through
additional conditions if necessary.

Motion PASSED 5-0.

M Public hearing and consideration of a conditional use permit request for
marijuana retail at 205 Harbor Drive, in the central business district. The
property is also known as Lot 1 Van Winkle Subdivision. The request is
filed by Mary Magnuson. The owners of record are Frank and Mary
Magnuson.

Scarcelli reviewed the request. The ultimate decision about possible buffer
zone issues would be determined by the state AMCO office. Staff recommends
that the commission postpone the request to a later meeting so more
information can be provided. Windsor asked if a postponement would “foul
up” the process for the applicant. Scarcelli stated that he understands that the
state is postponing some of their previously advertised dates. Spivey asked if
staff have reached out to request additional information, and Scarcelli stated
that he and Pierson had both been in touch with the applicant, requested
additional information, and the applicant indicated that she would provide
more information. Pohiman stated concern for proximity to the Lutheran
Church.

Mary Magnuson stated that operations will be according to state regulations.
Magnuson stated that she has difficulty luring her potential tenant before a
permit is granted. The property has been retail in the past, and will be some
sort of retail in the future. Magnuson stated that she believes her application is
adequate. The building is already sprinkled and fire alarmed, has
“tremendous” ventilation, and will have approximately 16 security cameras.
Magnuson stated that she does not see the need to delay the request. Windsor
asked if the applicant had plans for a smoking room, and Magnuson said no.

Margie Esquiro stated concern for the proximity to sensitive uses, and the city
can be more stringent than the state.

Joe D’Arienzo stated that this is one of the only available sites in the central
business district due to sensitive uses.

Scarcelli read a letter from Susan Jensen, in opposition to the proposal.

Windsor asked what would happen if the conditional use permit was granted
but the state license was denied. Scarcelli stated that until a state license is
granted, the conditional use permit is not activated. Hughey asked what would
be required for staff to view the application as complete. Scarcelli stated that
the ordinance pulls state regulations into municipal requirements, so the city
can enforce issues as they arise; therefore, the planning department would like
to receive the same information that is submitted to the state, including
security, dversion, floor plan, and overall detailed plans. Parker Song asked if
another retail would be analyzed to this extent. Bosak stated that uses that are
conditional are analyzed by the framework in code.

Pohiman stated that community concerns have been raised, so she would like
to see the lessee and his/her plans in full detail. Spivey stated that a
conditional use requires detailed plans.
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Windsor/Hughey moved to POSTPONE the item to June 21 and request that the
applicant provide more information. Motion PASSED 5-0.

N Public hearing and consideration of a conditional use permit request for a
marijuana retail facility at 1321 Sawmill Creek Road J, in the C-2
commercial and mobile home zone. The property is also known as US
Survey 2729. The request is filed by Anna Michelle Cleaver. The owner of
record is Eagle Bay Inn, LLC.

Scarcelli described the request for marijuana retail. The applicant has provided
the AMCO application. Parking is sufficient, but parking space striping should
be a condition of approval. No sensitive uses are known within the state buffer
zone. Staff recommends approval. Spivey stated that he notarized the state
application, but has no financial gain at stake.

Michelle Cleaver stated that the owner intends to stripe 120 parking spaces by
the end of the month. Hughey clarified that Cleaver would sell locally cultivated
marijuana, and she stated yes.

Jeremy Twaddle asked about how odor is determined. Bosak stated that odor
would be addressed if complaints were raised.

Jennifer Davis stated that she lives nearby, and is concerned that children and
families use the plaza.

Windsor asked about the time requirements for review by the board. Bosak
stated that review could occur at any time when a meritorious complaint is
received which indicates that the operation is not in compliance with the
conditions of approval.

Parker Song/Pohlman moved to APPROVE the required findings.

Required Findings for Conditional Use Permits. The planning commission shall
not recommend approval of a proposed development unless it first makes the
following findings and conclusions:

1. The city may use design standards and other elements in this code to
modify the proposal. A conditional use permit may be approved only if all of
the following findings can be made regarding the proposal and are supported
by the record that the granting of the proposed conditional use permit will not:
a. Be detrimental to the public health, safety, and general welfare;

b. Adversely affect the established character of the surrounding vicinity; nor
¢. Be injurious to the uses, property, or improvements adjacent to, and in the
vicinity of, the site upon which the proposed use is to be located.

2. The granting of the proposed conditional use permit is consistent and
compatible with the intent of the goals, objectives, and policies of the
comprehensive plan and any implementing regulation.

3. All conditions necessary to lessen any impacts of the proposed use are
conditions that can be monitored and enforced.

4. The proposed use will not introduce hazardous conditions at the site that
cannot be mitigated to protect adjacent properties, the vicinity, and the public
health, safety, and welfare of the community from such hazard.

5. The conditional use will be supported by, and not adversely affect,
adequate public facilities and services; or that conditions can be imposed to
lessen any adverse impacts on such facilities and services.
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6. Burden of Proof. The applicant has the burden of proving that the
proposed conditional use meets all of the criteria in subsection B of this
section.

The city may approve, approve with conditions, modify, modify with
conditions, or deny the conditional use permit. The city may reduce or modify
bulk requirements, off-street parking requirements, and use design standards
to lessen impacts, as a condition of the granting of the conditional use permit.
In considering the granting of a conditional use, the assembly and planning
commission shall satisfy themselves that the general criteria set forth for uses
specified in this chapter will be met. The city may consider any or all criteria
listed and may base conditions or safeguards upon them. The assembly and
planning commission may require the applicant to submit whatever reasonable
evidence may be needed to protect the public interest. The general approval
criteria are as follows:

1. Site topography, slope and soil stability, geophysical hazards such as
flooding, surface and subsurface drainage and water quality, and the possible
or probable effects of the proposed conditional use upon these factors;

2. Utilities and service requirements of the proposed use, including sewers,
storm drainage, water, fire protection, access and electrical power; the
assembly and planning commission may enlist the aid of the relevant public
utility officials with specialized knowledge in evaluating the probable effects of
the proposed use and may consider the costs of enlarging, upgrading or
extending public utilities in establishing conditions under which the
conditional use may be permitted;

3. Lot or tract characteristics, including lot size, yard requirements, lot
coverage and height of structures;

4, Use characteristics of the proposed conditional use that affect adjacent
uses and districts, including hours of operation, number of persons, traffic
volumes, off-street parking and loading characteristics, trash and litter
removal, exterior lighting, noise, vibration, dust, smoke, heat and humidity,
recreation and open space requirements;

5. Community appearance such as landscaping, fencing and screening,
dependent upon the specific use and its visual impacts.

Specific Guidance from 22.24 on Findings for Marijuana Uses

Findings of Fact: Upon review and considerations of the required criteria, the
Planning Commission shall determine whether the proposed use(s) at the
proposed project location are found to not present a negative impact to the
public’s health, safety, and welfare.

1. If such a finding can be made, then the proposed use shall be approved
with standard regulations, dimensions, and setbacks.

2. In the alternative, where the Planning Commission finds negative impacts
are present, the Planning Commission shall only approve conditional use
permits where the negative impacts can be adequately mitigated by conditions
of approval that preserve the public's health, safety, and welfare. These
conditions of approval shall be case by case specific and in addition to the
standard regulations.

3. If negative impacts to the public's health, safety, and welfare cannot be
mitigated through conditions of approval then the Planning Commission shall
so find and deny the proposed conditional use permit.
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Motion PASSED 5-0.

Parker Song/Pohiman moved to APPROVE the conditional use permit request
filed by Anna Michelle Cleaver for marijuana retail at 1321 Sawmill Creek Road,
Unit J, in the C 2 General Commercial and mobile home zone subject to the
attached 11 conditions of approval. The property is also known as U.S. Survey
2729. The owner of record is Eagle Bay, LLC.

Conditions of Approval:

1. Owners, operators, and staff of conditional uses shall comply with all state
and municipal licensing regulations.

2. All licensed facilities shall comply with all life and safety regulations as
promulgated by the municipal Building Official.

3. All licensed manufacturing and cultivation uses shall provide a fire safety
plan, material handling plan, and comply with all fire safety regulations that
satisfies the Fire Marshal or their designee and the Building Official.

4, All licensed facilities and/or uses shall provide screening from public view of
any marijuana related commercial, retail, cultivation, or manufacturing use.

5. All licensed facilities and/or uses shall establish an active sales account and
business registration with the Municipality and shall comply with all standard
& required accounting practices.

6. It shall be a standard regulation that all conditional uses comply with all
applicable state regulations and licensing laws or it shall be deemed to
abandon and extinguish and associated municipal license or conditional use
permit.

7. All approved conditional use permits shall comply with all Sitka General
Code or shall be deemed to abandon and extinguish any associated municipal
license or conditional use permit

8. Applicant shall provide a Parking Plan that complies with Section 22.20.100
for all uses present and proposed at the current property including striped
parking spaces where feasible (i.e. concrete or asphalt areas).

9. Odor Control shall include reasonable best means (such as high quality
Commercial HEPA filter) to limit and mitigate odor impacts to surrounding
uses. Should a meritorious odor complaint be received, the Planning
Commission may require additional odor control measures to mitigate any
actual negative impacts.

10. The proposed retail site shall not be located within 500 feet of any school
grounds, recreation or youth center, religious service building, or correctional
facility that was legally established prior to approval of this conditional use
permit as intended by licensing restriction and regulations of the state in 3
AAC Chapter 306.

11. The Planning Commission may, at its discretion and upon receiving
meritorious evidence of negative impacts to public health, safety, and welfare,
schedule a review to address issues of concern and pursue mitigation through
additional conditions if necessary.

Motion PASSED 5-0.

VI PLANNING DIRECTOR’S REPORT

Bosak reported on the Assembly Lands Work Session from the previous week.
The June 7 meeting will focus on acquisition, retention, and disposal of
municipal lands, and will be held at the Fire Hall. The July 5§ meeting is
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cancelled.

VIl PUBLIC BUSINESS FROM THE FLOOR
Mary Magnuson stated that she was told that she would not have to disclose
the identity of her lessee. Scarcelli stated that the tenant isn’t relevant, but the
details are relevant.

Viil. ADJOURNMENT

Hughey/Windsor moved to ADJOURN at 9:44 PM. Motion PASSED 5-0.

ATTEST:
Samantha Pierson, Planner|
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PROIJECT DESCRIPTION

Petro Marine is requesting a long term tideland lease adjacent their deeded tidelands at 1 Lincoln
Street. The request includes 7,082 square feet for the purpose of relocating the existing floating fuel
dock to the area and replacing it with a 150’ marine fueling dock.

The Assessor is working on establishing an assessment for the tidelands of which the lease would be
charged a 4.5% annual fee, with an adjustment every 7 years, per SGC. The applicant has requested a 50
year lease period.

Following the Planning Commission meeting, the request will be presented to the Assembly for
preliminary approval. From preliminary approval, a plat will be created and presented to the
Commission again for subdivision approval. Port and Harbors and Historic Preservation will be
consulted. A final lease ordinance will be authorized by the Assembly and then the parcel to be put out
for competitive bid. This is a long and arduous process and one that Staff is hoping to streamline in the
new land use plan.

BACKGROUND

In March, Petro Marine submitted a request to purchase additional tidelands adjacent their deeded
tidelands at 1 Lincoln Street, for expansion of marine fueling services and dock realignment. The sales
request was denied based on:

Possible limitations to use to upland property owners
Restriction of access to upland property owners

Comprehensive Plan Policy 2.4.12 To maintain public access to the waterfront, where
feasible, in all zones

Municipally owned tidelands are limited and are not considered surplus to future
community priorities.



The applicant was instead routed towards the lease process and resubmitted requesting a 50 year lease.

Only upland property owners have “preference rights” to tidelands, meaning that a sale or lease can be
made without going to a public competitive bid process. For this small portion of property, the upland
property owner is the Forest Service and CBS. The lease request requires a public competitive bid
process.

Tidelands will continue to increase in value and be an asset to the citizens. Many feel the waterfront
should be for public facilities and enjoyment, more of a benefit to the masses rather than an individual
land owner. Tidelands are a very limited resource.

PCDD is in support of a Class lll Tideland lease. This commercial designation lease requires a lengthy
public notification period which allows concerns to be aired.

This option seems to be beneficial to all parties in that it allows the applicant the use of the property
and allows CBS to retain the property should future needs arise.

ANALYSIS

Project / Site: The proposed tidelands are immediately adjacent 1 Lincoln Street. It is approximately
7,082 square feet of unoccupied submerged tidelands that are next to the current Petro Marine Fuel
dock.

Amount of vehicular traffic to be generated and impacts of the traffic on nearby land uses: Same
amount of vehicular traffic as currently observed. No increase in expected. Concerns stem from access
and the restrictions that this new configuration could impose.

Amount of noise to be generated and its impacts on surrounding land use: Construction noise should
be anticipated during install of the new dock facility. After that, Staff expects that noise would be similar
to present use.

Odors to be generated by the use and their impacts: Odors from gas and boat exhaust should be
anticipated.

Hours of operation: Unknown. Expect similar hours as present site.

Effects of vehicular and pedestrian safety: Public safety in general is a concern for any fuel facility.
Commissioners should consider plans for spill response, boat congestion, dock falls and fire.

Ability of the police, fire and EMS personnel to respond to emergency calls on the site: Same as
present.

Effects of signage on nearby uses: Limited change to signage.

Conformity with Comprehensive Plan: The Comprehensive Plan section 2.3.12 To maintain public
access to the waterfront, where feasible.



RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that the Planning Commission adopt the Director’s analysis and move to recommend
preliminary approval of the tideland lease adjacent 1 Lincoln Street.

If the Planning Commission approves the proposed tideland lease, the process would be this: The
request would go to the Assembly for concept approval, followed by creation of a minor subdivision,
through Ports and Harbors and Historic Preservation Commissions, public competitive bid and then back
to the Assembly for a final land sale ordinance.

Recommended Motions:

1) | move to recommend preliminary approval of the proposed tideland lease adjacent to 1 Lincoln
Street filed by Petro Marine Services.



Memorandum

TO: Maegan Bosak, Planning and Community Development Director
FROM: Wendy Lawrence, Assessing Director
L awrence

SUBJECT: Cit%orough of Sitka Tidelands Assessed Valuation for Proposed Lease —
Approximately 7,082 sf of a Portion of ATS 15/ADL 1966 (which is adjacent to:
PID: 1-0010-000 — #1 Lincoln)

DATE: May 12, 2016

The real property described above was inspected for the valuation of tideland parcel subject to a lease
proposal of sloping tidelands adjacent to the Petro Marine fuel dock at #1 Lincoln Street.

The subject site consists of 7,082sf of sloping tidclands within ATS 15, located directly north and
adjacent to Petro Marine’s downtown facility. The depth of the water ranges from 15-35" more or less,
is zoned waterfront, and is intended to be used as key waterfront access for this marine fucling facility.
Use of this site would allow the applicant to reconfigure, expand and enhance the current fucl dock for
greater efficiency and safety.

Tidelands within the City and Borough of Sitka are valued according to their classification: upland and
filled tidelands arc valued at the same rate as the regular land values for the area, with sloping and
submerged tidelands valued at a percentage of the upland rate. 'This standard of valuation is used
throughout Alaska, with price variances according to upland land valucs, zoning classtfications, and
adjustments for inferior or superior qualities in comparable sales. Acquisition of this site would
enhance Pctro Marine’s waterfront access to this marine fucling business, and as such is valued at 45%
of the upland land value for Petro Marine’s #1 Lincoln overall facility.

Waterfront comparable sales prices per square foot range from $26.05 to $34.99 per upland square foot
for this market area. The attached table shows the tideland comparable sales, with most weight being
given to the subject’s prior tdeland purchase, at this same location, as Comparable #1 at a time-
adjusted value of $32.11/sf. Comparable #2 is similar in quality and location, and as such is weighted
heavily as well at a time adjusted upland rate of $34.99/sf. Comparable #3 is slightly inferior in
location to the subject and brackets the subject at the low end of the range. All uses are commercial
and all zoning classifications for the comparable sales are waterfront, similar to the subject property.
Time adjustments were calculated at 2% per year prior to 2008, and 1% per year after.

Based upon the sales data available for this arca, I have estimated the fee simple assessed value of
$102,300 for this proposed site. This figurc was calculated by multplying 45% of the upland square
foot value of $32.11 to the estimated square footage of 7,082 for these sloping tidelands, for a rounded
fee simple value of $102,300.



Comparable Sales Table
Waterfront Tidelands Valuation

2016 Up/Filled Rate
Time-Adj| Sale
Comp PID  Location Zoning Sale Date Sale Price Size $/SF | Price/SF

1 1-0010-000 #1 Lincoln
2 1-6655-000 201 Katlian
3 1-6845-000 485 Katlian

W 11/20/98 $45,800

W 06/20/06 $38,000

W 01/26/16 $20,800
Range: $26.05/sf to $34.99/sf

2,125 § 32.11 $23.16
4,514 § 3499 $31.68
5,327 § 26.05 $26.05




Samantha Pierson

A
From: Stan Eliason
Sent: Wednesday, March 16, 2016 9:42 AM
To: Samantha Pierson
Subject: Re: Land Purchase Inquiries

Samantha, | don't foresee any use of these tidelands with my operations.

Stan

Sent from my iPhone us my new email address: stan.eliason@cityofsitka.org

On Mar 14, 2016, at 12:32 PM, Samantha Pierson <samantha.pierson@cityofsitka.org> wrote:

Dear Department Heads,

Two parties have expressed interest in acquiring parcels of city-owned property. One inquiry concerns a the
sale of a portion of tidelands adjacent to 1 Lincoln Street. The applicants state that they wish to create a
new fuel dock on the property.

The second inquiry concerns the sale of Mineral Survey 1587, near Herbert Graves Island. The applicant
wishes to purchase the property for personal use as a subsistence camp.

Like most land sales, these proposals will also receive formal review by the Historic Preservation
Commission and the Port and Harbors Commission.

Before proceeding with a process to possibly dispose of these properties, a necessary step is to determine if
they are surplus to the city’s needs.

Therefore, | ask department heads to advise the Planning Department as to whether these parcels are
surplus to their department’s needs. Additionally, even if it is surplus, please advise if you are aware of a
reason why it might be in the city’s best interest to retain these properties in the city lands inventory.

Please respond by Tuesday, March 22, or let me know if you need more time. If we receive no response
from a department, the Planning Department will consider there to be no objection to disposing of the

property.
Feel free to give me a call if you would like more information. Thank you.

Sam

Samantha Pierson
Planner |

City and Borough of Sitka
100 Lincoln Street

Sitka, AK 99835

(907) 747-1814 Petro Marine Services

Tideland Lease Request
Adjacent to 1 Lincoln Street



Samantha Pierson

I A -]
From: Dave Miller
Sent: Monday, March 14, 2016 2:29 PM
To: Samantha Pierson
Subject: RE: Land Purchase Inquiries

Fire Department has no problems with the sale
Dave Miller

From: Samantha Pierson

Sent: Monday, March 14, 2016 12:32 PM

To: cbs.deptheads.staff <cbs.deptheads.staff@cityofsitka.org>
Subject: Land Purchase Inquiries

Dear Department Heads,

Two parties have expressed interest in acquiring parcels of city-owned property. One inquiry concerns a the sale of a
portion of tidelands adjacent to 1 Lincoln Street. The applicants state that they wish to create a new fuel dock on the

property.

The second inquiry concerns the sale of Mineral Survey 1587, near Herbert Graves Island. The applicant wishes to purchase
the property for personal use as a subsistence camp.

Like most land sales, these proposals will also receive formal review by the Historic Preservation Commission and the Port
and Harbors Commission.

Before proceeding with a process to possibly dispose of these properties, a necessary step is to determine if they are
surplus to the city’s needs.

Therefore, | ask department heads to advise the Planning Department as to whether these parcels are surplus to their
department’s needs. Additionally, even if it is surplus, please advise if you are aware of a reason why it might be in the city’s
best interest to retain these properties in the city lands inventory.

Please respond by Tuesday, March 22, or let me know if you need more time. If we receive no response from a department,
the Planning Department will consider there to be no objection to disposing of the property.

Feel free to give me a call if you would like more information. Thank you.

Sam

Samantha Pierson

Planner |

City and Borough of Sitka

100 Lincoln Street

Sitka, AK 99835

(907) 747-1814
Petro Marine Services

Tideland Lease Request

Adjacent to 1 Lincoln Street
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LAND SALES APPLICATION
Applicant
Applicant’s Name: Petro Marine Services Phone: ___ 747-3414
If application is a corporation, give name of agent: Jerry Jacobs

Mailing Address: Box 418. Sitka AK 99835

Requested Property SEE ATTACHED DRAWING

Legal Description: Lot Block U.S. Survey No.

Existing Subdivision

Street Address
RN

Intended Use (circle): Residential Private Recreation( Commerci;l Industrial

Reason for requesting sale: _To relocate the existing floating fuel dock at #1 Lincoln St. to the
area in question. and replace it with a structure designed to enhance public safetv and
environmental protection (see attached).

Area of land: 7082 sqg. fi.

Current use and appearance: Unoccupied submerged tidelands adjacent to the Petro Marine
fuel dock at #1 Lincoln St.

Historical Use: See attached comments.

Proposed construction or improvement: 150" marine fueling dock — see attached
drawings

If the Assembly authorizes the sale to proceed, 1) an additional $150 will be required to cover advertising
costs, 2) a subdivision plat will be required, and 3) an appraisal will be required. The cost of the appraisal
may be split between the municipality and the applicant.

Signature: W/ / Date: %éﬂ

1

Petro Marine Services

Land Management - Tideland Purchase Request
1 Lincoln Street










Parcel 1D: 10001000

0. BOX 110208
JUNEAU AK 99811

Parcel 1D: 10015002
CITY & BOROUGH OF SI
C/B OF SI
100
TKA AK 99835

Parcel ID: 10017000
STATE OF ALASKA
CASTLE HILL
STATE OF ALASKA
6860 GLACIER HWY
JUNEAU AK 99801

Parcel ID: 10033000
BLANCA IIERNANDEZ
HERNANDEZ, BLANCA

2435 MARIAN BAY CIRCLE
ANCHORAGE AK 99515

Parcel 1D: 16015000
ROBERT/KAREN PARKER
PARKER, ROBERT & KAREN
204 KATLIAN AVE
SITKA AK 99835

Parcel ID: 16656000

A, STATE OF
TOTEM SQ LAWN
SITKA AK 99835

r
N

35

State of Alaska
PO Box 110690
Juneau, AK 99811

Parce! 1D: 10010000
HARBOR ENTERPRISES, INC.
PETRO MARINE SERVICES
HARBOR ENTERPRISES, INC.
P.0. BOX 389
SEWARD AK 99664-0389

Parcel 1D: 10015004
CITY & BOROUGH OF SITKA

C/B OF SITKA
100 LIN
5 AK 99835

Parcel {D: 10017001
CITY & BOROUGH OF SITKA
CASTLE HIL B DR
OF SITKA
100 LINCOLN ST
SITKA AK 99835

Parcel ID: 15997000
SITKA TRIBE OF ALASKA
SHEETKA KWAAN NAA KAHINI
SITKA TRIBE OF ALASKA
456 KATLIAN ST.
SITKA AK 99835

Parcel 1D: 16655000
SCOJO, LI.C
TOTEM SQUARE
SC0JO, LLC
2819 DAWSON ST
. ANCHORAGE AK 99503

Parcel ID: 16657000
U.S. FOREST SERVICE
FOREST SERVICE DOCK
U1.S. FOREST SERVICE
204 SIGINAKA WAY
SITKA AK 99835

Parcel ID: 16015001
RAVEN RADIO FOUNDATION, INC.
RAVEN RADIO FOUNDATION, INC.
2B LINCOLN ST.
SITKA AK 99835

Parcel ID: 10016000
CITY & BOROUGH OF SIT
CITY
FSITKA
100 LINCOLN ST
SITKA AK 99835

Parcel 1D: 10020000
CASTLE HILL, LLC
CASTLE HILL, LLC

117 GRANITE CREEK RD, STE 201

SITKA AK 99835

Parcel ID: 16000000
JAMES MCGOWAN
MCGOWAN, JAMES, W.
202 KATLIAN, #A
SITKA AK 99835

Parcel ID: 16655001

C/B OF SITKA
BETWEEN TO'I'WE
(#aw SITKA
0!

0 LINCOLN ST
SITKA AK 99835

Parcel ID: 16675000
CITY & BOROUGII OF SITKA

(BAILEY'S MARINE
C/B A
LINCOLN ST

SITKA AK 99835

Assembly Mailing

June 3, 2016



Parcel 1D: 10010000
HARBOR ENTERPRISES, INC.
PETRO MARINE SERVICES
HARBOR ENTERPRISES, INC.
P.O. BOX 389
SEWARD AK 99664-0389

Parcel 1D: 10035004
CITY & BOROUGH OF SITKA

ITKA AK 99835

Parcel ID: 16017001
CITY & BOROUGH OF SIT
CASTLE HILL(BELQ!
C/B
LINCOLN ST
SITKA AK 99835

BDR

Parcel 1D: 16656000
ALASKA, STATE OF

SITKA AK 99835

Parcel [D: 10015001

" RAVEN RADIO FOUNDATION, INC.

RAVEN RADIO FOUNDATION, INC.
2B LINCOLN ST.
SITKA AK 99835

Parcel [D: 10016000

Parcel 1D: 10020000
CASTLE HILL,LLC
CASTLE HILL, LLC

117 GRANITE CREEK RD, STE 201
SITKA AK 99835

Parcel 1D: 16657000
U.S. FOREST SERVICE
FOREST SERVICE DOCK
U.S. FOREST SERVICE
204 SIGINAKA WAY
SITKA AK 99835

Parcel 1D: 10015002
CITY & BOROUGH OF SITKA
C/B OF SITKA
100 L, ST
KA AK 99835

Parcel 1D: 10017000
STATE OF ALASKA
CASTLE HILL
STATE OF ALASKA
6860 GLACIER HWY
JUNEAU AK 99801

Parcel ID: 16655000
SC0JO, LLC
TOTEM SQUARE
SC0JO, LLC
2819 DAWSON ST
ANCHORAGE AK 99503

Petro Marine Services
Tideland Lease Request
Adjacent to 1 Lincoln Street

P&Z Mailing

May 6, 2016
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On agenda: 6/14/2016 Final action:

Title: Reappoint: 1) Debra Pohlman to a term on the Planning Commission, 2) Brendan Jones to a term on
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POSSIBLE MOTION

| MOVE TO reappoint: 1) Debra Pohlman to a term
on the Planning Commission, 2) Brendan Jones to a
term on the Port and Harbors Commission,
3) Morgan Doubleday to a term on the Animal
Hearing Board, and, 4) Grant Miller to a term on the
Gary Paxton Industrial Park Board.






PLANNING COMMISSION

TERM
NAME CONTACT NUMBERS STARTS | EXPIRES | CATEGORY
CHRIS SPIVEY 747-6636 w 12/11/12 | 2/8/14 CHAIR
PO Box 312 738-2524 c 1/28/14 | 1/28/17
spi3050@yahoo.com
DARRELL WINDSOR | 738-4046 ¢ 6/28/11 | 6/28/14 | VICE CHAIR
PO Box 1973 dwindsor@gci.net 6/24/14 | 6/24/17
TAMIE (HARKINS) 623-7687 4/23/13 | 4/23/16
PARKER SONG tamieparkersong@gmail.com | 4/26/16 | 4/26/19
PO Box 1121
DEBRA POHLMAN 747-1722 w 6/25/13 | 6/25/16
209 Moller Avenue dpohiman@sitkahospital.org
RANDY HUGHEY 738-2999 c 2/24/15 | 10/23/15
220 Lakeview Drive randywhughey@gmail.com 10/13/15 | 10/13/18
Michael Scarcelli 747-1815 Staff Liaison
Senior Planner michael.scarcelli@cityofsitka.org
Maegan Bosak 747-1824
Planning and Community | maegan.bosak@cityofsitka.org
Development Director
Samantha Pierson 747-1814 Secretary

Planner |

samantha.pierson@cityofsitka.org

5 members from public, 3-year terms
Established by Ordinance 74-118/SGC2.18 & Charter Article VIII

Must be registered to vote

First and Third Tuesdays 7:00 p.m. — Sealing Cove Business Center

CONFLICT OF INTEREST FORMS

OATHS OF OFFICE

Revised: April 27, 2016




June 17" 2013

To Assembly Members of the City and Borough of Sitka,

Having returned back to Sitka to work and live, | am interested in service to my
community by applying for a vacancy on the Planning Commission for the City of Sitka. |
believe in giving back to the community in which | live, and chose the Planning
Commission because of the vacancy; | have no specific agenda or preconceived ideas
that | bring to the commission but rather open-mindedness to address concerns that
come before it.

My occupation has required participation in numerous medical committees over the
years and | have served on the State of Alaska Medicaid Rate Advisory Commission.
Currently | attend several meetings for required hospital committees. While preparation
for the Planning Commission meetings will require extra time, the meetings aren't so
frequent that | anticipate difficulty attending.

| appreciate your consideration for the vacancy and hope you will choose to add me to
the Planning Commission.

Sincerely,










PORT AND HARBORS COMMISSION

Administrative Coordinator

renee.wheat@cityofsitka.org

TERM
NAME CONTACT NUMBERS STARTS [ EXPIRES | CATEGORY
KEVIN KNOX 738-4664 ¢ 12/10/13 | 4/10/15 CHAIR
324 Wachusetts Street kevin@bluesteel.org 3/24/15 3/24/18
JOSH ARNOLD 738-0854 ¢ 5/13/14 5/22/15 VICE CHAIR
106 Shotgun Alley 747-0545 Coleman'’s term
oceanlure@gmail.com
MARY ANN PETERSON 752-3684 10/7/13 10/7/16
PO Box 593 map3684@gmail.com
MELISSA GREENHALGH | 738-1320 ¢ 2/11/15 3/26/16
PO Box 25 melissarae1984@yahoo.com 5/24/16 5/24/19
ERIC SKOUSEN 623-8003 10/27/15 | 10/27/18
105 Burkhart Road B12 skousenpride@hotmail.com
MICHAEL NURCO 738-0927 111116 | 7/8/17 Davis term
Po Box 6443 albatrossalaskacharters@gmail.com
BRENDAN JONES 738-8209 ¢ 2/9/16 6/11/16 Johnson's term
PO Box 6265 brendanisaacjones@gmail.com
Stan Eliason 747-3439 w Harbormaster
Office: 617 Katlian Street | 738-0832 Non-voting
stan.eliason@cityofsitka.org
Matthew Hunter 738-6851 c Assembly
102 Remington Way assemblyhunter@cityofsitka.org Liaison
Renee Wheat 747-1808 w Secretary

7 members from the public, 3-year terms

Established by Resolution 88-375

Nine meetings per year, September — May, 2" Wednesday
Sealing Cove Business Center, 601 Alice Loop 6:00 p.m.

Revised: May 25, 2016










ANIMAL HEARING BOARD

TERM
NAME CONTACT NUMBERS STARTS EXPIRES CATEGORY
SUSAN ROYCE 747-6064 7/9/02 7/09/05 CHAIR
1919 Cascade Creek Rd. 747-6599 fax 7/12/05 7/12/08 Animal Trainer
svroyce@gmail.com 6/24/08 6/24/11
6/14/11 6/14/14
6/10/14 6/10/17
CARIN ADICKES 747-1078 1/26/10 1/26/13 Animal Interest
1401 Edgecumbe Dr. 4seapeople@gci.net 1/8/13 1/8/16 Group
12/22/15 12/22/18
MORGAN DOUBLEDAY | 747-5424 w 4/8/08 7/10/10 Dog Keeper
1705 Sawmill Creek Road | 738-4242 ¢ 6/22/10 6/22/13
6/11/13 6/11/16
DAVID HUNT 747-7387 w 8/9/11 8/9/14 Veterinarian
PO Box 1774 sitkavet@alaska.com 8/26/14 8/26/17

Note: Hearing boards do not have an assembly liaison nor does the Animal Control
Officer sit on the board. The hearing board consists of five members as defined in
Ordinance 02-1656.

5 Members from Public and one alternate

Initial terms staggered (1) one-year (2) two-year and (2) three-year terms and (1) alternate with 3-year term.
Established by Ordinance 02-1656

The Animal Hearing Board shall meet within 5 business days, or as soon as possible thereafter,

after receipt for a hearing.

Revised: December 29, 2015
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POSSIBLE MOTION

| MOVE TO approve Ordinance 2016-17
on second and final reading.
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Sponsor: Administrator

CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA
ORDINANCE NO. 2016-17

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA
ADJUSTING THE FY16 BUDGET

BE IT ENACTED by the Assembly of the City and Borough of Sitka, Alaska as follows:

1. CLASSIFICATION. This ordinance is not of a permanent nature and is not intended to be a part
of the Sitka General Code of the City and Borough of Sitka, Alaska.

2. SEVERABILITY. Ifany provision of this ordinance or any application thereof to any person or
circumstance is held invalid, the remainder of this ordinance and application thereof to any person and
circumstances shall not be affected thereby.

3. PURPOSE. The purpose of this ordinance is to adjust the FY 16 budgets for known changes.

4. ENACTMENT. The Assembly of the City and Borough of Sitka hereby adjusts the FY 16 budget
for known changes. In accordance with Section I1.10(a) of the Charter of the City and Borough of Sitka,
Alaska, the budget for the fiscal period beginning July 1, 2015 and ending June 30, 2016 is hereby adjusted
as follows:

Account Number | Account | Increase | Decrease

FISCAL YEAR 2016 EXPENDITURE BUDGETS

CAPITAL PROJECTS

Contingency Fund — Operations: At the October 27" meeting, the Assembly approved to authorize a
budget in the amount of $1,500,000 for all costs related to the disaster declaration work and
authorize the Municipal Administrator to award all bids and execute all contracts necessary to
complete the remaining disaster remediation work with a total not to exceed budget of $1,500,000.
October 13" the Assembly approved a Budget Ordinance for $1,000,000 of those funds. This Budget
Ordinance will appropriate the remaining $500,000. If funds are not fully expensed in FY16, a re-
fappropriation will be requested in the first Budget Adjustment in FY17.

Overall Funds — Personnel: This entry will increase appropriations in each Fund for the Employer
On-Behalf Funding — PERS ER120. General Fund - $348,692; Electric Fund - $128,527; Water
Fund - $11,527; Wastewater Fund - $35,158; Solid Waste Fund — 2,306; Harbor Fund - $24,207;
Management Information Systems Fund - $10,375; Central Garage Fund - $5,188; Building
Maintenance Fund - $10,375.
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Ordinance 2016-17
Page 2 of 2

EXPLANATION

Necessary revisions in the FY 2016 budget were identified. These changes involve the increase of
expenditure accounts and causes decreased cash flows to the fund balance of various funds. A short
explanation of each budget revision is included.

5. EFFECTIVE DATE. This ordinance shall become effective on the day after the date of its
passage.

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED by the Assembly of the City and Borough of Sitka,
Alaska this 14th Day of June, 2016.

ATTEST: Mim McConnell, Mayor

Sara Peterson, CMC
Municipal Clerk



Materials from
October 27, 2015
Assembly meeting



POSSIBLE MOTION

| MOVE to approve a total authorized budget of
$1,500,000 for all costs related to the disaster
declaration work and authorize the Municipal
Administrator to award all bids and execute all
contracts necessary to complete the remaining
disaster remediation work with a total not to exceed
budget of $1,500,000.
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POSSIBLE MOTION

| MOVE TO approve Ordinance 2016-20
on second and final reading.
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Sponsor: Administrator
CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA
ORDINANCE NO. 2016-20

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA
ADOPTING BUDGETS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR JULY 1, 2016
THROUGH JUNE 30, 2017

BE IT ENACTED by the Assembly of the City and Borough of Sitka, Alaska as follows:

1. CLASSIFICATION. This ordinance is not of a permanent nature and is not intended to be a part of the Sitka
General Code of the City and Borough of Sitka, Alaska.

2. SEVERABILITY. If any portion of this ordinance or any application thereof to any person or circumstance is
held invalid, the remainder of this ordinance and application thereof to any person and circumstances shall not be
affected thereby.

3. PURPOSE. The purpose of this ordinance is to set forth budgetary requirements for the operation of the various
divisions, departments and organizations of the City and Borough of Sitka for Fiscal Year 2017.

4. ENACTMENT. NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED by the Assembly of the City and Borough of Sitka,
Alaska that the following expenditure budgets for the fiscal period beginning July 1, 2016 and ending June 30, 2017
are hereby adopted as follows:

FUND REVENUE EXPENDITURE BUDGET

GENERAL FUNDS REVENUE OPERATIONS CAPITAL/ TOTAL
TRANSFER

General Fund $ 28,288,850 $ 26,788,850 $ 1,500,000 | $ 28,288,850

ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Electric Fund $ 18,086,900 $ 17,268,250 $ 3,475,000 | $20,743,250

Water Fund $ 3,590,030 $ 2,126,252 $ 75000 |$ 2,201,252

Wastewater Fund $ 4,680,820 $ 3,177,896 § 226,500 | $ 3,404,396

Solid Waste Fund $ 3,750,668 $ 3,563,072 $ -0- $ 3,563,072

Harbor Fund $ 3,759,500 $ 2267,774 $ -0- $ 2,267,774

Airport Terminal Fund $ 486,000 $ 463,288 $ -0- $ 463,288

Marine Service Center Fund $ 265,484 $ 158,197 $ -0- $ 158,197

Gary Paxton Industrial Park $ 7,188,900 $ 306,972 3 -0- $ 306,972




Ordinance 2016-20

Page 2
INTERNAL SERVICE REVENUE OPERATIONS CAPITAL/ TOTAL
FUNDS TRANSFER

Management Information $ 1,144,022 $ 1,051,410 $ -0 $ 1,051410
Systems Fund
Central Garage Fund $ 1,816,156 $ 896,929 $ 821,200 $ 1,718,129
Building Maintenance Fund $ 772,400 $ 689,961 $ -0- $ 689961

SPECIAL REVENUE

FUNDS

Pet Adoption Fund $ 960 $ 2,000 $ -0- $ 2,000
SEACAD Fund $ 5,000 $ 5,000 $ -0 $ 5,000
Sitka Forfeiture Fund $ 2,000 $ 2,000 $ -0- $ 2,000
NARCO Task Force Grant $ 130,000 $ 130,000 $ -0- $ 130,000
State Forfeiture Fund $ 2,000 $ 2,000 $ -0- $ 2,000
Homeland Security Grant $ 30,000 $ 30,000 $ -0- $ 30,000
Library Building Fund $ 1,700 $ -0- $ -0- $ -0-
Southeast Alaska Economic $§ 37,500 $ 37,500 $ -0- 37,500
Development Fund
GPIP Contingency Fund $ 19,000 $ 19,000 $ -0- $ 19,000
Tobacco Excise Tax Fund $ 681,500 $ 680,000 $ -0- $ 680,000
Fisheries Enhancement Fund $ 40,000 $ 40,000 $ -0- $ 40,000
Commercial Passenger Vessel $ 236,900 $ 81,800 $ -0- $ 81,800
Excise Tax Fund
Visitor Enhancement Fund $ 433,905 $ 371,368 $ -0- $ 371,368
Revolving Fund $ 38,200 $ 28,700 $ -0- $ 28,700
Guarantee Fund $ 6,200 $ 6,200 $ -0- $ 6,200
Cemetery Fund $ 2,000 $ 2,800 $ -0- $ 2,800
Rowe Trust Fund $ 4,000 $ 4,000 $ -0- $ 4,000
Library Endowment Fund $ 6,500 $ -0- $ -0- $ -0-
Bulk Water Fund $ 25,000 $ -0- $ -0- $ -0-
Seasonal Sales Tax/School $ 4,551,032 $ 4,765,998 $ -0- $4,765,998
Bond Debt Service Fund

PERMANENT FUND
Permanent Fund $ 576,000 $ 1,346,888 $ -0- $ 1,346,888
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CAPITAL PROJECT REVENUE OPERATIONS CAPITAL TOTAL
FUNDS /TRANSFER

General Capital Project Fund $ 1,500,000 $ -0- $ 2,808,666 |$ 2,808,666
GF Contingent on State/Federal | $ 2,368,060 $ -0- $ 2,368,060 | $ 2,368,060
Funding
Electric Capital Project Fund $ 3,475,000 $ -0- $ 3,475,000 | $ 3,475,000
Electric Contingent on $ 2,669,000 5 -0- $ 2,669,000 |$ 2,669,000
State/Federal Funding
Water Capital Project Fund $ 75,000 $ -0- $ 75,000 | § 75,000
Water Contingent on $ 6,462,322 $ -0- $ 6,462,322 | $ 6,462,322
State/Federal Funding
Wastewater Capital Project $ 125,000 $ -0- $ 125,000 | $ 125,000
Fund
Wastewater Contingent on $ 16,961,461 $ -0- $ 16,961,461 | $16,961,461
State/Federal Funding
Solid Waste Capital Project $ -0- 5 -0- $ -0- $ -0-
Fund
Harbor Capital Project Fund $ -0- $ -0- $ -0- $ -0-
Harbor Contingent on $ 1,850,000 $ -0- $ 1,850,000 | § 1,850,000
State/Federal Funding
MSC Contingent on $ 8,440,000 $ -0- $ 8,440,000 | $ 8,440,000
State/Federal Funding

COMPONENT UNIT
Sitka Community Hospital $ 25,573,363 $ 25,153,387 $ 419976 | $25,573,363




Ordinance 2016-20
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EXPLANATION

Details of individual budgets are contained in Enclosure 1. Support to the Sitka School District has been included in
the General Fund Expenditures. Budgeted amounts for all funds include revenue, operating expenditures and new
capital outlays.

5. EFFECTIVE DATE. This ordinance shall become effective on July 1, 2016.

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED by the Assembly of the City and Borough of Sitka, Alaska this 14th day
of June, 2016.

Mim McConnell, Mayor

ATTEST:

Sara Peterson, CMC
Municipal Clerk
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POSSIBLE MOTION

| MOVE TO approve Ordinance 2016-15A
on first reading.

POSSIBLE MOTIONS after discussion
of the ordinance:

1) | MOVE TO provide a $200,000 grant
from the Southeast Economic
Development Fund for one year support
of the community assisted utility
subsidization effort.

OR

2) | MOVE TO increase utility rates to
generate $200,000 per year for the
community assisted utility subsidization
effort.
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Sponsors: Guevin/Potrzuski
CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA
ORDINANCE NO. 2016-15A

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA AMENDING TITLE 15
OF THE SITKA GENERAL CODE BY ADDING A NEW CHAPTER 15.15 ENTITLED
“COMMUNITY ASSISTED UTILITY SUBSIDIZATION EFFORT”

1. CLASSIFICATION. This ordinance is of a permanent nature and is intended to
become a part of the Sitka General Code.

2. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this ordinance or any application to any
person or circumstance is held invalid, the remainder of this ordinance and application to any
person or circumstance shall not be affected.

3. PURPOSE. The purpose of this ordinance is to add a new chapter to Title 15 of the
Sitka General Code providing a regulatory framework for the subsidization of utility costs for
low income households. This ordinance shall set forth how and when utility costs
subsidizations shall be authorized, implemented; how long such subsidizations shall continue
for; when such subsidizations shall be terminated; and, penalties for obtaining subsidies
under false pretenses.

4. ENACTMENT. NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED by the Assembly of the
City and Borough of Sitka that the Sitka General Code Title 15 is amended by adding a new
Chapter 15.15 entitled, “Community Assisted Utility Subsidization Effort” to read as follows
(new language underlined; deleted language stricken):

Title 15
Public Utilities

15.01 Electric Utility Policies

15.02 Watershed Control Program

15.04 Sewer System

15.05 Water System

15.06 Solid Waste Treatment and Refuse Collection

15.07 Storm Drainage

15.08 Utility Poles

15.12 Private Extensions of Water, Wastewater, and Stormwater Utilities

15.15 Community Assisted Utility Subsidization Effort

* % %

Chapter 15.15
Community Assisted Utility Subsidization Effort
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Sections:
15.15.010 Definitions.
15.15.020 Municipal Utility Cost Subsidization Policy.
15.15.030 Eligibility Criteria.
15.15.040 Determining Eligibility.
15.15.050 Program Administration.
15.15.060 Responsibilities Incumbent Upon Subsidized Households.
15.15.070 Penalties For Obtaining Subsidization Under False Pretenses.

15.15.010 Definitions.
A. “Uncollectable Accounts” refers to any account or debt owed the City which has become

overdue by more than one hundred twenty days.

B. “Collection” means any action taken by the City to attempt to collect a debt or account which
is overdue.

C. “Credit” means the extension of any services by the City to any person or entity for which a

charge or fee is levied. and, for which the charge or service is provided in advance of payment.

D. “Debt” means any sum of money which a citizen of the City, or customer of the City in
some capacity, is legally obligated to pay to the City for any purpose.

E. “Good Standing” shall mean that any citizen, business, or other entity doing business with the
City does not have an account which is overdue.

F. “Overdue” refers to any debt owed to the City which has not been paid within thirty days of
the date the payment was due. As an exception, debts owed for utility services consumed are
considered overdue fifteen days after the date the payment was due.

G. “Write Off” refers to any debt for which collection action is no longer pursued.

15.15.020 Municipal Utility Cost Subsidization Policy.

A. It shall be the policy of the City and Borough of Sitka that households meeting certain

criteria shall be eligible for subsidization of their municipal utility costs from general
governmental sources.

B. Subsidization shall be in the form of general governmental subsidy payments to municipal
utilities on behalf of eligible households. Under no circumstances shall subsidization be in the

form of reduced utility rates or the provision of free utility services.

C. The amount of annual subsidization by the City shall be in the municipal Administrator’s
annual Consolidated Operating Budget. The annual subsidization shall be further pro-rated
across the months of the fiscal year based on the historic amount of revenue for the month
divided by annual revenue. Applications for subsidization shall be processed on a first-come,
first-served basis for each month; once the monthly subsidization has been dispensed. no
additional subsidizations can be dispensed until the start of the next month.
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D. Subsidization of utility costs, once extended by the City. shall not be a permanent entitlement

of receiving households. Subsidization for individual households may be revoked at any time by
the Assembly for any reason. Furthermore. failure of receiving households to adhere to program

requirements may be grounds for termination of subsidies.

E. Monies used for utility subsidization shall be accounted for in a separate fund and shall be

used for no other purpose than utility subsidization. The separate fund to be established shall be
funded at inception by a special appropriation from the Assembly.

15.15.030 Eligibility Criteria.

A. Any household will be eligible to apply which is receiving. or which has a pending

application for any one of the following:

1.

2.
3.

Assistance from the State of Alaska under the Food Stamp Program administered by the
Division of Public Assistance, Alaska Department of Health and Social Services,

The General Assistance Program administered by Sitka Tribe of Alaska,

The Temporary Assistance to Needy Families Program administered by Central Council
Tlingit and Haida Indian Tribes of Alaska and the Alaska Department of Health and

Social Services Division of Public Assistance
The Women Infant and Children (WIC) Program administered by Southeast Alaska
Regional Health Consortium,

Children in the household qualify for the Free-or-Reduced Lunch Program administered
by the Sitka School District.

B. Termination of assistance from any of the following programs shall discontinue eligibility for
subsidization of City Utility Costs:

1.

2.
3.

The State of Alaska under the Food Stamp Program administered by the Division of

Public Assistance, Alaska Department of Health and Social Services,

The General Assistance Program administered by Sitka Tribe of Alaska,

The Temporary Assistance to Needy Families Program administered by Central Council
Tlingit and Haida Indian Tribes of Alaska and the Alaska Department of Health and
Social Services Division of Public Assistance

The Women Infant and Children (WIC) Program administered by Southeast Alaska
Regional Health Consortium,

. Children in the household cease to qualify for the Free-or-Reduced Lunch Program

administered by the Sitka School District.

C. An applying household will be deemed ineligible for assistance if it, or its constituents, have
any past due obligation owed to the City other than utility-related obligations. These other
obligations shall include all unpaid citations and billings for protective custody costs. On a case-

by-case basis, the Administrator may write off past due obligations in order for an applying
household to be eligible for assistance.
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127 15.15.040 Determining Eligibility.
128 A. Any household meeting tentative eligibility criteria and desiring utility cost subsidization

129  must complete and submit an application, along with required documentation, to the entity or
130 organization engaged by the City to manage the utility cost subsidization program.

131 B. The entity administering the utility cost subsidization program shall examine all submitted
132 applications. determine the eligibility of households requesting subsidization, and, provide a
133 recommendation to the City on all completed applications submitted to it under the program.
134

135  15.15.050 Program Administration.

136 A. Upon determination of eligibility for an applying household, the entity administering the

137 utility cost subsidization program shall submit a recommendation to the City. The
138  recommendation shall contain the following elements:

139

140 (1) Determination of eligibility or ineligibility
141

142 (2) Length of subsidization

143 B. Upon receipt of a subsidization recommendation, the City shall credit the qualifying
144 household’s utility account $100. not including sales tax.

145  C. The Municipal Administrator shall have the authority to reject or modify any

146  recommendations submitted by the administering entity to the City.

147

148 15.15.060 Responsibilities Incumbent On Households Receiving Utility Subsidization.
149  A. To remain eligible for continued subsidization, a household must meet all other financial

150  obligations to the City in a timely basis. Having any obligation owed to the City become past
151  due while receiving subsidization shall be cause for termination of subsidization.

152 B. Households receiving subsidization which undergo changes in financial status causing them
153 to no longer be eligible for subsidization, such as no longer receiving Food Stamps, General
154  Assistance or Temporary Assistance to Needy Families or Women Infant and Children (WIC)
155 Program assistance, or if children in the household cease to qualify for the Free-or-Reduced

156  Lunch Program administered by the Sitka School District, shall immediately notify the

157  administering entity.
158
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15.15.070 Penalties For Obtaining Subsidization Under False Pretenses.
A. It will be unlawful for any citizen, or household, to obtain utility cost subsidization from the

City under false pretenses. It will also be unlawful for any citizen. or household. to continue to
accept subsidization from the City after experiencing a change in financial status which would
end eligibility.

B. Upon the determination that an unlawful act may have occurred in which utility cost

subsidization was obtained under false pretenses, the City will immediately notify the
appropriate law enforcement agency so that a criminal investigation can be initiated.

5. EFFECTIVE DATE. This ordinance shall become effective 60 days after the
date of its passage.

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED by the Assembly of the City and Borough of
Sitka, Alaska this 28th day of June, 2016.

Mim McConnell, Mayor
ATTEST:

Sara Peterson, CMC
Municipal Clerk

1% reading 5/24/16 amended
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Sponsors: Potrzuski, Eisenbeisz
CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA
ORDINANCE NO. 2016-21

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA REPEALING CHAPTER
7.20 “MARIJUANA ADVISORY COMMITTEE”, AND CREATING CHAPTER 7.40
“LOCAL REGULATORY AUTHORITY”, FORMALLY DISSOLVING THE EXISTING
LOCAL REGULATORY AUTHORITY AND ITS FRAMEWORK AND DESIGNATING
THE CITY ASSEMBLY AS THE PERMANENT LOCAL REGULATORY AUTHORITY,
AND CREATING CHAPTER 7.50 “LICENSING”, DETAILING THE PROCEDURE OF
THE CITY ASSEMBLY IN REVIEWING, APPROVING AND PROTESTING
MARIJUANA LICENSES

1. CLASSIFICATION. This ordinance is of a permanent nature and is intended
to become a part of the Sitka General Code.

2. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this ordinance or any application to any
person or circumstance is held invalid, the remainder of this ordinance and application
to any person or circumstances shall not be affected.

3. PURPOSE. The purpose of this ordinance is to dissolve the existing Local
Regulatory Authority and designate the City Assembly as the permanent Local
Regulatory Authority. This ordinance also clarifies that the Assembly has the authority
to review and approve or protest State marijuana licensing applications, as well as
determining marijuana regulatory issues that affect the municipality.

4. ENACTMENT. NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED by the Assembly of
the City and Borough of Sitka that SGC Chapter 7.20 is repealed and SGC Chapters
7.40 and 7.50 are created (old or repealed language stricken, new language underlined)
as follows:

Title 7
MARIJUANA REGULATIONS
Chapters:

7.30 Public Consumption
7.40 Local Requlatory Authority
7.50 Licensing

* % Kk
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Chapter 7.40

Local Regqulatory Authority

Sections:
7.40.010 Duties and powers.

7.40.010 Duties and powers.
The Assembly of the City and Borough shall function as the Local Regulatory Authority
for the purpose of the regulation of marijuana with the authority to:

A. Consider appeals of conditional use permits.

B. Work with the state to collect fees and administer licensing and regulations. Draft

recommended laws and policies for assembly approval, regulating marijuana and
related facilities within the City and Borough of Sitka.

%* ok k

Chapter 7.50
Licensing

Sections:

7.50.010 License required
7.50.020 Application for license

7.50.010 License required.
AS 17.38.070 designating a classification of licenses is incorporated herein and made a

part hereof, and the sale of marijuana, including any derivative thereof, by any person,
firm or corporation is prohibited anywhere except under and by virtue of a license
secured from the Director of the Marijuana Control Board, and the sale, barter or
consumption of marijuana, including any derivative thereof, on any premises not
covered by a license under the classifications in AS 17.38.070 is prohibited.
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7.50.020 Application for license
A. The Assembly of the City and Borough of Sitka will make recommendations to the

State as to support for or objections to license applications.

B. At such time that the licensee is seeking a new license, is seeking to reestablish a
license that was allowed to expire, is proposing a change in the controlling interest of
the establishment license, or there is a proposed change or addition to license type, the
municipal clerk shall give notice of such application as follows:

1. _Notice shall be posted on the premises ten days prior to the assembly
meeting at which application will be heard. All time limitations, however, may be
decreased at the discretion of the municipal clerk to meet any period specified by

the Director of the Marijuana Control Board:

2. Notice shall be published once in a local newspaper at least one week

before such meeting:

3. The notice shall contain the time and place of assembly meeting: the type of
license applied for; the name of all applying persons; and inform the public that
any protest may be lodged with the assembly at that time;

4. Give proof to the assembly at the time of hearing of compliance with all
phases of this chapter.

C. By Persons seeking to renew a Licenses. The individuals or groups of individuals
holding existing licenses shall not be affected by subsection (B) and shall have the right
to apply for renewal of their licenses unless disqualified on grounds other than
contained herein.

* Kk %

5. EFFECTIVE DATE. This ordinance shall become effective on the day after the
date of its passage.

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED by the Assembly of the City and Borough
of Sitka, Alaska this 28" day of June, 2016.

Mim McConnell, Mayor
ATTEST:

Melissa Henshaw
Acting Municipal Clerk
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FY16 Fisheries Enhancement Grant Requests

Applicant

FY 2016 Requested

To be Used For

Amount Recommended

Sitka Sound Science Center $37,900.00

To continue its hatchery production and
enhancement operations

Alaska Longline Fisherman's $10,000.00
Association

1) expand apprentice or entry-level deckhand
opportunities on commercial fishing boats; 2)
facilitate inter-generational transfer of permits
and quota to Sitka residents; 3) mentor new
fishermen though Sitka-based eduction and
training programs; and 4) expand exports of local
fish regionally and statewide through enhanced
marketing of ALFA's rapidly growing Alaskans
Own program.

TOTAL

$47,900.00

$0.00

Note: $37,989 is available for disbursement from the Fisheries Enhancement Fund










Application City and Borough of Sitka Fisheries Enhancement Fund
Sitka Sound Science Center
2016

The Sitka Sound Science Center’s respectfully requests the City and Borough of Sitka
consider providing the Sheldon Jackson Salmon Hatchery $37,900 from the Fisheries
Enhancement Fund. The SJ salmon hatchery work dovetails perfectly with the purpose of
the Fisheries Enhancement Fund. Our facility is permitted for 12 million chums, 3 million
pink and 250,000 Coho eggs. The Sitka Sound Science Center produces these fish for the
commercial, sport and subsistence harvest in Sitka Sound and Deep Inlet. We have a
partnership with the Northern Southeast Regional Aquaculture, for whom we provide 9
million chum eggs which has returned $5.5 million total value to the fishing fleets of Sitka
in the past five years.

History of the Organization: Sitka Sound Science Center

The Sitka Sound Science Center(SSSC) is a non-profit 501c3 organization formed in 2007. The
Sitka Sound Science Center is dedicated to increasing understanding and awareness of terrestrial
and aquatic ecosystems of Alaska through education and research. Qur vision is to build on
Sitka’s legacy and potential as an educational and scientific community. We have 15 year-round
staff members and 14 additional summer employees. We own the 1929-era Sage building that at
one time housed the Sheldon Jackson college science classrooms and laboratories. Today we
operate the Molly O Ahlgren Aquarium and the Sheldon Jackson Salmon Hatchery. Our hatchery
contributes to the Sitka Sound common property fishery, the Deep Inlet chum fishery and
towards training people in the UAS Fisheries Technology Training Program. Students in this
program are the future of salmon enhancement and fisheries management. This year three of the
student graduates of the UAS Fisheries Technology Program interned at the Sitka Sound Science
Center. One of these interns is now working at Solomon Gulch Hatchery, another is working as
a Creel surveyor for ADF&G and the third is still employed by SSSC.

The Sheldon Jackson Salmon Hatchery was one the first hatcheries permitted in the State of
Alaska. The hatchery was a production facility and a training location where students learned
fisheries biology, natural resource management and fisheries enhancement techniques. Graduates
from the fisheries program at Sheldon Jackson College from 1975 to 2007 are now professionals
and leaders in fisheries enhancement, management and policy around the State of Alaska. When
the Science Center took over operation of the hatchery in 2007, our board remained committed to
contributing to the common property fishery and the continuation of the unique training program
our location and facility affords.

Today, SSSC delivers high quality science education programs and conducts collaborative
research with a number of research institutions from around the nation. SSSC works in



partnership with fishing interests and works to conduct research that reflects Sitka’s local
scientific questions.

Our programs:

What’s new? With the large renovation of the Sage Building behind us SSSC has begun to
make small improvements to the hatchery and our facility that allows it to operate more
efficiently and safely. Occurring now is the first stages of re-vamping the back part of the Sage
building to house a recirculation system and an improved saltwater pump and degassing complex
as well as improving the safety of the entryway. SSSC has begun plans to make the hatchery
more environmentally self-sustaining. For example, we are beginning research on making a
locally-produced hatchery feed that utilizes fish waste. We are also in the spat collecting stage of
beginning a small integrated shellfish mariculture program for saltwater fish waste recycling.
Our research on kelp and abalone continues and we hosted Mote Marine Laboratory’s research
on the effect of sub lethal oil on salmon. This year we continued our strong partnerships with the
University of Alaska Southeast Fish Tech program, NSRAA, Sitka School District, Alaska
Longline Fishermen’s Association, Mt. Edgecumbe High School, Stanford University,
University of San Francisco, U.S. Coast Guard Academy, Mote Marine Laboratory, and the
University of California Santa Cruz.

SSSC has a new partnership this year with Silver Bay Seafoods in which the Sitka-based
processing company donates once cent to the Sitka Sound Science Center for every can of
salmon it produces. The One Cent for Science program is promoted through the Science Center
and highlights the company’s interest and commitment to science while providing a sustainable
revenue source to the non profit. Also this year, SSSC with help from Murray Pacific rents
fishing poles so residents and visitors can better access fishing opportunities near town.

Enhancement

Sitka Sound Science Center is part of the almost $1 billion aquaculture industry in Alaska.
Southeast Alaska hatcheries contribute millions of pounds of fish to commercial, charter, sport,
personal use and subsistence fisheries, resulting in the injection of millions of dollars into the
Sitka economy. The McDowell study (May 2010) demonstrates how important hatcheries are to
our community and regional economy. The SJ Hatchery facility is permitted by the State for 12
million Chums, 3 million Pinks, and 250,000 Coho that return to Crescent Bay, providing
important local sport, commercial and charter fishing opportunities near town. Visitors target our
fish when fishing near the sea walk and Sage Beach (adjacent to our facility). Our nonprofit
organization provides 9 million chum eggs for the Deep Inlet remote release site. The value of
the SSSC’s S.J. Hatchery contribution over the last seven years is estimated at $5.5 million
in total value. Over $3.9 million of that value has gone to the common property fishery.
Because of our location, SSSC-reared salmon are easily accessible to commercial fishermen,



recreational and guided sport fishermen including land based sport fishing. In addition, SSSC is
training people to work in fisheries enhancement. We have a formal Memorandum of
Understanding with the University of Alaska Southeast to provide hands on training to people in
the University of Alaska Fisheries Technology Program. We are the only working training
facility hatchery in the State of Alaska, and one of only two in the Pacific Northwest.

The Science Center coordinates and conducts scientific research related to enhancement. We
finished our third year working with the Prince William Sound Science Center on $20 million
State of Alaska and Aquaculture industry-funded project to investigate hatchery and wild salmon
interactions.

SSSC continues to conduct controlled research experiments for the hatchery feed company
Skretting in which we are testing alternative fish food ingredients. Currently we are doing
research in partnership with University of Alaska Southeast, University of Alaska Fairbanks
School of Fisheries, NSRAA and SeaGrant on humpback whales feeding on hatchery released
smolt and fry. This is a growing problem for the common property fishery and hatcheries who
are seeing enhanced salmon production literally swallowed up by marine mammals.

SSSC conducts longline fishery research, funded by NOAA, and in partnership with Scripps
Institution of Oceanography, the University of Alaska Southeast, the Central Bering Sea
Fishermen’s Cooperative, and the Alaska Longline Fishermen’s Association. We are working
with the National Marine Fisheries Service on an ocean acidification study and we are funded by
NOAA and the Department of Environmental Conservation to conduct monitoring and clean-up
of marine debris on the beaches around Sitka. We also conduct a number of projects for the
National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) including a RNA/DNA of black cod
and outreach for the $18 million Gulf of Alaska Integrated Ecosystem Research (GOAIERP)
project that is investigating fish recruitment of commercially important species.

SSSC also provides aquaculture instruction to a number of colleges and universities outside of
Sitka that bring students to Sitka for field courses and research in marine-related sciences. These
colleges include: Stanford University, University of San Francisco; Duke University, Knox
College, and University of Alaska Fairbanks School of Fisheries.

Community Support

Sitka Sound Science Center has a wide breadth of community support as represented by our
donation and in-kind support from fish processors such as Silver Bay Seafoods, and Sitka Sound
Seafoods; private foundations including the Sitka Permanent Charitable Trust, the Boat
Company, Rasmuson Foundation, and a breadth of individual donations. We are also supported
by Douglas Island Pink and Chum (DIPAC) and the Northern Southeast Regional Aquaculture
Association (NSRAA). Our Board of Directors represents a cross section of Sitka. Our board
members are: Trish White (co-chair, owner, White’s Pharmacy); Kitty LaBounty (co-
chair,UAS); Justin Penny (Wells Fargo), Linda Waller(co-secretary, Sitka Sound Seafoods);



Nancy LeClerc-Davidson( co-secretary, retired ); Rob Allen (Sitka Community Hospital
administrator), and Steve Clayton (building contractor).

Dollars Requested: Sitka Sound Science Center respectfully requests the balance of the fisheries
enhancement fund $37,900

Statement of what will be achieved with the funding: Fisheries Enhancement funding will
enable Sitka Sound Science Center to continue building its hatchery production and enhancement
operations. The monies from the Fisheries Enhancement Fund go directly into supporting
hatchery operations and funding our aquaculture director. This position is responsible for
overseeing feeding fish, tagging fish, water quality monitoring, research operations, facility
issues and other essential hatchery tasks that support strong, healthy fish releases. Because of the
small size of our facility, low fish prices last year had a devastating impact on cost recovery. The
funds provided by the fish box tax are vital for our organization.

Explanation of how this will enhance the fisheries within the City and Borough of Sitka:
Sitka Sound Science Center provides fisheries enhancement in many ways. We directly
contribute to salmon fishing opportunities for all users in Sitka by:

¢ Enhance the quantity of fish stocks returning to Sitka Sound by releasing 250,000 Coho,
3 million Chum and 3 million Pink salmon that return to Crescent Bay.

e Enhance and contribute to the Deep Inlet terminal fishery in partnership with NSRAA to
release 9 million Chum salmon.

Additionally, we ensure fisheries enhancement into the future by:

e Train adults and students to become competent aquaculture technicians for work at
NSRAA or other hatcheries/salmon enhancement projects through on-the-job training
and UAS Fisheries Technology class laboratories.

e Introduce K-12 students to fisheries enhancement, science and other marine related
disciplines as options for their future careers by providing hands-on laboratories and
supporting science curriculum at all Sitka Schools.

e Educate visitors about hatcheries and how salmon enhancement works in conjunction
with wild salmon management and conservation in Southeast Alaska

e Educate visitors and residents about the important role of commercial, sport and
subsistence fishing to Sitka’s economy, lifestyle and culture.

¢ Provide internship opportunities for college students studying science and to work in
science education and hatchery operations during the summer.

¢ Provide summer employment opportunities for Sitka High School students to work in
science education and hatchery operations.



ATTACHED:
Hatchery Pro Forma
SSSC recent Balance Sheet

Support Letter from Silver Bay Seafoods






3:13 PM Sitka Sound Science Center

05/18/16 Balance Sheet
Accrual Basis As of May 18, 2016

ASSETS
Current Assets
Checking/Savings

Accounts Receivable
Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets
Fixed Assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable

Credit Cards
Other Current Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Long Term Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY

May 18, 16

669,429.07
12,171.44
356,625.00

717,225.51
1,972,070.17

2,689,295.68

341.07
25,276.64
35,177.89

60,795.60
635,108.67

695,805.27
1,983,390.41

2,689,295.68
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Alaska Longline Fishermen’s Association, Application to FEP

Fisheries Enhancement Fund: Overview of Proposal
Respectfully submitted by: Alaska Longline Fishermen's Association:

Summary

The Sitka-based Alaska Longline Fishermen’s Association (ALFA) is an alliance of
small boat, commercial fishermen committed to sustainable fisheries and thriving coastal
communities. Our members support science-based fisheries management through
collaborative research, advocacy and innovation. We work to safeguard ocean health and
improve the economic viability of small boat fishing.

This grant application is divided into the following 5 sections:
History of our Organization (pages 2-3)

What we will achieve with the Funding (pages 3-4)

How the project will enhance Sitka’s Fisheries (pages 4-5)
Timeline and Evaluation of Project (pages 6-7)

Project Staff (page 7-8)

Budget (page 9)

The History of our Organization:

ALFA was launched in 1978 by fishermen dedicated to protecting fish stocks from
foreign fishing and to developing markets for locally harvested seafood. ALFA led a
successful campaign to rebuild Alaska sablefish and rockfish stocks in the early 1980s,
forgoing harvest until stocks rebuilt. When U.S.-based factory boats replaced the foreign
fleet, ALFA again worked to protect the local fishing fleet and the communities that
depend on it (NPFMC Amendment 14). In 1991, when the current ALFA executive
director was hired, ALFA launched what became a six-year battle to eliminate trawling
from the Southeast Alaska fishing grounds that support the local fishing fleet and contain
a high abundance of cold water corals. During development of the Alaska
halibut/sablefish catch share program, ALFA successfully championed measures to
promote sustained participation by Alaska’s small boat fleet. At the local level, ALFA
actively participated in creating and championing the Sitka Local Area Management
Plan, which prioritizes access for Sitka’s non-commercial fishing residents to local
halibut stocks, and at the national level ALFA has actively advocated for resource and
community provisions during the last two and current reauthorizations of the Magnuson-
Stevens Act. ALFA is also engaged in multiple national networks and willingly shares
lessons learned regarding effective policy advocacy with community-based fishing
groups from around the nation through the Maine Island Institute, the Marine Fish
Conservation Network (MFCN) and the Community Fisheries Network (CFN).

Since 2000, ALFA has focused on raising awareness about halibut and salmon bycatch,
promoting sustainable fisheries policy at the National level, and, closer to home,
engaging ALFA members in collaborative research to improve our fleet’s viability and
stewardship. This collaborative research has included habitat and bycatch mapping,
marine mammal avoidance and deterrent strategies, electronic catch monitoring, and fuel
efficiency for small boats.
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Core ALFA operations are supported by fishermen memberships, local and marine
businesses, and an annual seafood raffle/ fundraiser. ALFA operated with a single staff
member supported by these revenue sources from 1978 until the late 1990s. In the *90s,
ALFA began to build a stronger state-wide presence and ALFA staff engaged in national
policy development. After deliberative strategic planning in the early 2000s, ALFA
expanded staff capacity, formed collaborative partnerships, secured additional grant
support, and engaged fishing members in marine research and conservation initiatives.
This collaborative research, which was formalized into the Fishery Conservation
Network (FCN) in 2009, now attracts grant invitations from scientists and fishing
organizations that recognize the potent skills and expertise that the organization brings to
the table. ALFA does not hold any debt and is well recognized as a force for sustainable
community-based fisheries at both the state and national level.

ALFA is now deeply engaged in supporting the next generation of fishermen and
ensuring that they remain residents of coastal communities such as Sitka. There is
research documenting the fact that fishery access permits and quota are being lost from
rural Alaskan communities, and that gaining access to the fisheries off our shores is
becoming increasingly difficult for young rural Alaska residents. The reasons are
complex, but the high cost of entry, the financial risks new fishermen face and the lack of
entry-level opportunities are three of the major obstacles young fishermen are facing. We
are committed to helping young fishermen overcome these obstacles, and to ensuring that
Sitka continues to have a strong economic base in commercial fisheries.

What we will achieve with funding from the Sitka FEP:

We are requesting $10,000 from the Sitka Fisheries Enhancement Program to support our
young fishermen’s initiative. Each of the small projects outlined in the four objectives
below are areas that we are actively applying for large grants in 2016. The support from
the city of Sitka would enhance our capacity to achieve the goals outlined in this proposal
as well as to provide the demonstration of support necessary to secure these larger grants.

We will use the funds to achieve four objectives: 1) expand apprentice or entry-level
deckhand opportunities on commercial fishing boats; 2) facilitate inter-generational
transfer of permits and quota to Sitka residents; 3) mentor new fishermen through Sitka-
based education and training programs; and 4) Expand exports of local fish regionally
and statewide through enhanced marketing of ALFA’s rapidly growing Alaskans Own
program.

Objective 1: We will achieve this objective by increasing capacity in ALFA’s deckhand
apprentice program. Over the past three years, successful, local longtime fishermen that
are ALFA members have taken 26 first time deckhands fishing. These young people
learn about safety at sea, regulatory compliance, and the responsibilities of deckhanding
on a commercial fishing boat. They gain important skills and important knowledge about
themselves and their ability to function on the exposed, dynamic and often challenging
platform of a small boat on the ocean. And, because every skipper is looking for
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experienced crew, this introduction to fishing helps these young fishermen secure a more
permanent position on another fishing boat.

Objective 2: ALFA works closely with the Alaska Sustainable Fisheries Trust

(www thealaskatrust.org) to recapture fishery access for young fishermen. ALFA and
ASFT have developed an innovative model that reduces entry-level costs and shares the
risk between new fishermen and individuals or foundations willing to participate in
loans. With funding from the Sitka FEP, we will target entry-level access for Sitka
fishermen, support purchase of fishery access permits or quota, and increase revenue and
jobs for Sitka. ASFT has a list of fishermen interested in borrowing from LFF. ALFA
and ASFT are poised to secure partnerships to greatly enhance and expand current
deliverables. For example, Haa Aani has expressed interest in providing loan officer and
loan committee review services. Currently two buyers recommended by LFF are
undergoing credit review by Haa Aani’s loan committee for a quota share purchase
financed with a Haa Aani loan using LFF terms; one ASFT recommended buyer received
financing from Haa Aani in May to purchase a state limited entry permit. Once this
review is complete and we have a decision from the Securities Commission we will
resume discussions with Haa Aani.

Objective 3: Federal programs currently provide funding to organizations offering
education and training to new farmers, ranchers or aquaculture workers. Fishermen
currently DO NOT qualify for this federally supported training. With support from Sitka
FEP, ALFA will work to expand this program to include fishermen and to enhance
education and training opportunities for Sitka fishermen.

Objective 4: Expand exports of local fish regionally and statewide, in part through
ALFA's program, Alaskans Own (AO). AO is a local Community Supported Fishery
(CSF) program, similar to Community Supported Agriculture programs, which address
an important environmental and socio-economic need by forging stronger consumer-
producer relationships. By forward-funding a season of seafood, consumers invest in
sustainable harvest and the community-based fishermen who catch their fish. The
Alaskans Own (AO) CSF has a solid subscriber base, and every opportunity for exposure
has yielded tangible impacts in increased number of subscriptions. There is a clear market
demand fpr Sitka fish, particularly in interior Alaska. When we opened the CSF to
Fairbanks for the first time this year, we received 35 signups in three days after an article
about the program appeared in the Fairbanks Daily News-Miner newspaper. However,
paid advertising, or even community event hosting is not possible within our current
budget. With the support of FEP funding, AO will host local producer events and create
shareable materials that tell the story of small-boat fishing, including information on gear
types, challenges faced in the fisheries, and successful strategies to address these
challenges. These would be adapted to promote products for a variety of small-scale
producers and direct marketers.

How the project will enhance Sitka fisheries:
Funding ALFA’s young fishermen’s initiative will benefit Sitka’s fisheries by ensuring
Sitkans continue to have access to adjacent fisheries and that fishing jobs and revenue
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remain a cornerstone of Sitka’s economy. Entry-level opportunities, expanded fishery
access, and adequate training will strengthen Sitka’s stake in the future of fisheries which
will, in turn, strengthen Sitka’s economic base. Fishing in Alaska has traditionally
offered a way of life that many choose for the tangible connection to the ocean, the
independence and self-determination it provides, and the opportunity to work alongside
family. This way of life engenders a strong sense of place and a deep commitment to
resource stewardship, with fishermen eager to safeguard ocean productivity for their
children and grandchildren.

Limited access programs have significantly raised the cost of entry to Alaska’s fisheries
and are changing the character of the fishing fleet. As the cost of entry to fisheries rises,
fishing is increasingly dominated by a more industrial and corporate model of extraction.
Bigger operations pressure the system to allow increased consolidation of access
privileges and to foster policy that marginalizes small operations. Corporate fishing
operations seek profits now while overlooking long-term costs to ecosystem and
community health. ALFA’s mission is to hold space in the nation’s fisheries for small,
community-based operations; to ensure policy is scaled to meet the needs of this
conservation-minded fleet; and to create market forces that support the economic success
and political leverage of community-based fishermen. These bottom line objectives are
central to both ALFA and the Alaska Sustainable Fisheries Trust, which works outside
the fishery management forum toward the same goals.
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knows the seafood industry from both the “boots on deck” and policy
perspective. As a more than 30 year resident of the remote island
community of Sitka Alaska, Ms. Behnken has a deep

knowledge of and commitment to rural communities. Ms. Behnken helped
launch Alaskans Own to build connections between ALFA’s
conservation-minded small boat fishermen and consumers who care about
local and sustainably sourced seafood. With other talented staff, Ms.
Behnken has built ALFA from a minor organization with an annual
budget of less than $50,000 to a well-recognized local, regional and
national leader in sustainable fisheries.

Daniel Mr. Falvey has a BA in resource management and policy from Western
Falvey, Washington University and training in Geographic Information Systems
ALFA analysis from Penn State World Campus. He has owned/operated

commercial fishing vessels in Alaska since 1984. Mr. Falvey served on
the Advisory Panel to the NPFMC from 1991-2004, and has served on the
Advisory Panel of the North Pacific Research Board since 2010. Mr.
Falvey was awarded the National Fisherman Highliner award in 2011.
Through his involvement with ALFA, Mr. Falvey has successfully
coordinated several cooperative research projects, andisa -

member of the Council’s EM workgroup and Observer Advisory
Committee. Mr. Falvey will serve as the project’s financial manager and
be responsible for contract management, project implementation, and

reporting.
Willow Ms. Moore is the Assistant Director of ALFA. After spending the last six
Moore, years serving as Executive Director of Brave Heart Volunteers, Willow
ALFA has been delighted to join the dynamic ALFA team. Ms. Moore holds a

degree in nursing, an undergraduate degree in psychology and is finishing
a Masters of Public Administration in Natural Resource Management
degree (Graduation date: December 2016), all from University of Alaska.
In 2013 Ms. Moore was the recipient of the Rasmuson educational award
for Emerging Leaders and in 2014 was a Rasmuson Foundation Sabbatical
award winner. Throughout her 20 years of work in the nonprofit sector,
Ms. Moore has specialized in executive management and program
development and sustainability, working to build and support business
strategies and objectives through effective marketing plans, increased
partnerships, developing performance-measurement systems, and
improved integration of quality, operational, and financial information.
Ms. Moore has lived in Sitka since 2001, and is deeply committed to
locally and sustainably harvested seafood. Ms. Moore and her family were
among the program’s first subscribers when the Alaskan’s Own program
was founded.
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Budget
Staff Timg (for all 4 objectives)
Description # of Units %Per Unit ‘Total
; o {Cost ; |
Alfa Staff Time 175 1$40.00 $7,000.00
Total Staff Time $7,000.00

ALFA staff time to coordinate stakeholder and marketing involvement and outreach,
grant reporting, and administration requirements. Duties will be assigned to ALFA staff
members as appropriate.

Marketing and Promotion/Printing

Description # of Units fPer Unit ‘Total
Outreach 4(1per  $750.00 :$3,000.00

materials each | 1 :
| Pproject) S
Total Printing $3,000.00

For all four objectives outlined in this proposal, ALFA will conduct outreach to
consumers, partners, fishermen and local producers in all four objectives outlined above,
and will include project updates on the ALFA and AO websites as well as in ALFA
newsletters. ALFA/AO will communicate at least monthly with subscribers and
businesses carrying AO product via email, email and printed material; and will host
events in each subscriber community to build awareness and thank subscribers for their
participation as well as to provide outreach opportunities for new subscribers.
*Marketing estimates are based on 3 different quotes from local and state printing
vendors.

Enclosed:

ALFA contracts with a third-party bookkeeper and at this time does not have pro forma
financial statements. ALFA is audited yearly and if appropriate, ALFA would like to
submit extra financial documentation to provide the necessary documentation for the
project. Please see enclosed the following attachments, we are happy to provide any
necessary further information:

IRS Non-Profit Status e Latest available ALFA Audited
ALFA 990 financials 2014-2015 (we are very
ALFA Balance Sheet as of April 30" happy to provide the last five years of
2016 audited financial statements if

e  ALFA Income Statement as of April appropriate.)
2016



TINTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY
P. 0. BOX 2508
CINCINNATI, OH 45201

Enmployer ldentification Number:

pate:  APR 09 201 01-0951115
DLN:
600098021
ALASKA LONGLINE FISHERMEN'S Contact Person:
ASSOCIATION DENISE L. TAMAYOQO ID¥ 95120
PO BOX 1229 Contact Telephone Numhber:
SITKA, AK 98835 (877) 829-5500
Accounting Period Ending:
December 31
Form 990 Required:
Yes

Bffective Date of Exemption:
January 6, 2009
Contributfion Deductibility:

No

r—

Dear Applicant:

We are pleased to inform you that upon review of your appitication for tax-
exempt status we have determined that you are exempt from Federal income tax
under section $01(c)({6} of the Internal Revenue Code. Bécause this letter
could help resolve any questions regarding your exempt status. you should keep
it in your permanent records.

Please gsee enclased Publication 4221-NC, Compliance Guide for Tax-Exempt
Organizations (Other than 501(c)(3) Public Charities and Private Foundations),
for some helpful information about your responsibilities as an exempt
organization.

We have sent a copy of this letter to your representative as indicated in your
power of attorney.

Sincerely,

'Roberi--Choil
Director, Exempt Organizations
Rulings and Agreemenis

Enclosure: Publication 4221-NC

Letter 948 (DO/CG)
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05/26/16 Balance Sheet
Accrual Basis As of April 30, 2016
Apr 30, 16
ASSETS
Current Assets
Checking/Savings
First Bank Checking 278,613.56
First Bank Savings 66,054.34
Gaming Account 6,106.93
PayPal 546.70
PayPal Alaskans Own 7,160.54
Petty Cash 121.40
Total Checking/Savings 358,603.47
Accounts Receivable
11000 - Accounts Receivable 1,831.25
Total Accounts Receivable 1,831.25
Other Current Assets
1200 . Undeposited Funds 1,2985.00
1220 . Loan to ASFT 20,000.00
1500 .- Security Deposit 750.00
Total Other Current Assets 22,045.00
Total Current Assets 382,479.72
Fixed Assets
15000 - Furniture and Equipment 7,080.00
Total Fixed Assets 7.080.00
Other Assets
18700 - Rent Deposit 200.00
Total Other Assets 200.00
TOTAL ASSETS 389,769.72
LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable
20000 - Accounts Payable 21,457.82
Total Accounts Payable 21,457.82
Other Current Liabilities
Payroll Tax Liability 2,465.26
Sales Tax Payable 60.48
Total Other Current Liabilities 2,625.74
Total Current Liabilities 23,983.56
Total Liabilities 23,983.56
Equity
32000 - Retained Earnings 118,696.18
Net Income 247,089.98
Total Equity 365,786.16
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 389,769.72

Page 1
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05/26/16
Accrual Basis

ALFA

Income Statement
January through April 2016

Ordinary Income/Expense

Income
4000 - Grant Income
4005 - Contract Income
4010 - Individual Membership Dues
4020 - Business Membership
4030 - Donation Income
4040 - Fundraising Income
4050 - Retail Sales
4060 - Alaskans Own Fish Sales

Total Income

Cost of Goods Sold
5000 - Cost of Goods Sold
5002 . Credit Card Merchant Fees
5010 - Fish Purchases

Total COGS

Gross Profit

Expense
100 - Personnel Services Expense
110 - Payroll Tax Expense
120 - Director Salary
130 - Salary & Wages
140 - Worker's Comp

Total 100 - Personnel Services Expense

200 - Direct Supp to Target Pop
250 - Dues, Subscript. & Memberships
270 - Vessel Support

Total 200 - Direct Supp to Target Pop

300 - Consuitants & Contracted
330 - Accounting
360 - Professional Services
330 . Other Contractual/Professional

Total 300 - Consultants & Contracted

400 - Travel & Conferences
410 - NPFMC
420 - IPHC
430 - OQutreach Travel
450 . Board Of Fisheries
460 - Other Travel

Total 400 - Travel & Conferences

500 - Equipment & Capital Expenditure
530 - Computer
540 - Scientific

Total 500 - Equipment & Capital Expenditure

600 - Other Direct Costs
601 - Postage, Shippping, PO Rental
602 - Rent
603 . Telephone/Internet
605 - Office
606 - Software/Computer Supplies
607 - Program
610 - Advertising/Printing
625 - Donations Made
680 - Meeting Expense
695 - Taxes, Licenses & Permit

Jan - Apr 16

168,783.57
163,892.19
11,180.00
10,800.00
1,1560.00
625.00
4,293.00
39,786.00

380,509.76

1,170.33
517.93
15,321.45

17,008.71

373,500.05

2,882.76
15,000.00
18,326.67

1,204.00

37,413.43

3,100.00
1,865.32

4,965.32

2,823.85
15,827.50
7,264.80

26,015.95

5,377.92
1,544.82
13,371.10
500.37
2,525.29

23,319.50

819.00

18,709.59

19,528.59

162.05
3,643.00
1,239.85

93.11

417.41
4,088.55
1,271.17

14.69

208.22

100.00

Page 1



2:50 PM ALFA

05126116 Income Statement
Accrual Basis January through April 2016

686 - Volunteer Stipend
Total 600 - Other Direct Costs
69800 - Uncategorized Expenses
Total Expense
Net Ordinary Income

Other Income/Expense
Cther Income
800 . Interest/Div Income

Total Other Income

Other Expense
Ask Brandie

Total Other Expense
Net Other Income

Net Income

Jan - Apr 16

3,600.00
14,838.05
21.75

126,102.59

247,397.46

164.24

154.24

461,72

461.72

-307.48

247,089.98

Page 2
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CHRISTINE E. HARRINGTON

Certified Public Accountant, LL.C
329 Harbor Drive, Suite 210, P.O. Box 1328 Sitka, Alaska 99835 (907) 747-5500

Independent Auditor’'s Report

Board of Directors
Alaska Longline Fishermen’s Association
Sitka, Alaska

| have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Alaska Longline Fishermen’s Association (a
nonprofit organization), which comprise the statements of financial position as of December 31, 2013 and
2012, and the related statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended,
and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audits. | conducted
my audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that | plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risk of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
in making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
internal control.  Accordingly, | express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

| believe the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit
opinion.

Opinion

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Alaska Longline Fishermen’s Association as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the
changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

L/ﬂm':bﬁn e E %/nmf/#p/z_,

Sitka, Alaska
June 6, 2014



ALASKA LONGLINE FISHERMAN'S ASSOCIATION
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31, 2013 and 2012

Assets
2013 2012
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 219826 $ 234,026
Accounts receivable - 2.810
Grants receivable 25439 28313
Total current assets 245285 ~_M_~_2<_6_§,__15§_7
$ 245265 8. 265149
Liabilities and Net Assets
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 4,031 $ 1,837
Accrued payroll taxes 1,683 1,630
Deferred revenue 116,190 135,185
Total current liabilities 121,904 138,752
Net assets:
Unrestricted, undesignated 123,361 o 126,397
Total net assets 123361 .. 126,397
$ 245265 $._..265149

See notes to financial statements. 3




Revenues, gains and other support:

Grant revenue
Contract revenue
Product sales
Membership dues
Interest
Fundraising
Donations
Net assets released from restriction
due to satisfaction of program requirements

Total revenues, gains and other support

Expenses and losses:
Marine conservation and protection
information outreach to public policy forums
Management support
Total expenses
Change in net assets

Net assets, beginning of year

Net assets, end of year

See notes to financial statements.

ALASKA LONGLINE FISHERMAN'S ASSOCIATION

STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

December 31, 2013

Decgmber 31, 2012

Temporarily Temporarily

Unrestricted Restricted Total Unrestricted Restricted
§ 154926 & - $ 154,926 $ 153192 % -
113,261 - 113,261 125,178 -
4,615 - 4,615 2,592 -
39,800 - 39,800 32,200 -

403 - 403 435 -

5,990 - 5,990 5,740 -

6.618 - 6,618 14,959 -
,,,,, T IR - 154,227 (1.035)
325,613 - 325,613 488,523 (1,035)
247,247 - 247,247 265,731 -
32,725 - 32,725 10,779 -
48,677 - 48,677 59,591 -
328,649 - 328,649 336,101 -
(3,036) - (3,036) 152,422 (1,035)
126,397 - 126397 127,187 1,035
$ 12331 $ - $ 123361  $ 279589 § -

$

liem
‘1
i

Total

153,192
125,178
2,592
32,200
435
5,740
14,959

183,192

487,488

265,731
10,779
_..58,581




ALASKA LONGLINE FISHERMEN'S ASSOCIATION
STATEMENTS OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

For the Year Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
information Information
Outreach Outreach
Marine to Public Marine to Public
Conservation Policy Management Conservation Policy Management
and Protection  Forums Support _Total  andProtection _ Forums  Suppot =~ Total
Expenses:
Cash operating activites:
Personal services $ 51074 $ - $ 26,839 $ 77913 $ 36,544 $ - $ 29,801 $ 66,345
Direct support to target population 31,405 - 3.401 34,806 34,635 - 3,045 37,680
Professional services 137,554 29,029 4,322 170,905 164,921 6,180 16,177 186,278
Travel and conferences 9,163 3.696 2,991 15,850 13,155 4,599 200 17,954
Small equipment 10,911 - - 10,911 1,286 - 52 1,338
Other direct costs 7140 - 11124 18,264 15,190 - 11,316 26,506

$ 247247 $ 32725 § 48677 § 328649 $ 265731 $ 10779 $ 59591 9 336,101

See notes to financial statements. 5




ALASKA LONGLINE FISHERMEN'S ASSOCIATION

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Year Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from granting and contracting agencies
Cash received from members and contributors
Interest received
Cash paid to suppliers
Cash paid to employees

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
Reconciliation of change in net assets to net
cash used by operating activities:
Change in net assets

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets
to net cash used by operating activites:

Changes in assets and liabilities
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable
(Increase) decrease in grants receivable
increase (decrease) in accounts payable
increase (decrease) in payroll taxes payable
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue

Total adjustments

Net cash provided by operating activities

See notes to financial statements.

2013

$ 254,876
57,023

403
(248,642)
(77,860)

(14,200
(14,200)

234,026

3 219826

$ (3,036)

2,810

2,874

2,094

53
(18,995)

~(11e4)

5. ..(14.200)

$

2012

261,261
52,681
435
(268,200)

. (20270)

(20,270)
254,296

...234,026

(1,805)

(2,810)

(28,313)
1,556

(102)
11,204

© (18.465)

... (20,270)



ALASKA LONGLINE FISHERMEN'S ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2013

Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
A. Organization

Alaska Longline Fishermen's Association (“ALFA”) is a non-profit association of independent commercial
longline vessel owners and crewmembers who are committed to continuing the sustainable harvest of
sablefish, halibut, and groundfish, while supporting healthy marine ecosystems and strong coastal
communities through resource stewardship and participation in federal, state, and local forums.

ALFA 's income includes membership dues, donations, and grant and contract revenue. During 2013, ALFA
administered the following grants and contracts:

The Oak Foundation grant which has three objectives. One, to establish a rockfish bycatch reporting
network to increase the conservation of these resources. Two, to minimize potentially dangerous
interaction with sperm whale as a result of the depredation activities of these marine mammals on
longline gear. Third, to launch the Alaska Sustainable Fisheries Trust marketing initiative to connect
conservation minded consumers with community-based fishermen to foster sustainable harvesting
of high quality seafood.

Three grants from the National Fish and Wildlife Foundation, one to test at-sea electronic monitoring
of the Alaskan halibut and sablefish IFQ fisheries, a second to evaluate GPS data loggers as a low
cost alternative to satellite based Vessel Monitoring System (VMS), and a third to engage
stakeholders in the process of transitioning at-sea monitoring of the Alaskan halibut and sablefish IFQ
fisheries from the pilot program stage to an operational program. The first EM project has four
objectives:

e  Engage stakeholders in developing a workable at-sea monitoring process through collaborative
research and outreach;

° Field test at-sea monitoring hardware in the Alaskan halibut and sablefish catch share
fisheries to ensure system reliability on a range of vessels and in varied fishing conditions;

] Develop and field test a cost effective means of rotating EM hardware among vessels and
retrieving data;

. Summarize and apply study findings to inform development and implementation of the
restructured North Pacific Observer Program.

The data logger project has two objectives: First to field test several different off-the-shelf data logger
systems on Alaskan halibut and sablefish vessels, and second to evaluate the results and summarize
the findings to inform stakeholders and fishery management decisions related to at-sea vessel
monitoring.

The EM transition project a three objectives:

e Support the design, submission, and review of the EM Exempted Fishery Permit (EFP),
including the sampling plan and data review protocols, to experimentally develop the
performance standards, operational procedures, and operator responsibilities necessary to
integrate EM as a component of the NPRP for fixed gear vessels.

e  Strengthen the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) EM pilot program and incorporate the
pilot program objectives into a structured, collaborative transition process for the fixed gear
fisheries.



ALASKA LONGLINE FISHERMEN'S ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. - continued

e  Support stakeholder participation in EM planning meetings and national workshops to share
lessons learned, identify best practices, and to collaborate with fishery managers, stock
assessment scientists, and third party experts to identify management needs and maonitoring
objectives which advance EM.

Two contracts with the Central Bering Sea Fishermen's Association to continue development and
testing of active and passive deterrent strategies for sperm and killer whales, and to conduct tagging
operations on sperm whales to track their location and movement.

A contract with the Sitka Sound Science Center to coordinate fishing vessel participation in whale
deterrent testing programs.

Grants and contracts were approximately 82% and 83% of ALFA's total revenue for the year ended December
31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

B. Basis of Presentation

The accounting records of the ALFA are maintained on the accrual basis of accounting under which revenues
are recognized when earned and liabilities and expenses when incurred. Grant revenues are recorded as
earned after allowable costs related to the grant have been incurred.

ALFA is required to report information regarding its financial position and activities according to three classes
of net assets as follows:

Unrestricted net assets represent the portion of the net assets of ALFA that are neither permanently nor
temporarily restricted.

Temporarily restricted net assets are that portion of net assets restricted by the donor, grantor or other
outside parties whose restriction either expires by the passage of time or can be fulfilled and removed by
the actions of ALFA. When the restriction expires temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to
unrestricted net assets and reported in the statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions.

Permanentiy restricted net assets represent the portion of the net assets from contributions and grants
whose use by ALFA is limited by donor-imposed stipulations which neither expire by the passage of time
nor can be removed by an action of ALFA. ALFA has no permanently restricted net assets.

C. Revenue Recognition

Grants funds restricted by the donor, grantor, or other outside party for a particular purpose are deemed to
be earned when ALFA has incurred expenditures in compliance with the specific restrictions. However, any
advance payments on grants received but not used in accordance with the requirements of the grants are
reflected as deferred revenue until the grant restriction has been released.

D. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.



ALASKA LONGLINE FISHERMEN'S ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. - continued
E. Subsequent Events

ALFA has evaluated subsequent events through the date of the Independent Auditor's Report, which is
commensurate with the date the financial statements were available to be issued.

F. Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates market. For the purposes of the statement
of cash flows cash equivalents include cash in bank and savings accounts.

Property and Equipment

The Organization’s only property and equipment is used office furniture and computer equipment. None of
these items meet the criteria for capitalization and have been recognized as an expense when purchased

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represents amounts for which the revenue recognition criteria have not been met. In the
case of ALFA, deferred revenue results from grant funds received prior to incurring allowable grant costs or
contract advances received prior to fulfilling the terms of the contract.

Income Taxes

The Corporation is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c){6) of the U.S. Internal Revenue
Code. The organization's Form 980s, Return of Organizations Exempt from Income Tax are subject to

possible examination by the Internal Revenue Service until the expiration of the related statute of limitation
on those tax returns, which, in general, is three years.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.

Functional Allocation of Expenses

The cost of providing ALFA's programs and other activities have been summarized on a functional basis in
the statement of activities. Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the program and supporting
services benefited based on an estimate by management of time spent supporting each function.

Note 2. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes the following at December 31,:

2013 2012
Demand deposits $ 219,565 $ 232,608
PayPal deposits 150 1.308
Petty cash 121 112

219,826 234,026



ALASKA LONGLINE FISHERMEN'S ASSOCIATION

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 2. - continued

Demand deposits are guaranteed under the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation up to a maximum of
$250,000 of total deposits in a bank. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, the bank balance was $238,080 and
248,958, respectively. The entire bank balance was insured at the end of each of the years. Paypal deposits
are held by FDIC insured banks. Individual customer balances are subject to FDIC pass-through deposit
coverage up to a total of $160,000.

Note 3. Accounts and Grants Receivable

Accounts receivable at December 31, 2012 inciude amounts due from a vendor. There were no accounts
receivable at December 31, 2013.

Grants receivable at December 31, 2013 and 2012 include amounts due from the National Fish and Wildlife
Foundation for allowable expenses under the terms of the grant. Management considers grants receivable
to be fully collectible at both year-ends. Accordingly, no allowance for doubtful accounts has been recorded.
Note 4. Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue includes both advances from granting agencies which were not spent or otherwise obligated
at the end of the year and advances on contracts with third parties. ALFA recognizes contract income based

on the estimated percent of completion at year end.

Deferred revenue includes the following at December 31,

2013 2012
Advances from granting agencies $ 37,278 $ 50,262
Unearned contract revenue 78,912 84,923
$ 116,190 $ 135,185
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DISCUSSION of the Memorandum of

Understanding between the State of Alaska and the
Southeast Conference for the Alaska Marine
Highway System strategic plan.

POSSIBLE MOTION

| MOVE TO approve a $10,000 grant from the
Southeast Economic Development Fund to
Southeast Conference to assist with funding
of the Alaska Marine Highway strategic plan.















CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA

Legislation Details

File #:

Type:

File created:
On agenda:
Title:

Sponsors:

Indexes:

Code sections:

16-113 Version: 1 Name:

ltem Status: AGENDA READY

6/8/2016 In control: City and Borough Assembly
6/14/2016 Final action:

Approve the 2016-2019 Alaska State Employees Association (ASEA) Collective Bargaining
Agreement

Attachments: ASEA Collective Bargaining Agreement.pdf
Date Ver. Action By Action Result
CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA Page 1 of 1 Printed on 6/9/2016

powered by Legistar™


http://sitka.legistar.com:443/View.ashx?M=F&ID=4489808&GUID=B095F330-07E7-410E-82CF-EDC7FBF06996

POSSIBLE MOTION

| MOVE TO approve the Collective Bargaining
Agreement between the City and Borough of
Sitka and the Alaska State Employees
Association American Federation of State,
County Municipal Employees (ASEA/AFSCME)
Local 52, AFL-CIO and authorize the Municipal
Administrator to execute the document.






2016 — 2019 ASEA City and Borough of Sitka Tentative Agreement Reference Table

ARTICLE CHANGE/NO CHANGE
Preamble No change.
Article 1 — Recognition No change.
Article 2 — Union Representation and Activities No change.
Article 3 — Union Security No change.
Article 4 — Management Rights No change.
Article 5 — No Strike and No Lockout No change.
Article 6 — Non Discrimination No change.
Article 7 — Labor-Management Committee No change.
Article 8 — Personnel Files No change.

Article 9 — Vacancies
Page 13

Language to keep departmental vacancies for
hire, promotion or transfer within the bargaining
unit. Departmental applicants meeting minimum
qualifications receive at minimum an interview.

Article 10 - Discipline and Discharge and
Resignation

No change.

Article 11 — Probationary Periods

No change.

Article 12 — Grievance Arbitration

No change.

Article 13 — Personnel Policies
Page 21

Removed language referencing the non-existent
CBS Rewards for Excellence Program.

Article 14 — Safety and Health No change.
Article 15 — Occupational Injury No change.
Article 16 — Drug-free and Alcohol-free No change.

Workplace

Article 17 — Layoff
Pages 24-26

Department Head, City Administrator and City
Assembly decide work to be eliminated in layoff
situation within a department. Length of service,
possibility of transfer and demotion to another
position for which employees are qualified are
considerations. Seniority is the determining
factor if two or more employees do the same
work. Two weeks of severance pay language
added in addition to wages owed. If the position
is re-established, the employee is subject to recall
for a two-year period. Laid off employees are
given the opportunity for interviews for any CBS
positions for which they are qualified during the
two-year recall period.

Article 18 — Hours, Overtime, Premium Pay, Shifts | No change.
and Breaks
Article 19 — Holidays No change.

Article 20 — Time Off
Page 31

Up to 16 hours of donated vacation time to the
sick leave bank are credited toward an
Employee’s mandatory yearly usage upon the
Employee’s written request.

Article 21 - Travel

No change.




2016 — 2019 ASEA City and Borough of Sitka Tentative Agreement Reference Table

ARTICLE

CHANGE/NO CHANGE

Article 22 — Working Out of Job Classification
Page 34

Notification in writing to employees indicating
who will serve as the temporary supervisor in the
regular supervisor’s absence.

Article 23 — Wages

July 12016: 1.5 % wage increase + $500

Page 35 July 12017: 2.0 % wage increase + $500
July 12018: 1.0 % wage increase

Article 24 — Health Insurance No change.

Article 25 — Retirement No change.

Article 26 — Education Reimbursement
Page 37

New Article — Upon approval of Department
Head, reimbursement for tuition and other
educational costs for job-related courses. Passing
grade of “C” required.

Article 27 — Contracting Out
Pages 37-38

New Article — Requires CBS to give ASEA and the
City Assembly notice of any intent to contract out
work. Provides 20 calendar days for ASEA to
respond with a letter of intent to propose
alternatives to keep the work. Gives ASEA 45
calendar days to devise alternatives for cost
savings or improved services as counter proposal
to keep the work. No RFP will be issued until after
the Union’s proposal is received and considered.

Article 28 — Savings Clause No change.

Article 29 — Zipper Clause No change.

Article 30 — Duration Duration of contract for 3 years from July 1, 2016
Pages 39-40 - June 30, 2019.

Letter of Agreement Provides for Water and Wastewater classification
Page 41 and pay study considering increases for

specialized certifications held by incumbent
employees.
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POSSIBLE MOTION

| MOVE TO approve the Collective Bargaining

Agreement between the City and Borough of
Sitka and the Public Safety Employees
Association and authorize the Municipal
Administrator to execute the document.






2016 — 2019 PSEA/City and Borough of Sitka Tentative Agreement Reference Table

ARTICLE CHANGE/NO CHANGE

Article 1 - Purpose No change.

Article 2 — Recognition No change.

Article 3 — Merit Principles and Nondiscrimination | No change.

Article 4 — Association Security and Activities No change.

Article 5 — Management Rights No change.

Article 6 — Personal Leave Clarified accrual rates for pay periods vs. months
Article 7 — Relief Periods and Lunch Breaks No change.

Article 8 — Wages, Overtime and Premium Pay

July 12016: 1.5 % wage increase + $500

July 12017: 0 % wage increase — 1-step increase
if eligible, effective on anniversary date in 2017
July 12018: 1.0 % wage increase

Article 9 — Uniforms, Property and Equipment

Removed Cleaning Allowance language; $150
reimbursement for non-sworn, $300 for sworn.
This is an increase of $50.

Article 10 - Training No change.
Article 11 — Employee Benefits No change.
Article 12 — Travel Reimbursement No change.
Article 13 — Safety No change.

Article 14 — Personnel Files

Clarified that employee is provided written
explanation if a request for document removal
from employee file is denied; moved from Article
15 Section 2.

Article 15 — Grievance Procedures

No change.

Article 16 — Administrative Investigations

No change.

Article 17 — Probationary Periods and
Performance Evaluations

Clarification — Sworn officers, 12-month
probation. Non-Sworn, 6-month probationary
period.

Article 18 - Discipline, Discharge and Resignation

Clarified effect of Administrative Leave with Pay

Article 19 — Seniority, Layoff and Recall

Added Jail Officer Il and set up job series for Jail
positions; updated IT Specialist job title

Article 20 — Labor-Management Committee No change.

Article 21 — Holidays No change.

Article 22 — General Provisions No change.

Article 23 — Operating Procedures Manual No change.

Article 24 — Personnel Policies Removed Section 9 — Rewards for Excellence
Program

Article 25 — Duration

July 1, 2016 - June 30, 2019

Appendix A - Leave Accrual Chart

No change. Clarified accrual rates for pay periods
vs. months

Appendix B — Pay Matrix 2016

Reflects 1.5% increase for 2016

Appendix C — Pay Matrix 2018

Reflects 1% increase for 2018
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ARTICLE 1
PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT

The purpose of this Agreement is to: promote harmonious and cooperative relations between the City
and Borough of Sitka (“Employer”) and the Public Safety Employees Association (‘PSEA” or “Union”);
to protect the public by assuring orderly and effective operation of government and to promote
efficiency and economy in service to the people of Sitka; and to record those agreements between the
Employer and Union on matters of wages, hours and other terms of employment.

ARTICLE 2
RECOGNITION

The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all regular full-time
and part-time Employees in the Sitka Police Department, hereinafter “Department,” except for the
Chief, Lieutenants, and the Executive Assistant/Office Manager. Therefore, the Employer agrees that
it will not negotiate or handle grievances with any individual or with any organization other than PSEA
or its designee with reference to wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of employment of
bargaining unit members. When individuals or organizations other than the Union, or its designee,
request negotiations or handling of grievances, they will be advised by the Employer to transmit their
request to the PSEA.

ARTICLE 3
MERIT PRINCIPLES AND NONDISCRIMINATION

The Employer and the Union agree to comply with all federal, state, and local laws prohibiting
discrimination or harassment and that neither party will discriminate against any person or persons in
violation of current state and federal statutes so as to deny such person or person’s equal employment
opportunities and rights as public Employees. The parties agree that it is their mutual intent to
strengthen merit principles of employment in the bargaining unit.

ARTICLE 4
ASSOCIATION SECURITY AND ACTIVITIES

Section 1 - Union Security

It shall be a condition of employment that all Employees covered by this agreement become members
of PSEA and maintain Union membership in good standing or shall pay a service fee of not more than
Union membership dues. However, Employees whose bona fide religious convictions shall donate an
amount equal to membership dues to a charitable organization chosen by PSEA.

Section 2 - Payroll Deductions
A. The Employer shall make all appropriate deductions in each payroll period, including dues from

the pay of those members who have presented the Employer with a signed authorization for the
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deduction. These deductions shall be delivered to PSEA on a monthly basis not later than five
(6) working days after the first payroll during each month.

B. The Employer will not be held liable for deduction errors. If the Employer makes any errors in
deductions the sole remedy will be to increase or reduce the amount deducted from the
Employee’s future deduction until the error has been corrected.

Section 3 - Nondiscrimination

Neither the Union nor the Employer will discriminate against or harass Union or nonUnion members for
lawful activities.

Section 4 - Bulletin Boards
The Employer shall provide space for the posting of Union notices on existing bulletin boards.
Section 5 - Union Representative

A. PSEA, whose main office is located in Anchorage, shall have a representative who shall be
authorized to speak for the Union in all matters covered by this Agreement. The President of
the Sitka Police Department Members Association, or designee, shall be the local
representative of PSEA. However, no agreement, condition, modification, exception, waiver, or
related action shall become effective until reduced to writing and signed by PSEA’s Executive
Director.

B. PSEA representatives shall be permitted to visit any site at which bargaining unit members are
working provided visitation is in compliance with security procedures and does not interfere with
the members’ work. The PSEA representative shall notify the Chief or his designee prior to
such visitation.

Section 6 - Union Steward

A steward may be appointed from among the members at any time by the Union. The Union will notify
the Human Resources Director and the Chief in writing of such appointments, and when the member is
no longer the steward within five (5) days of any appointment or change.

Section 7 - Union Security Compliance

A. On the written demand of the Union, any member who has been employed for more than 60
days and is not in compliance with Section 1 of this Article shall be separated by the Employer.
The Employer must provide written notice to the member 30 days prior to the effective date of
separation.

B. PSEA will indemnify, defend, and hold harmless, the Employer, its agents, insurers, and
Employees, from any claim, termination, grievance arbitration, or cause of action arising from or
related to any act or omission under this article.
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Section 8 - Member Status Notification

A. The Employer shall provide written notice to the Union within seven (7) days of the name,
address and date of hire for any new member. The Employer shall likewise notify the Union
within seven (7) days of the name of any member who has separated from employment.

B. Unless a member leaves employment on the first day of the month, a member shall be obligated
to make full dues payment for any month in which they are employed, including any part of the
last month of employment.

Section 9 - Member Orientation

Within the first thirty (30) days of employment, the Chapter President, his designee, or a PSEA
representative, shall have one (1) hour of each new member's on-duty time, by prior arrangement with
the Chief or his designee, to discuss matters pertaining to this Agreement and Union representation.
Nothing within this provision precludes the Employer from arranging for several members to attend the
one-hour session at the same time.

Section 10 - Member Rights

Nothing contained herein shall be construed to, in any way, deprive members of rights as provided by
law or ordinance.

ARTICLE 5
MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

Nothing in this Agreement is intended to, or should be construed to, interfere with the prerogatives of
the Employer, regardless of frequency of exercise, to operate and manage its affairs and the
Department in each and every respect as provided in the Employer and Borough’s Charter and
Ordinance, the Department’s Operating Procedures Manual, and any other applicable state or federal
law, including but not limited to the right to hire, determine the work, assign the work and work
schedule, classify and budget for positions, discipline and discharge, require and assign overtime work,
and enforce reasonable rules and regulations. Therefore, except as specifically abridged, delegated, or
modified by this Agreement, all the functions, rights, powers, and authority of the Employer are
recognized by the Union as being retained by the Employer.

ARTICLE 6
PERSONAL LEAVE
Section 1 - Personal Leave General

A. Personal leave shall be used for any and all purposes for which sick and/or annual leave has
heretofore been used.
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B. Requests for Time Off

1.

Requests for time off for other than illness and injury. Personal leave requests require
the prior approval of the supervisor. Employee requests shall be given full consideration
and, to the extent practicable, approved. Management will respond to leave requests in
a timely manner, allowing for the Employee to finalize plans for the absence. However,
the parties agree that the final decision with regard to approval or disapproval of any
request shall be based on the supervisor's determination of operational needs.

An Employee who wishes to take more than two weeks of leave shall submit their leave
request in writing a minimum of thirty (30) calendar days prior to their departure.
Management shall respond to requests made for more than a two (2) weeks absence
within ten (10) calendar days from the date of submission.

Requests for time off due to illness and injury. When an Employee needs to use
personal leave for illness or injury, the Employee shall notify the supervisor not later than
the start of the Employee’s scheduled shift of their expected absence. When a member
takes three or more consecutive work days of personal leave due to an iliness or injury,
the supervisor may require the member to provide a physician’s certificate stating the
reason for the absence.

If changes to the work schedule are made after the leave request is approved which
result in the Employee having to take additional leave than originally requested, the
Employer shall take into consideration the Employee’s approved leave schedule to avoid
adversely affecting the Employee whose leave is already allocated and approved.

Section 2 - Leave Accrual

A. Rate of Accrual: All Employees shall accrue leave based on their total years of service with the
Employer as set forth in Appendix A.

B. Leave Reporting: Leave usage will be reported on each pay warrant. Monthly leave accrual

shall

be reported on the first pay warrant of each month after the accrual for the prior month is

earned.

C. Mandatory Usage: There shall be no mandatory leave usage requirement for the first twelve
(12) months of service. After the first year of employment, Employees will forfeit any unused
mandatory time off at the end of each fiscal year (June 30). When business needs do not allow
an Employee to take the required time off and when the leave request is denied in writing by the
Chief, or designee, the Employee will retain those hours in their leave account.

Section 3 - Leave Anniversary Date

Changes in the leave accrual rate take effect on the first day of the pay period immediately following the
date on which the Employee completes the prescribed period of service.

Section 4 - Maximum Accrual
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Unused personal leave may accumulate up to eight hundred and twenty (820) hours. Once the cap
has been reached, the Employee shall not accrue any personal leave until such time as the balance of
the account is below the cap amount. There shall be no cash out of any accrual over the cap.

Section 5 - Payment of Personal Leave upon Termination

Accrued personal leave will be paid to Employees who voluntarily or involuntarily terminate after twelve
(12) month’s service, based on the wage rate at date of termination.

Section 6 - Personal Leave Cash-In

Employee may cash out up to two hundred (200) hours each fiscal year in no more than two
installments. The Municipal Administrator has the authority to defer a request for up to thirty (30) days
if there is a budget shortfall or cash flow problem or any other legitimate business need arises. The
Employee shall be notified in writing of the reason for the deferral.

Section 7- Leave Bank

When an Employee has exhausted all personal leave, the Employee may apply for leave from the leave
bank, which is subject to the following rules:

A. Employees covered by this Agreement may voluntarily contribute personal leave into the leave
bank; other Employer and Borough Employees may voluntarily contribute annual leave under
this Section.

B. The bank may be used to aid members who are experiencing a “serious health condition,” or a
qualifying family member is experiencing a “serious health condition,” as provided in AS
23.10.550;

C. Eligibility and allocation of leave bank hours will be determined by the Finance Director with the
approval of the Administrator;

D. An individual member may not use more than 2080 hours from the bank in a lifetime; and

E. The amount of leave provided to an individual from the leave bank cannot exceed the amount
that member would be entitled to under the Family Medical leave Act or the Alaska Family
Leave Act.

Section 8 — Leave Without Pay

A. Up to 10 Days: Employees who have used their accrued personal leave may be granted leave-
without-pay, not to exceed a total of ten (10) working days in any calendar year, for any
compelling reason subject to approval by the Department Head.

B. More than 10 Days: Employees who have used their accrued personal leave may be allowed to
be absent from duty without pay, in excess of ten (10) days; on the basis of application for
leave-without-pay approved by the Department Head, subject to the approval of the
Administrator, so long as the Employer’s interests and service are not unduly affected. Upon
return from such leave, the Employee may be returned to their same position or any other
vacant position to which the Employee is qualified.
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C.

Personal Leave will not accrue while a member is on leave-without-pay.

Section 9 - Jury Leave

A. When an Employee is required to report for jury duty, the Employee shall be afforded time
off from work to allow the jury duty time and a minimum of eight (8) hours for rest between jury
service and the Employee’s next work shift.

B. When an Employee is required to attend jury duty during his or her regularly scheduled shift
shall be granted Jury Leave to attend jury duty and must return to work for the completion of
their shift if the jury duty is completed prior to the end of the shift.

C. An Employee on authorized Jury Leave shall give the Employer all monies received from
the court as compensation for services and the Employee shall be paid their regular wage while
on Jury Leave.

D. Jury Leave shall be supported by written documents such as the Court Clerk’s
Statement of Attendance.

Section 10 - Military Leave

Employees shall be entitled to military leave in accordance with State, including but not limited to AS
39.20.340 and Federal law, including but not limited to USERRA

Section 11 - Association Leave

A

There is hereby created an Association Leave Bank for the sole and exclusive use of the Union.
The bank shall be administered and managed solely by the Union.

The first eight (8) hours of accrued personal leave of all new Employees shall be transferred to
the Association Leave Bank.

Upon written request from the Executive Director of the Public Safety Employee’s Association,
or the President of the Sitka Police Department Members Association, the Employer shall
transfer from one hour (1) to eight (8) hours from each Employee’s personal leave account to
the Association Leave Bank. Such deductions are not credited toward the mandatory use of
personal leave required in Section 2.

Transfers of leave into the Association Leave Bank may not occur more than once every three
months, unless the Union and the Employer agree to another schedule or exception.

Leave placed in the Association Leave Bank shall be given a cash value by multiplying the
number of hours deducted from the member’s leave balance by the regular hourly pay rate of
the donor. This cash value shall then be divided by the regular hourly rate of the recipient to
establish its value in hours as business leave.

The Union further agrees that the leave balance is neither returnable to the personal leave
accounts of the Employer, nor transferable to successor bargaining agents, and has no cash
value upon decertification.
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G. Requests for absences from duty for business leave shall be made in writing by the Executive
Director of PSEA or the Chapter President to the Chief, or designee.

H. Requests for absences for Union business shall not be denied except in exigent circumstances.

I. The Employer will provide to the PSEA Business Office an electronic accounting of the
Association Leave Bank at the end of each calendar year not later than January 31 of the
following year.

Section 12 - Family/Medical Leave

The Employer shall provide family and medical leave consistent with the Family Medical Leave Act
(FMLA) and/or the Alaska Family Leave Act (AFLA), whichever applies, effective the first day of the
qualifying leave.

ARTICLE 7
RELIEF PERIODS AND LUNCH BREAKS
Section 1 - Relief Periods

A. Employees whose work schedule prohibits relief or refreshment during their shift shall be
allowed one relief break not to exceed fifteen (15) minutes during the second half of the shift

B. Employees who work a ten (10) hour or longer shift by assignment or holdover shall be entitled
to an extra fifteen (15) minute break arranged with their supervisor at an appropriate time.

Section 2 - Lunch Break

A. All Employees shall be allowed a paid lunch break of thirty (30) minutes approximately halfway
through their assigned shift at the Employee’s straight-time rate of pay. No additional
compensation will be paid if the lunch break is worked, except for (B) below or if the time
worked creates an overtime situation.

B. If Communication Center or Jailer/Correction Employees are required to work through the lunch
break, the Employee shall be paid at the time and one-half rate of pay instead of straight-time
rate of pay for the missed lunch break.

Section 3 - Scheduling Relief Periods and Lunch Breaks

The Employer, based on Department demands and requirements, will endeavor to schedule time off for
relief periods and lunch breaks consistent with this article.
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ARTICLE 8
Wages, Overtime, and Premium Pay

Section 1 — Pay Matrix and Step Increases

A Effective July 1, 2016, all Employees covered by this Agreement shall be given a one and one-
half percent (1.5%) across-the-board pay increase as reflected in Appendix B. Employees shall also
receive a Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00), less applicable taxes, lump sum of not later than the second
pay period in July 2016.

B. Effective on the Employee’s anniversary date on or after July 1, 2017 but on or before June 30,
2018, all Employees except those at Step O shall be entitled to a step increase as reflected in Appendix
B.

C. Effective July 1, 2018, all Employees covered by this Agreement shall be given a one percent
(1%) across-the-board pay increase as reflected in Appendix C.

D. When steps are granted under this Agreement, the following shall apply:

1. Employees in Steps A - G (merit steps) shall be entitled to a step increase each year upon their
anniversary date upon a satisfactory or better performance evaluation.

2. Employees in Steps H — O (longevity steps) shall be entitled to a step increase every two years
on their anniversary date upon a satisfactory or better performance evaluation.

3. Once an Employee reaches Step O, the Employee will only be eligible to receive across-the-
board cost-of-living adjustments to the pay matrix, if any.

Section 2 - Wage Rate for New Employees

A. New Employees shall be placed at Step A of the pay matrix, except as provided in
paragraphs B and C below.

B. New Police Officers, who are hired from another jurisdiction with prior work experience
and upon proof of an APSC certification or eligible for certification by the APSC, may be hired at a pay
rate above Step A but not any higher than Step C. This determination will be made by the Chief,
subject to the approval by the Municipal Administrator. The pay rate shall be disclosed in the offer
letter to the new Police Officer.

C. Other newly hired Department Employees may be place at a pay rate above Step A, but
not any higher than Step C, if in the judgment of the Chief and subject to the approval by the Municipal
Administrator, the newly hired Employee has knowledge, skills, and abilities specific to the job class
they will fill with the Employer that justify the higher pay rate. The pay rate shall be disclosed in the offer
letter to the new Employee.
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Section 3 - Overtime

A. All hours worked in excess of eighty-four (84) hours per pay period by police officers,
sergeants, dispatchers, and jail officers shall be compensated at one and one-half times
(1.5x) the Employee’s regular rate of pay. Police officers and jail officers while at the
Academy shall not be eligible for overtime.

B. For all other Department Employees working an eight (8) or ten (10) hour workday and a
forty (40) hour workweek, all hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a workweek shall
be compensated at one and one-half times (1.5x) the Employees regular rate of pay.

C. Employees shall not work overtime without advance supervisory approval. The Employer
will endeavor to distribute overtime work on an equitable and practical basis among
Employees in the affected job classifications able to perform the work as determined by the
Employer.

D. All work performed on the seventh day which follows five (5) days of work of at least eight
(8) hours and one (1) day of at least four (4) hours of work shall be paid at double the
straight time rate.

Section 4 - Call Back Time

A. If an Employee is in a “call back” situation, the Employee shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours
call-back pay calculated at one and one-half times (1.5x) the Employee regular rate of pay.

B. When scheduling extra duty, the Employer shall notify the Employee not less than twenty-four (24)
hours prior to commencement of extra duty. If less than twenty-hours (24) hours notice is given, the
extra duty shall be treated as “call back” and paid at the premium rate of pay. If scheduled extra
duty is cancelled with less than 24 hours notice, the employee shall be paid two (2) hours of call
back premium pay.

Section 5 - Court Pay

An Employee who must go to court outside of the Employee’s normal work schedule shall receive a
minimum of two (2) hours at one and one-half times (1.5x) the Employee’s regular rate of pay.

Section 6 - Standby Pay

When an Employee is required to be available for work on standby status outside of their normal work
schedule as designated in writing by the Chief will be compensated at the rate of Three Dollars and
Fifty Cents ($3.50) per hour for each hour in standby status. Employees on standby status will be
required to respond and be ready-to-work within thirty (30) minutes or at such time as designated by
the Chief or designee.

Section 7 - Field Training Officer and Communications Training Officer

An Employee assigned to conduct FTO or CTO training shall receive Two Dollars ($2.00) per hour
more than the Employee's regular rate of pay for all hours performing FTO and CTO duties.
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Section 8 - Officer-In-Charge and Dispatcher-In-Charge Pay

An Employee assigned to Officer-In Charge or Dispatcher-In-Charge duty shall receive a five percent
(5%) or a two-step (2) increase for all hours performing in-charge duties.

Section 9 - Shift Differential

A. Any Employee assigned to work a swing shift shall be paid two and one-half percent (2.5%) or
one step more for all hours worked on the swing shift

B. Any Employee assigned to work a night shift shall be paid five percent (5%) or two steps more
for all hours worked on the night shift.

Section 10 - Detective Premium Pay

A police officer assigned to work investigations and designated as a detective shall be paid five percent
(5%) or two steps more for all hours worked as a detective.

Section 11 - Prisoner Transport

A. At the start of every calendar year, but not later than February 1, the Employer shall establish a
list of interested and qualified Employees who would like to transport prisoners. The
Department shall set up the list by Department Seniority and selection for prisoner transport
assignments shall be by rotation.

B. In an emergency situation, the parties agree and understand that it may be necessary to call
Employees out of the normal rotation.

C. Nothing in this Section precludes Employees outside the bargaining unit from conducting
prisoner transports.

Section 12 - Pay Shortages and Overpayments
If a shortage or overpayment occurs, the Employer shall notify the Employee of the problem

immediately. Prior to recovering any overpayment, the Employer shall work with the Employee to set
up a repayment plan. Any shortage shall be paid to the Employee on the Employee’s next pay check.

ARTICLE 9
UNIFORMS, PROPERTY, AND EQUIPMENT

Section 1 - Providing Uniforms and Uniform Items

The Employer shall furnish any additional uniform items negotiated into this Article within 90 days of the
signing of this agreement unless another date is herein specified. The Employer shall further furnish
these items to new members within 90 days of their date of appointment unless another date is herein
specified.
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Section 2 - Uniforms and Uniform Items

A. The Employer shall provide the following uniform items:

ITEM Police Dispatch Correction Traffic/Community

Officers Members Officers Service Officers/Animal
Control

Shirts, Long Sleeve 3 4 3 3

Shirts, Short Sleeve 3 4 3 3

Trousers 3 3 3

Cap, Baseball Style 1 1 1

Utility Jacket 1 1 1

Coveralls 1 1

Sam Browne Belt 1 1 1

Belt, Uniform 1 1 1

Holster* 1*

Magazine Holder* 2"

Handcuffs 1 1

Cuff Case 1 1

Cuff Keys 2 2

Baton with Holder 1

Badge, Breast 1

Holder, Badge 1

ID Card 1 1 1 1

Name Tag 2 2

Citation Holder 1 1

Capstun Holder 1 1 1

*Holster and magazine holders will be replaced at the discretion of the Police Chief.

B. Upon their initial assignment, police officers assigned to Investigations shall receive a payment
up to five hundred dollars ($500.00) and after six months another Five Hundred Dollars
($500.00) not to exceed a total of One Thousand Dollars ($1000.00) in a twelve month period
to cover the cost of plainclothes purchases. In subsequent years and if still assigned to
investigations, the police officer shall receive Six Hundred Dollars ($600.00) on the anniversary
date of the initial assignment. In order to receive the subsequent year's installment, the police
officer must submit a receipt to the Chief or designee for approval.

Section 3 - Handgun

A. The Employer will provide newly appointed police officers with a handgun, holster, magazine
and magazine holder to be used while on-duty.

B. Police Officers may use another handgun on duty so long as the handgun meets Department
requirements and is approved by the Chief in advance.
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Section 4 - Soft Body Armor

The Employer will provide each newly appointed police officer National Institute of Justice approved
soft body armor and external carrier. The Employer will take steps to replace all soft body armor prior
to its recommended expiration date.

Section 5 - Wearing of Uniform

A. Uniform items provided by the Employer and items which identify the individual as an Employee
shall be worn only with the permission of the Police Chief, in the performance of assigned job
duties or when traveling directly from place of residence to work and traveling directly from work
to place of residence.

B. The parties agree that PSEA may request its members to appear in uniform for its functions with
prior written notice and approval by the Chief.

Section 6 -- Equipment and Other Work-Related Necessities Allowance

The Employer shall provide an allowance for equipment and other work-related necessities on January
1 of each calendar year of this Agreement. In order to receive this allowance, the Employee must
submit a receipt to demonstrate the purchase was for equipment or other work-related necessities.
Employee will be reimbursed for such expenses up to $150.00 for non-sworn positions and $300.00 for
sworn positions. The amount will be paid to the Employee without deductions for taxes.

ARTICLE 10

TRAINING

Section 1 - Employer Assigns Training

The Employer shall determine when training is necessary and will make reasonable efforts to provide
training opportunities to all Employees so long as such training is consistent with the Employer's needs.
The Employer will normally not schedule an Employee for training which conflicts with the Employee’s
scheduled and approved personal leave.

Section 2 - Employee Request

An Employee who wants to attend a course, seminar, workshop or other type of training and have the
Employer reimburse the cost shall:

A. Describe the training and how it relates to the Employee’s current position or a position within
the Police Department to which the Employee could be assigned,

B. State the total cost of the training and the amount proposed for reimbursement by the Employer;
and

C. Secure the written concurrence of the Chief through the chain of command on the amount of
reimbursement for satisfactory completion of the training.
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Section 3 - Successful Course Completion Required

An Employee who does not successfully complete a course of instruction approved by the Employer
may not be reimbursed for the training costs unless authorized otherwise by the Chief.

Section 4 - Registration Fees
Actual costs of registration fees will be paid or reimbursed if previously authorized by the Chief.
ARTICLE 11
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Section 1 - Worker’'s Compensation

In cases of injury or ailment which is covered by Workers Compensation Insurance, personal leave
shall be used to pay the disabled Employee the difference of the wage which the Employee would have
otherwise earned and the workers compensation benefit received. Once the Employee’s personal
leave is exhausted, the Employee may submit a request under Article 6, Section 7, Leave Bank, for
donations.

Section 2 - Health Insurance

The Employer will make available to all Employees covered by this Agreement a health and life
insurance plan, subject to plan eligibility requirements. The Employer shall pay 100% of the cost of
coverage for the Employee and their dependents.

Section 3 - Retirement

The Employer and all regular Employees covered under this Agreement will participate in the Public
Employees Retirement System of Alaska.

ARTICLE 12

TRAVEL REIMBURSEMENT
Section 1 - Travel Reimbursement

The parties agree that occasions may arise where Employees are required to travel for the
business purposes of Employer. Whenever possible, the Department shall provide the
Employee with a Employer credit card and pre-pay expenses, therefore it shall not be the
normal practice for Employees to use personal funds while traveling. [If circumstances require
an Employee use personal funds to cover any valid business-related travel expenses, the
Employee shall be reimbursed for such expenses within twenty-one (21) days after submission
of all receipts.

Section 2 - Lodging Reimbursement

While traveling on official business and away from home or designated posts of duty an
Employee will be reimbursed for the actual cost of lodging which is reasonable and necessary.
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Section 3 — Meal Reimbursement

Employees will receive a per diem rate of $61.00 for meals and incidentals, distributed as

follows:

Midnight to 10:00 am Breakfast $10.00
10:00 am to 3:00 pm Lunch $19.00
3:00 pm to Midnight Dinner $32.00

Total $61.00

To be eligible, an Employee must be in travel status during a meal allowance period for three
consecutive hours. The first day and last day of travel will be prorated as shown above. Same-
day travel will be prorated only if travel is more than 10 hours.

Section 4 — Transportation Expenses

A. Rental car expenses, cab fare, parking fees, and other transportation costs will be reimbursed
on an actual cost incurred basis when use of a rental car is authorized in an Employee’s travel
request.

B. Reimbursement for a rental car will not exceed the lowest rate for an economy class rental
unless approved by the Chief.

C. Employees required to rent a vehicle in the performance of their official duties for the Employer
shall be covered by the Employer's insurance.

Section § - Receipts Required

Except for meals, receipts will be required for reimbursement of costs incurred while traveling.
Section 6 - Per Diem Advances

Prior to traveling on official business, an Employee will be entitled to obtain an advance of per diem
so long as Finance has received a copy of the travel authorization form signed by the Department
Head and the Employer Administrator ten (10) calendar days before departure

Section 7 - Use of Private Vehicles

Employees shall not normally be required to use his or her personal vehicle for the Employer's
business. If a situation arises where an Employee must use his or her personal vehicle, the
Employee shall be reimbursed at the IRS mileage rate in effect on the date of use.

Section 8 - Credit Cards

A. The Employer shall provide a minimum of four (4) credit cards for individual use when
Employees are traveling for prisoner transport, evidence, and administrative purposes within
(60) days of the approval of this Agreement by the Assembly. The rules regarding and
procedures for using credit cards issued in individuals names shall be solely determined by the
Employer.
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B. Employees may not use Employer credit cards for personal charges at any time. Use of a
Employer credit card for personal use may result in disciplinary action, up to and including
dismissal.

ARTICLE 13
SAFETY
Section 1 - Employer Responsibilities

The Employer shall comply with applicable federal and state occupational safety laws and regulations
and industry standards. The Employer shall make every effort to provide a safe and healthful work
place.

Section 2 - Employee Responsibilities

Each Employee is required to act with due care and regard for his own safety and that of his fellow
Employees. All Employees shall comply with applicable federal and state occupational safety laws and
regulations and industry standards. Employees while on duty shall not expose or subject themselves or
others to unsafe working conditions outside the scope of their employment.

Section 3 - Refusal to Work: Unsafe Conditions

It shall not be grounds for discipline if an Employee refuses to work under conditions posing an
immediate danger of death or serious bodily injury.

Section 4 - Unique Nature of Law Enforcement Work Recognized

The parties recognize the nature of law enforcement and demands placed upon public safety
Employees may require an Employee to act according to Department protocols and incur necessary
exposure to unsafe situations not demanded of other Employer Employees.

Section 5 — Safety Officer

The steward, or designee in their absence, shall serve as the safety officer and shall act as the liaison
between the Employees and the Employer regarding safety matters. The steward shall be given an
opportunity at the monthly staff meetings to bring safety matters to the attention of the Chief and
administrative staff. If the safety matter requires immediate attention, the steward shall report the
safety matter to the Chief, or designee, at their earliest opportunity and not wait for the monthly meeting
to be held.

Section 6 - Safety Meetings

The Employer agrees to hold regular safety meetings with all staff.
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ARTICLE 14
PERSONNEL FILES
Section 1 - Location

Official personnel files shall be maintained in the Human Resources Department. Field personnel files
may also be maintained by the Department.

Section 2 - Confidentiality

All information contained within an Employee’s personnel file, regardless of location, is confidential
except as provided by law. Employees who have a need to know the information contained in an
individual Employee’s personnel file to perform their official duties with the Employer shall have access
to the Employee’s personnel files. The Human Resources Department shall maintain a record of any
person or entity, other than the Human Resources staff, which reviews or has access to the Employee’s
personnel files.

Section 3 - Employee Access

Employees shall have access to the Employee’s personnel files upon reasonable notice and at
reasonable times. Personnel files may not be removed from their location, and shall be reviewed in the
presence of staff. Upon request, Employees may receive copies of any documents contained within
their personnel files.

Section 4 - Union Access

Upon written authorization by an Employee, the Union and its representatives shall have the right to
review the Employee’s personnel files upon reasonable notice and at reasonable times.

Section 5 - Third Party Access

Employees may authorize in writing any other person or entity the right to review the Employee’s
personnel files. Access to the file by anyone outside of the Employer, including the Union, shall be in
accordance with applicable local, state, and federal laws or regulations, or as ordered by a court of
competent jurisdiction. In the event a governmental agency or court obtains access, the affected
Employees shall be notified of such access.

Section 6 — Removal of Documents

Upon request by an Employee, the Chief, or designee, may remove a Written Reprimand, or any lesser
form of discipline, given to an Employee two (2) years after it is issued provided no further instance of
similar conduct occurs as determined by the Chief. If the request to remove the document is denied,
the Employee will be provided a written explanation of the reasons. Nothing in this paragraph requires
removal of any reference to the disciplinary action in the Employee’s performance evaluation.
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ARTICLE 15
GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE
Section 1 — Exclusive Remedy

This procedure shall be the sole and exclusive means of settling disputes and disagreements between
the parties involving the application of this Agreement.

Section 2 - Grievance Defined

A. A “grievance” is any disagreement or dispute between the Employer and the Union regarding
the application of this Agreement.

B. This procedure shall not be available to probationary Employees where disciplinary action or
termination occurs.

C. A Written Reprimand given to an Employee is not subject to the grievance procedures under
this Article. However, an Employee may submit a rebuttal memorandum which shall be
attached to it when it is placed in the Employee’s personnel file.

Section 3 - General Procedures

A. All written grievances shall contain the following information, to the extent known at the time of
filing:

1. the name and job classification of the grievant or grievants:
2. the date of the alleged action or omission which lead to the grievance:

3. a statement of the facts know to the Employee and/or the Union supporting the
grievance:

4. a list of articles and sections within the collective bargaining agreement that have been
violated:

5. the remedy sought: and
6. the signature of the grievant or grievants.

B. Should the Employer not comply with the time limits specified in this Article, the Union may
advance the grievance to the next higher step. Any grievance not filed by the Union according
the procedures and time frames in Section 4 below shall be deemed to have been waived and
shall not be entitled to further consideration.

C. Grievances filed by the Employer shall be filed with PSEA’s Executive Director.

D. “Days” as used within this Article is defined as calendar days, unless specified otherwise.
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E. Fax delivery of grievances and responses between the Union and the Employer shall be
acceptable.

F. In all instances, Employer responses shall be delivered to PSEA in Anchorage as the official
recipient of grievance responses.

G. The time limits herein stated may be extended by written mutual agreement of the parties. Such
mutual written agreement may be transmitted via US mail, a fax, e-mail or other reliable written
electronic communication.

H. “Class action grievances” shall be defined as grievance affecting more than one Union
Employee. Class action grievances shall be filed at Step 2. For purposes of signing the
grievance as required above, a single grievant may sign on behalf of the entire class.

I. Disciplinary action greater than a Letter of Reprimand shall be filed at Step 2.

J. A grievance may be filed at a higher step if the recipient of the grievance does not have the
power or authority to grant the relief requested upon mutual agreement between the parties.

Section 4 - Grievance Procedure Steps

A. The parties shall first attempt to resolve their disputes informally. If this method is unsuccessful,
the following steps shall be followed in processing grievances:

B. STEP 1

1. A grievance shall be initiated by the Union’s submitting the grievance in writing to the
first level of supervisor outside the bargaining unit within twenty-one (21) days from the
date the Employee knew of the action or inaction.

2. The supervisor shall meet with and discuss the grievance with the grievant and his/her
Union representative and provide a written response within fourteen (14) days of the
receipt of the original grievances.

C. STEP 2

1. If resolution is not reached at Step 1, the grievance may be elevated by the Union to the
Chief no later than fourteen (14) days after the supervisor's response or the date the
response was due, whichever is earlier.

2. Within fourteen (14).days of receipt of the grievance, the Chief may meet with the
grievant and the Union representative to discuss the grievance and shall provide a
written response within fourteen (14) days after receipt of the grievance.

D. STEP 3

1. If resolution is not reached at Step 2, the grievance may be elevated by the Union to the
Employer Administrator within fourteen (14) days of receipt of the Chiefs response, or
the date of the response was due, whichever is earlier.
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2.

Within fourteen (14) days of receipt, the Employer Administrator shall provide a written
response upholding, modifying, or disapproving the suspension or demotion and any
suspension shall then take effect in accordance with the Administrator’s decision.

E. STEP4

1.

If resolution is not reached at Step 3, the grievance may be submitted by the Union to
arbitration in the following manner: Within twenty-one (21) days of the Unions receipt of
the Employer Administrators response at Step 3 or the date the response as due,
whichever is earlier, the Union may deliver to the Employer Administrator a written
demand for arbitration.

Within ten (10) working days after receipt of the written demand, the Union and the
Human Resource Director or his designee shall meet in an effort to select an arbitrator.

If an arbitrator has not been agreed after this meeting, the parties shall jointly contact the
United States Federal Mediation and Conciliation Services (USFMCS) or by mutual
consent, the American Arbitration Association (AAA), to request the names of 11
qualified arbitrators from Nevada, Arizona, California, Washington, Oregon, Idaho, or
Alaska: the cost of such request shall be equally borne by the parties. Nothing in this
paragraph precludes the parties from creating a single arbitrator panel after Agreement
is effective to be used for the duration of this Agreement.

If the parties cannot mutually agree which list to request, the issue will be resolved by
flipping a coin. Within fourteen (14) days of receipt of a list of arbitrators, the parties
shall proceed alternately to strike names from the list until one name remains and that
person shall become the arbitrator.

The first choice in striking an arbitrator shall be done by flip of a coin if the parties do not
consent to exercise of the first choice.

The arbitration shall commence at a neutral location provided by the Employer at a time
selected by the arbitrator and agreed upon by the parties.

The Arbitrator's function is to interpret the Agreement. The Arbitrator's authority is
limited to considering the particular issue(s) set forth in the written grievance by the
Union and the written response by the Employer. The Arbitrator shall have no authority
or power to add to, delete from, disregard, or alter any of the provisions of this
Agreement, but shall be authorized only to interpret the existing provisions of this
Agreement as they may apply to the specific facts of the issue in dispute. The Arbitrator
shall not award or grant any right, privilege, or benefit to the Union or Employees not
provided for by this Agreement.

Procedural issues shall be reviewed by the Arbitrator during the same proceeding as the
underlying merits of the same grievance, unless agreed to otherwise by the parties.

The arbitrator shall be requested to provide the parties with written findings of fact and
conclusions of law, if any, and the complete rationale for any award within 30 working
days of the hearing's completion or after receipt of post-hearing briefs, unless the parties
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consent to a longer time. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding upon
the parties.

10. Each party shall bear its own expenses associated with the arbitration. The arbitrator
shall assign his/her fees and expenses to the losing party, i.e., either to the Union or to
the Employer; if there is no losing party, the fees and expenses shall be apportioned by
the arbitrator between the parties. The parties shall use their best efforts to minimize the
costs of any arbitration.

ARTICLE 16
ADMINISTRATIVE INVESTIGATIONS

During the life of this Agreement, the parties agree to meet to review any proposed changes to the
Administrative Investigation Manual (“Al manual”) using the Labor Management Committee process set
forth in Article 20. If either party desires changes to the Al manual, they must provide the proposed
changes in writing at the same time the Labor Management Committee request is made. Decisions
regarding the final content of the Al manual will be determined by the Chief after the Labor
Management Committee_meeting.

ARTICLE 17
PROBATIONARY PERIODS AND PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS
Section 1 - Probationary Periods

A. Every new regular Employee shall serve either a six-month (for non-sworn positions) or a
twelve-month (for sworn positions) probationary period depending on their job classification,
during which time the Employee may be terminated at the sole discretion of the Employer
without right of appeal.

B. Current regular Employees who are promoted or transferred to a different position shall serve a
six-month probationary period. If the Employee’s performance in the new position is
unsatisfactory in the Employer's sole discretion, the Employee may be returned to their previous
position if vacant or to another vacant position so long as the Employee’ is qualified for that
position. This employment action shall not be construed to be a demotion or disciplinary action
requiring just cause.

C. A demoted Employee shall not serve another probationary period so long as the Employee had
previously completed the initial probationary period in the job classification to which the
Employee returns.

Section 2 - Performance Evaluations

A. An Employee shall be evaluated within thirty (30) days of the Employee's anniversary date of
employment in the job classification.

City and Borough of Sitka and PSEA Labor Agreement —TA v.1
July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2019
Page 22 of 36



B. Uniform standards of performance as determined by the Chief shall be applied to each
Employee in a job classification.

C. The purpose of a performance evaluation is to assess the ability of an Employee to effectively
perform his job duties.

D. An Employee shall be allowed to submit a written comment or rebuttal to any performance
evaluation received. The rebuttal may challenge the overall rating or any part of the evaluation
and must be submitted within thirty (30) days after the Employee’s receipt of the evaluation.
The rebuttal will be initially submitted to the Chief for his review, and then forwarded to the
Human Resources Director to be attached to the performance evaluation being challenged in
the Employee’s personnel file.

E. An Employee denied a merit increase due to an unacceptable performance evaluation shall be
re-evaluated within six months after the Employee’s anniversary date. If the Employee has
improved and obtained an acceptable rating, the Employee shall be entitled to a merit increase
from the six-month anniversary date forward.

F. An unacceptable performance evaluation shall not affect a member's anniversary date for
purposes of future evaluations or any other benefits.

ARTICLE 18
DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE; RESIGNATION
Section 1 - DISCIPLINE AND DISCHARGE

A. No regular Employee shall be disciplined or discharged without just cause. All discipline, except
for written reprimands, shall be subject to review if challenged timely and in accordance with the
grievance-arbitration procedure set forth at article 15.

B. The Employer reserves the right to determine what level of discipline will be issued in any given
situation. A copy of the disciplinary notice will be given to the Employee and sent to the PSEA
Anchorage office via fax, email or scan on the same day it is issued. The Employer in its
discretion will utilize the following progressive discipline steps:

Written reprimand
Suspension without pay
Demotion

Discharge

C. In the event an Employee may be suspended or demoted, the Employee may be placed on
administrative leave with pay until any investigation is concluded. If, through the grievance
procedure, the suspension or demotion is overturned, then the Employee shall be entitled to
back pay. An Employee placed on administrative leave is presumed innocent until a decision is
made by the Chief, as approved by the Administrator.

City and Borough of Sitka and PSEA Labor Agreement —-TA v.1
July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2019
Page 23 of 36



Section 2 - Resignation

An Employee who intends to terminate service with the Employer shall submit a written resignation to
the Chief or designee stating his/her last dates of employment. Resignations shall be submitted as
early as possible, but at least two (2) weeks before the final work day unless mutually agreed
beforehand between the Employer and the Union. A copy of the Employee’s resignation shall be filed
in the Employee’s personnel file, and sent to the Union. At the Employer’s option, the Employee may
be paid two weeks full pay and benefits and allowed to leave employment immediately.

Section 3 - Pay in Lieu of Notice

Regular Employees shall be given two (2) weeks' notice of separation. The Employer, at its sole
discretion, may elect to provide full pay in lieu of notice.

Section 4 - Medical Examinations
No Employee shall be required to submit to a medical or psychological examination unless the
Employer has a job related justification to require the Employee to submit to such an examination.

Nothing in this paragraph limits the Employer’s right to seek medical certifications or fitness for duty
reports as permitted by federal and state law, or as otherwise provided for in this agreement.

ARTICLE 19
SENIORITY, LAYOFF, AND RECALL
Section 1 - Seniority Defined
A. There are two types of seniority. All Employees shall be listed in descending order.

1. Job Classification Seniority.

The Employee having the longest term of unbroken service in the job classification
represented by the Union shall be number one (1) on the Job Classification Seniority.

2. Department Seniority

The Employee having the longest term of unbroken service in the Department shall be
number one (1) on the Department Seniority list.

B. The job classifications represented by the Union are:

Sergeant Police Officer

Dispatch and Records Supervisor Dispatcher and Records Clerk
Multi-Service Officer Animal Control Officer

Police Technician Jail/Corrections Officer

IT Specialist Jail Officer Il
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C. There are three job series for purposes of this Article

Job Series | Job Series |l
Sergeant Dispatch and Records Supervisor
Police Officer Dispatch and Records Clerk

Job Series Il
Jail Officer |l
Jail/Corrections

D. If two or more Employees have identical seniority, the following shall be used to break the tie:

1.
2.

5.

First, the Employee with the most seniority with the Department
Second, the Employee with the most seniority with the Employer;

Third, the Employee who has the most favorable overall performance rating score during the
previous year;

Fourth, veteran status defined as an individual who has been honorably discharged from
military service;

Fifth, by lot.

Section 2 - Application of Seniority

A. Seniority may be used where scheduling issues or other operational requirements are open to
Employee bidding by the Chief. The type of seniority to be used shall be designated by the
Chief.

B. Job Classification Seniority shall be used to determine the order of layoff and recall; Department
Seniority shall be used to determine bumping rights.

Section 3 - Termination of Seniority

A. Seniority shall be terminated upon:

1.
2.
3.

4.
5.
6.

resignation;
layoff for a period of more than two (2) years;

failure of the member to report for duty within thirty (30) days after notification of a recall
from layoff;

abandonment of position (failure to report within three (3) days of scheduled duty);
promotion to a position outside the bargaining unit except as provided in section 4 below; or

dismissal.
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B. Seniority shall not be interrupted by:

1.
2,
3.
4.

periods of leave or layoff for a period of less than two (2) years;
absence due to an on-the-job injury;
active military duty when recall for such duty is beyond the control of the member; or

retirement disability up to three years.

Section 4 - Retention of Seniority

An Employee promoted or assigned to a position outside the job classifications represented by the
Union but who remains within the police Department is entitled to a two-year period of absence from
the bargaining unit without loss of seniority. The Employee’s seniority will be frozen at the level
attained at departure from the unit position, and will not accrue during the Employee’s one-year
absence. If the Employee retains the position outside of the bargaining unit for more than one year, the
Employee's seniority for purposes of this article shall terminate.

Section 5 - Layoff/Recall

A. General Provisions

1.

The Chief of Police, upon approval of the Employer Administrator or designee, may layoff an
Employee by reason of abolition of position, shortage of work or funds, or other reasons
-outside the Employee's control. A layoff does not reflect discredit on the service or
performance of the laid-off Employee.

No Employee shall be laid off if there are temporary Employees in the Department.
Probationary Employees will be laid off prior to regular Employees.

No Employee shall be laid off because a non-bargaining unit member wishes to return to a
bargaining unit position.

B. Order of Layoff

1.

Order of layoff is by job classification, and by job series, when one exists, except as
provided below in 3c.

Layoffs shall be made in inverse order of seniority.
Bumping Rights

a. Once the job classification to be laid off is identified, the Employee with the least
bargaining unit seniority in the job classification to be laid off shall be the first to be laid
off.
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b. If the identified Employee is in a job classification in a job series set forth in Section 1(c),
the Employee may choose to displace another Employee in the lower job classification,
provided that the Employee in the higher job classification has more Department
seniority than the Employee in the next lower classification.

c. If an Employee is to be laid off in a single job classification (no Job Series in Section 1(c)
has obtained regular status in a job classification covered by this Agreement, the
Employee may choose to displace an Employee in a previously held job classification
provided that the Employee has more Department Seniority than the Employee in the
previously held job classification.

C. Notification of layoff and recall requirements

1.

After a decision is made that a layoff is necessary in the Department, the Chief shall notify in
writing all Employees that a layoff will occur and the anticipated job classification to be laid
off, and the expected date of the layoff.

The Employees in the identified job classification to be laid off shall -receive a minimum of
thirty (30) days written notice before the layoff is effective.

If the affected Employee is eligible to bump to a lower or different job classification covered
by this agreement, the Employee shall notify the Chief in writing within five (5) working days
from the date the Employee receives the layoff notice of the Employee's desire to bump to a
lower or different classification. Failure to notify the Chief of a desire to bump as required
herein shall result in a forfeiture of the Employee’s right to bump.

D. Rights of laid-off Employees

1.
2.

At the time of layoff, the Employee laid off will receive payment for all personal leave.

No temporary Employees shall be hired while Employees are in layoff status unless the laid-
off Employee is first offered the work and does not accept or timely respond to an inquiry.

A laid-off Employee may reject a temporary or seasonal position without losing layoff recall
rights. Notice to the laid-off Employee shall include the estimated duration of the temporary
or seasonal position.

Upon layoff, the laid off Employee shall be placed on the layoff list for the job classification
series from which the Employee was laid off, and for the bargaining unit. Recall rights exist
for two (2) years from the effective date of the layoff.

The layoff list shall be ranked in inverse order of layoff. Any vacant position that the
Employer elects to fill in the job classification shall be offered to the first Employee on the
layoff list, provided however, that an Employee may not be recalled to a higher job
classification than the Employee previously held.

To be reappointed an Employee on layoff status must meet the licensing and certification
required for the other incumbents in the classification.
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7. An Employee on layoff status may apply for any vacant position with the Employer.
Qualified applicants on layoff status will be given the opportunity to interview for the vacant
position.

8. An Employee on layoff status may accept alternative employment without forfeiting layoff
rights.

9. When an Employee on layoff status is recalled to a position in the Employee’s former job
classification, the Employee will resume employment with -the same employment status,
range and step held at the time of layoff.

10. When an Employee on layoff status is offered appointment to a different job classification
with the Employer, the Department director and the Human Resources Director shall
determine the Employee’'s employment status, range and step. When an Employee on
layoff status accepts an appointment in a different job classification, a probationary period
must be served.

E. Employee Obligations

1. When an Employee on layoff status refuses or fails to respond to a written offer of
appointment to the Employee’s former Job classification within 10 days, layoff status is
ended and the Employee will be separated in good standing.

2. When an Employee on layoff status fails to respond within 10 days to a written inquiry
relating to availability for appointment to a different job classification, layoff status is ended
and the Employee will be separated in good standing.

F. Job Vacancy Announcements

The Human Resource Director will post all job vacancy announcements on the Employer’'s web
site and will make available, upon written request by the laid-off Employee, copies of such job
vacancy announcements.

ARTICLE 20
LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The parties agree that they will meet in good faith at reasonable times and places concerning this
Agreement and its interpretation or any other matter of mutual concern. The parties further agree that
either part may request in writing that the parties meet within fifteen (15) working days after the date of
delivery of the request. The written request will specify the matter to be discussed, the anticipated time
required for the meeting, and who will participate in the process. The parties recognize that the
success of the Employer in conducting the affairs of government and the job security of the Employees
and effective administration of this Agreement depends on mutual cooperation and effective
communication among all parties.
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ARTICLE 21
HOLIDAYS
Section 1 - Designated Holidays

A. All Employees covered by this Agreement shall have eleven (11) holidays per year to be
observed on the following days:

New Year’s Day January 1

Martin Luther King Day Third Monday in January
Presidents Day Third Monday in February
Seward’s Day Last Monday in March
Memorial Day Last Monday in May
Independence Day July 4

Labor Day First Monday in September
Alaska Day October 18

Veteran's Day_ November 11
Thanksgiving Day Fourth Thursday in November
Christmas Day December 25

and such other days as may be proclaimed by the Municipal Administrator.

B. When the holiday falls on a Saturday, the holiday will be observed on the preceding Friday,
and when the holiday falls on a Sunday, the holiday will be observed on the following
Monday. For Employees who work a schedule other than a Monday-Friday, the Employee’s
first day off shall be considered their Saturday and the Employee’s second day off shall be
considered their Sunday.

Section 2 - Holiday Compensation

A. All Employees will be paid holiday pay at the Employee’s straight time rate for all hours of
their scheduled shift on the holiday or designated holiday.

B. Work performed on a holiday or designated holiday shall be compensated at the one and
one-half times (1.5x) the Employee's regular rate in addition to the regular day's holiday pay
for all hours worked up to twelve (12) hours and double time (2x) for all hours worked in
excess of the Employee’s schedule shift. No additional time off or pay will be granted for a
holiday worked.

C. If working on a holiday results in an Employee working on either end of the holiday time
period, an Employee shall be paid one holiday premium provided in paragraph B above for
the first shift that falls within that holiday.
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ARTICLE 22
GENERAL PROVISIONS
Section 1 - Availability of the Parties

Upon written request the parties agree that representatives of the Union and the Employer shall meet
during the life of this agreement to discussion this Agreement, its interpretations, continuation or
modification and other matters of mutual concern.

Section 2 - Letters of Agreement

Nothing in this agreement precludes the parties from amending this agreement by mutual consent of
the parties in writing at any time during its term.

Section 3 - Subordination and Savings

A. Subordination: The Employer and the Union mutually agree that this Agreement shall in all
aspects comply with and be subordinate to federal laws, state laws, and ordinances of the
Employer and Borough of Sitka that have not been expressly modified by this agreement.

B. Savings: If an Article or part of an Article should be found by a court of competent jurisdiction or
by mutual agreement between the Employer and the Union to be in violation of any federal law,
state law or Employer and Borough of Sitka ordinance, the remaining Articles and provisions of-
this Agreement remain in full force and effect.

Section 4 - Complete Agreement

The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement each had the
unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject matter not
removed by law from the area of collective bargaining and that the understandings and agreements
arrived at by the parties are set forth in this Agreement. The parties further understand that they have
agreed to meet about any subjects relating to this Agreement and other matters of mutual concern
during the term of this Agreement when requested. However, nothing in this Section obligates a party
to reach agreement or to change this Agreement with respect to any subject or matter specifically
referred to or covered by this Agreement. This Agreement replaces and supersedes all prior oral and
written understandings, agreements, and policies otherwise referred to or covered by this Agreement
and concludes all collective bargaining for the duration of the Agreement. Nothing in this Section
relieves either party of their legal obligation to bargain in good faith with respect to mandatory subjects
of bargaining.

ARTICLE 23

OPERATING PROCEDURES MANUAL

The Department Operating Procedures Manual (“OPM”) shall apply to the Employees covered by this
Agreement. Where the terms of the OPM are in conflict or otherwise inconsistent with this Agreement,
the Agreement shall prevail.
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ARTICLE 24
PERSONNEL POLICIES

Section 1 - Personnel Policies Handbook

A The Employer's Personnel Policies Handbook as adopted by Ordinance does not apply
to any Employee covered by this Agreement unless specifically referenced otherwise in this
Agreement or as listed below.

B. In the event a change is proposed by the Employer to a Personnel Policy specifically
noted by Section or Attachment below or elsewhere in this Agreement, a copy of that change
will be provided to the Union when they are submitted to the Assembly. The Employer and the
Union shall meet to negotiate the applicability of the changed policy to the Employees covered
by this Agreement.

Section 2 - Nepotism

No Employee may be employed in a position supervised by another family member. If an Employee
and their supervisor should marry, the Employer shall elect which Employee may continue with the
Department and which Employee shall terminate or transfer, if other positions are available. Family
members for purposes of this paragraph, shall include spouse, father, mother, brother, sister, child and
the same relationship by in-law.

Section 3 - Personal Business

An Employee is expected to conduct personal business outside the Employee’s work hours. Personal
calls during the Employee's work hours are discouraged. Breaks, meal periods, and leave are
available for an Employee to use for personal business.

Section 4 - Anti-Harassment Policy

All Employees covered by this Agreement shall be expected to comply with the Employer’s Sexual
Harassment and Anti-Harassment Policy found in Attachment D of the Personnel Policies Handbook.

Section 5 - Email and Internet Policy

All Employees covered by this Agreement shall be expected to comply with the Employer's E-Mail and
Internet Policy found in Attachment E of the Personnel Policies Handbook.

Section 6 - Drug and Alcohol Policy

All Employees covered by this Agreement shall be expected to comply with the Employer’s Drug and
Alcohol Policy found in Section 24 of the Personnel Policies Handbook.

Section 7 - Other Employment
Occupations or outside activity, which are incompatible with employment with the Employer or

adversely affects the performance of the Employee’s job duties with the Employer are prohibited.
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Section 8 - Gifts and Gratuities

An Employee shali not accept a gift, gratuity, consideration or extraordinary favor from any person
doing business, or likely to do business with the Employer and shall immediately report to their
Department Head any offer, promise or suggestion that such a give be made. This prohibition does not
apply to the giving of ceremonial gifts of nominal value or gives received from an Employee’s family or
ordinary circle of friend when not offered for an actual or perceived corrupt purpose.

Section 9 - Occupational Injury

The Personnel Policies Handbook Section 18, Occupational Injury, shall apply to the Employees
covered by this Agreement.

ARTICLE 25
DURATION

This Agreement shall become effective on July 1, 2016 and shall continue in effect until June 30, 2019
and thereafter from year to year, provided, however that either party may give the other party written
notice of its desire to effect changes to the Agreement. Such written notice shall specify the particular
Articles in which changes are desired, and shall be served upon the other party not more than one
hundred and eighty (180) days and not less than one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the end of the
initial period of the Agreement or any annual extension thereof. The parties agree to meet to schedule
negotiations within thirty (30) days after receipt of such notice. Nothing herein will preclude the
termination, modifications or amendment of this Agreement at any time by written mutual consent of the
parties.
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This Agreement is entered into on this

Mark Gorman
Municipal Administrator

Kimberly K. Geariety
Chief Spokesperson

Mark Danielson
HR Director

day of , 2016.

Jake Metcalfe
PSEA Executive Director
Chief Spokesperson

David Johnson
Chapter President

Dave Nelson
Chapter Vice-President

Jackie Ojala
Secretary

Judy Puckett
Negotiating Team Member
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APPENDIX A

LEAVE ACCRUAL CHART
Years  [Pay Period  |Pay Period [Mandatory Mandatory
of Accrual Accrual Rate |Usage Usage Total Hours|Total Hours
Service [Rate for 80  [for 84 Hour {for 80 Hour  [for 84 Hour |Annually for] Annually
Hour Employee Employee EachEmployee 80 Hour |for 84 Hour
Employee Fiscal Year  [Each Employee | Employee
Fiscal Year
Year One |5.54 Hours  [5.82 Hours |0 Hours 0 Hours 144 151.20
2-4 7.39 Hours  |7.76 Hours |80 Hours 84 Hours 192 201.60
5-8 8.31 Hours  [8.73 Hours {120 Hours 126 Hours 216 226.80
9-12 0.24 Hours  [9.70 Hours {120 Hours 126 Hours 240 252.00
More 11.08 Hours |11.64 Hours |160 Hours 168 Hours 288 302.40
than 12
Years
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APPENDIX B

PAY MATRIX AS OF JULY 1, 2016

APPENDIX B
PAY MATRIX AS OF JULY 1, 2016
Grade A B C D E F G H | J K L M N 0

(A::::':| $19.78] $20.28| $20.78| $21.30( $21.83] $22.38| $22.95| $23.42| $23.88| $24.35| $24.84| $25.33| $25.84| $26.36| $26.89
D&R

Clerk/Jail $19.78| $20.28| $20.78] $21.30| $21.83| $22.38| $22.95| $23.42| $23.88| $24.35| $24.84] $25.33] $25.84| $26.36] $26.89
Officer

g:‘:-l\:i:c $23.08| $23.66| $24.25| $24.85| $25.48| $26.12| $26.78| $27.30| $27.85| $28.41| $28.98( $29.56| $30.15| $30.75| $31.36
D&R

Supv./Jail $24.07| $24.66| $25.28] $25.91 $26.56| $27.22| $27.90| $28.47| $29.04| $29.62| $30.21| $30.82( $31.42| $32.05| $32.69
Officer 1

:;:.I';c:" $27.11] $27.78| $28.48| $29.18| $29.92| $30.66| $31.43| $32.06| $32.70{ $33.36| $34.02| $34.70| $35.39| $36.10{ $36.82
IT Specialist | $27.84| $28.55| $29.26| $29.98] $30.73[ $31.51] $32.30| $32.96]| $33.61| $34.28| $34.96| $35.66| $36.37| $37.10| $37.84
;::'lgc:ant $29.07| $29.80| $30.55| $31.31] $32.09( $32.91| $33.73| $34.40| $35.09| $35.79| $36.50| $37.23| $37.97| $38.73| $39.50
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APPENDIX C

PAY MATRIX AS OF JULY 1, 2018

APPENDIX C
PAY MATRIX AS OF JULY 1. 2018
Grade A B C D E F G H I J K L M N o

é:::'::l $19.98| $20.48 $20.99| $21.51| $22.05| $22.60| $23.18| $23.65| $24.12| $24.59| $25.09| $25.58| $26.10| $26.62| $27.16
D&R

Clerk/Jail | $19.98] $20.48| $20.99| $21.51] $22.05| $22.60| $23.18| $23.65 $24.12| $24.59| $25.09| $25.58| $26.10| $26.62| $27.16
Officer

'S"e‘::‘; . $2331| $23.90| $24.49] $25.10| $25.73| $26.38| $27.05| $27.57| $28.13| $28.69| $29.27| $29.86] $30.45| $31.06] $31.67
D&R

Supv.dail | $24.31] $24.91| $25.53| $26.17| $26.83| $27.49| $28.18| $28.75| $29.33| $29.92| $30.51| $31.13| $31.73| $32.37| $33.02
Officer Il

:’)‘;:;zr $27.38| $28.06| $28.76| $20.47| $30.22| $30.97| $31.74| $32.38 $33.03| $33.69| $34.36 $35.05| $35.74| $36.46| $37.19
IT Specialist | $28.12] $28.84] $29.55 $30.28] $31.04] $31.83] $32.62| $33.29] $33.95| $34.62| $35.31] $36.02| $36.73| $37.47] $38.22
Police $29.36| $30.10| $30.86] $31.62| $32.41| $33.24| $34.07| $34.74| $35.44| $36.15| $36.87| $37.60 $38.35| $39.12| $39.90
Sergeant
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POSSIBLE MOTION

| MOVE TO 1) approve a 10-year purchase
agreement between the City and Borough of
Sitka and Alaska Bulk Water, Inc. for raw
water in bulk for export, and, 2) approve a 20-
year purchase agreement between the City
and Borough of Sitka and Alaska Bulk Water,
Inc. for raw water in bulk for export as
recommended by the Gary Paxton Industrial
Park Board and authorize the Municipal
Administrator to execute these documents.









¢ Requires ABWI to export 50 million gallons of water within a 36-month period or
CBS can terminate contract.

o The agreement defines Stages of water volume export to retain water allocation
amounts. (Section 3.2)
o ABWI gains more allocations by exporting more water and can lose
allocation amounts by failing to export specified amounts.

¢ Ensures municipal water uses retain first right and priority to the water. (Section
4a)

o The agreement allows for hydroelectric dam and water system maintenance.
(Section 4c)

¢ Protects the CBS from water quality issues with human consumption uses.
(Section 4.3 & 13.3)

e The price for water has been set at $3,258.51/Acre-feet or $0.01/US gallon.
(Section 7.1)

¢ Allows and defines terms of a license for ABWI to install, construct, maintain
water loading infrastructure.
o Charges a $5,000 payment for license to use CBS tidelands for this
purpose.
o Defines terms on how much ABWI can charge other bulk water customers
for using its water loading infrastructure.

o Defines requirements for ballast water discharges and water loading.

Other standard terms and conditions.

Basic Terms of ABWI's 10-year Bulk Water Export Agreement

The terms of ABWI's 10-year bulk water export are the same as the 20-year agreement
except the following changes:

e Requires ABWI to make an additional, non-refundable fee of $100,000 that can
be used as water credits.

¢ Allows ABWI to retain $1,350,000 in credits towards water export payments that
ABWI had paid and accumulated in previous bulk water agreements from 2009-
2015

Additional Information




The GPIP Board choose to recommend two separate bulk water agreements
instead of one to allowing ABWI to use previous non-refundable payments as
water credits within 10 years instead of 20 years.
o A separate 20-year contact would allow ABWI to still be able to attract
long term investment.

ABWI obtained a tidelands lease from the CBS in 2014 for 18 acres directly
seaward of the CBS bulk water pipeline for a lease amount of $5,292 annually.
o The tideland lease was terminated when the ABWI| water purchase
agreement was terminated.
o A license to allow for this infrastructure to remain in the tidelands has been
incorporated into new agreement in lieu of a tidelands leases.
= A license was deemed to be better contractual documentation than
a “letter of permission” as directed by the GPIP Board.

ABWI installed two mooring buoys in its tideland lease in June 2015.
o Section 10 of the agreement defines ABWI's use and removal of this
infrastructure.

ABWI constructed a value at the end of the CBS bulk water pipeline and
assembled a floating pipeline system to the mooring buoy in June 2015.
o Section 10 of the agreement defines ABWI’s use and removal of this
infrastructure.

The CBS is moving forward with potentially constructing a multipurpose dock in
the tidelands of Sawmill Cove.
o Section 10 addresses the CBS ability to require ABWI or Arctic to move
existing infrastructure and use CBS infrastructure.

The CBS retains 2,228 Acre-feet (~726 million gallons) of water annually to
support future water bottling operations with the execution of all water purchase
agreements recommended to ABWI and ARCTIC.

Attachments

ABWTI’s letters to the CBS dated March 10, 2016 & April 26t", 2016.

The RFP the CBS released to solicit bulk water proposals.

ABWI's submittal to the RFP.

Water purchase agreement between the CBS and ABWI for a 10-year term.
Water purchase agreement between the CBS and ABWI for a 20-year term.

Action

The GPIP Board requests that the CBS Assembly approve the recommended water
purchase agreements.



Alaska Bulk Water Inc.

2211 Elliott Ave, Seattle, Washington Suite 200 98121

Mar.10, 2016 sent by email

Mr. Garry White/GPIP Board of Directors
Gary Paxton Industrial Park

329 Harbor Drive, Suite 212

Sitka, Alaska 99835

Dear Garry/Board Members

Alaska Bulk Water Inc. ( ABWTI ) has been working diligently to meet the financial
requirement that its promised to the City last fall to maintain its exclusive bulk water
contract. Alare and Langenburg Technologies have recently signed an agreement for
supplying power using its proprietary technology that is worth many hundreds of millions
of dollars. Unfortunately, this money will not be available to Alare until the first of the
month outside of tomorrow nights meeting. Hence, Alare cannot fund ABWI to make its
payment to the City of Sitka in the necessary time frame.

ABW!I is asking the GPIP Board to consider the following:

1. ABWI has made payments of $1.35 million to the CBS for prepaid water
purchases. This amounts to 135 million gallons of water. ABWI would like to be
able to sell at least this amount of water immediately. To do so, will require a
modified contract with ABWI which permits ABWI to be able to sell the water it
has paid for and as much as 1 billion gallons per year for other customers. ABWI
has constructed the loading station and has valid customers to begin shipping
water. It would be to the City’s benefit to allow ABWI to begin shipping water.
ABWI would have a non exclusive contract and the city may issue other bulk
water contracts, if it so desires.

2. Loading Station — ABWI constructed a loading station for bulk water at a cost of
over | million dollars last year. ABWI agreed to the modifications requested by
the City Administrator in January. ABWI further offered to assist the City in its
plans for a general purpose dock that could also service bulk water. As a good
faith gesture, ABWI also gave the CBS the bottom profiling in Silver Bay that
ABWI paid $43,000 in constructing the bulk water loading station. ABWI
requests that the tidelands lease for the bulk water loading station stay in place.
ABWTI agrees to make the use of the loading station available for any other
vessels which may wish to load bulk water. ABWI will charge a reasonable fee
for loading any other vessels with bulk water. By allowing ABWI to maintain the
loading station, any new users would not have to construct a new facility.

Supplying the purest water on earth...



Alaska Bulk Water Inc.

2211 Elliott Ave, Seattle, Washington Suite 200 98121

ABWT has worked with the CBS for 10 years and has done all in its power to make the
shipment of bulk water from Sitka a success. The Loading Station was constructed to fill
bulk water ships. The plans are not in conflict with the City. ABWI has developed a
shipping partner in Prisma Shipping to meet the shipping needs of bulk water. ABWI has
also worked with its customers to develop infrastructure on the receiving customer’s
sides. Funding was recently approved with ABWI’s customer in California to build tanks
and a distribution system for bulk water. Similar plans have been developed in Mexico
and with ABWI’s other customers. In short, and ironically enough, ABWI now is ready
to start shipping water but lacks a bulk water contract. It is unfortunate that the
obligation of $1 million that ABWI created could not be met within the contract time
frames. ABWI is confident that it will receive funds soon to be able to complete a
number of related projects that it contemplates in the GPIP. We only hope there will be
an opportunity to do so.

Yours truly,

Terry Trapp
CEO ABWI

Supplying the purest water on earth...



Alaska Bulk Water Inc.

2211 Elliott Ave, Scaltle, Washington Suite 200 98121

April 26 2016 sent by email

Mr. Garry White/GPIP Board of Directors
Garry Paxton Industrial Park

329 Harbor Drive, Suite212

Sitka, Alaska 99835

Dear Garry/Board Memebers:

As a follow up to the motion made at the last GPIP Board meeting of April 7, 2016
regarding ABWT’s bulk water purchase agreement and tidelands lease, ABWI wishes to
respond in a counter proposal. ABWI proposes that it have a bulk water contract for 1
Billion gallons annually with a term the same as its last agreement amendment no.6. In
the contract ABWI would have 3 years to ship 50 million gallons of water in order to
maintain its contract. ABWI would pay $ 100,000 as a payment for bulk water at the
price of $.01 per gallon. The past amounts paid to the CBS of $ 1.35 million would be
also preserved as credits for water purchases. ABWI will also bid separately for more
water per the RFP for bulk water.

Regarding the loading station that ABWI constructed to load bulk water, ABWI proposes
that a tidesland lease be issued to ABWI either separately or in conjunction with a new
bulk water contract. ABWI agrees that it will load any other vessels who are authorized
by the CBS for bulk water sales. ABWI will perform the loading, subject to the
specifications of its loading station, at a cost of $.002 per gallon for water loading on
board a vessel.

Terry Trapp

CEO- ABWI

Supplving the purest water on earth...





















Proposal Guidelines

1.

Closing(s): This request for proposals/interest shall remain open until 2:00 pm Alaska time,
May 5, 2016.

Pre-Purchased Water Credits: In order to execute a water purchase contract, a deposit
toward non-refundable, pre-purchased water credits must be made to the City of Sitka. The
proposal should include the US dollar amount of deposit. There is no minimum deposit
amount, but the offered deposit will become an important point for consideration and
negotiations by the City. Funds deposited are non-refundable, but shall be applied as credits
toward water purchases as long as the water purchase contract remains in effect. If, for any
reason, the contract is terminated any remaining water credits shall be retained by the CBS.

Water Price: The proposal should include a proposed US dollar amount per gallon
purchased. There is no minimum amount per gallon but the offered price will become an
important point for consideration and negotiations by the City. Historically, the water
purchase price has been set at $0.01 per gallon based on delivery to the end of the bulk water
pipeline.

Water Quality: The City makes no warranty as to the quality of water sold. The City has no
control and thus no responsibility as to handling of the water once it is delivered from the end
of the bulk water pipeline.

Volume: Proposals can be for any volume of water desired within the water rights listed
above. The City has a total of 23,938 acre feet of water available for bulk export per year.

Contract Term: The term of the proposal can include option contracts for up to three years
or purchase agreements for up to 20 years. Purchase agreements will require the first
shipment of water, in a volume of not less than 50 million gallons, to occur within 12-36
months of the contract commencement date. Proposer should provide a timeframe of when
the first shipment of water will occur. If no water is shipped, unless otherwise agreed by the
City, the deposit for pre-paid water credits will be forfeited and the contract made null and
void.

Water Volumes Guaranteed: In order to ensure the contract is held by a viable business
and not for speculation purposes, an elastic schedule of water volumes guaranteed under the
contract shall be in place and shall be based upon performance with the volume of water
guaranteed for annual availability increasing when specific annual export volumes are met.

Delivery, Loading and Transportation of Water in Bulk: The parties agree that the bulk
water export company shall be solely responsible for the costs of acquisition, construction
and installation of any structure, facility or vessel beyond the point of delivery which it
determines to be required or convenient for the loading and transportation of bulk water
delivered to it the CBS, and for initiating and completing such acquisition, construction and
installation. All structures and facilities must comply with all Federal, State, and local law,
including zoning requirements.

Facilities:



a. Design & Construction: The water handling and docking facilities must be designed
and constructed in accordance with good engineering practice, able to meet all
building codes and have the approval of the City before and after construction.

b. Location: The City must approve the actual location of the berthing facility.

c. Land Lease: The City may lease uplands and submerged lands for a dock or any
other required infrastructure either to the bulk water purchaser or an agent for the
bulk water purchaser, such as a stevedoring or shipping company.

10. Qualifications: The bidder should submit a statement of qualifications with the proposal.
The statement must include a brief description of:

a. Qualifications and financial ability to complete the necessary infrastructure required
for loading bulk water.

b. A business plan to include proposed markets and status of contractual commitment
with others for sale and marketing of bulk water.

c. Experience in the water business of the company and key principals of the bidder.

d. Other information that will lend credence to the ability of the proposer to carry
forward as intended.

11. Water Supply Obligation: Sitka’s obligations to supply water are subject to the following

limitations;

a)

b)

d)

Notwithstanding any other provision of a contract for the export of raw water in bulk, the
CBS shall retain first right and priority to water required for its municipal drinking water
supply system and its municipal hydroelectric system, and it may suspend or limit raw
water deliveries in bulk in order to meet the requirements of its municipal drinking water
and hydroelectric systems.

The CBS will abide by the 1992 Blue Lake Watershed Control Plan as approved by the
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and described in City and Borough of Sitka
Ordinance No. 92-1091.

The CBS may temporarily suspend raw water deliveries in bulk in order to perform
routine maintenance on its municipal drinking water, hydroelectric and/or water delivery
systems, provided that the CBS shall give not less than 60 days prior notice of any such
planned suspensions.

The CBS shall be relieved of its obligation to deliver raw water in bulk in the event of
an interruption in water supply due to Force Majeure, or due to unforeseen circumstances
that require repairs to or reconstruction of the municipal drinking water, hydroelectric
systems, water delivery system, or other of Sitka's facilities, to the extent that the
availability of raw water in bulk for delivery per any contract is adversely affected,
and for so long as is required to effect such repairs or reconstruction, for such time asis
necessary to address such circumstances.

The volumes of CBS’s raw water deliveries in bulk for export are subject to the CBS’s
overriding obligation to comply with all of the conditions contained in Water
Appropriation Certificates ADL 43826, LAS 19669, and LAS 20526, including
compliance with the rule curve and the support of spawning, incubation, and rearing of
certain species of fish in Sawmill Creek and Blue Lake. Interpretation of applicable
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requirements and the means used to achieve compliance with such requirements shall be
in the CBS Administrator's sole discretion.

f) In the event the CBS is relieved of its obligation to make agreed quantities of water
available to a bulk water exporter for reasons noted in this paragraph or due to Force
Majeure or due to unforeseen circumstances, then any bulk water export company’s
obligation to take delivery of and to export water shall be reduced to the volumes actually
delivered by the CBS during that period of time and the time for any bulk water export
company’s performance shall be extended for a period equal to the period of time that the
CBS has been so relieved of its obligation.

Proposal Format and Content

A. Letter of Transmittal
B. Narrative

1. Brief description of the company including its experience, the experience of its key
individuals, and its ability to finance this project. Brief resumes of the Developer(s),
managers and operational personnel.

2. Provide a concept level business plan to include proposed markets and status of
contractual commitment with others for the sale and marketing of bulk water

3. Provide a concept level description of any required uplands facilities and/or submerged
tidelands that includes the square footage required and proposed use(s).

4. Provide your proposed purchase price for the water and the amount of your proposed pre-
purchase water credit deposit.

Submit six (6) copies of the completed Proposal in an opaque envelope marked as follows:

Municipal Administrator
City & Borough of Sitka
Office of the Municipal Clerk
City and Borough of Sitka
100 Lincoln Street; Sitka, Alaska 99835

Evaluation Criteria and Selection Process

A selection committee consisting of the Gary Paxton Industrial Park Board of Directors and the
Municipal Administrator for the CBS will evaluate the proposals and make a recommendation to
the Borough Assembly.

The committee will use the following criteria in deriving a numerical score for each proposal:

1. Qualifications, Financial Ability & Experience. From the proposal and from your own
knowledge of this firm, give from 1 to 20 points with the best score as 20.

2. Concept Plan. Does the concept plan express an understanding of the requirements of the
proposal and the basic business model for exporting bulk water? Score from 1 to 15
points.





















PURCHASE AGREEMENT
FOR RAW WATER
IN BULK FOR EXPORT

BETWEEN:
City and Borough of Sitka
100 Lincoln Street
Sitka, Alaska 99835

AND
Alaska Bulk Water Inc.
4500 Sawmill Creek Road
Sitka, Alaska 99835

1. Term and Documents Comprising this Agreement.

1.1 The initial term of this Agreement shall commence upon Alaska Bulk Water Inc. making a non-
refundable payment of $100,000 to the Administrator of the City and Borough of Sitka (hereinafter
referred to as Administrator), and shall end at 11:59 p.m. Alaska Standard Time on June 15, 2026. The
City and Borough of Sitka (hereinafter referred to as Sitka) hereby grants to Alaska Bulk Water Inc.
(hereinafter referred to as ABWI), the right to purchase raw water in bulk for export, to be delivered to
it by Sitka from the Blue Lake reservoir, a water source within Sitka on the terms and conditions set
forth herein.

1.2 At the conclusion of the initial term of this Agreement, each of three additional terms of five

(5) years each for extension of this Agreement may be exercised upon the consent of both parties. ABWI
must notify the Administrator in writing no later than four (4) months before the end of the initial
Agreement period of its desire to add an additional five-year term, and shall thereafter notify the
Administrator no later than four (4) months prior to the expiration of each exercised additional term of
its desire to exercise the next five-year time period. If ABWI does not timely notify the Administrator
in writing, the Agreement shall terminate at the expiration of the then-current contract term. Sitka's bulk
raw water price is subject to re-negotiation before the commencement of each additional term. If said
price is not agreed, the Agreement shall terminate at the expiration of the then-current contract term.
Either party may decide to not implement any additional term for any reason, in its sole discretion.

1.3 The Agreement consists of the 23 sections in this Agreement plus Appendix A (a map), Appendix
B (the “Prospective Purchaser Agreement Between the State of Alaska and the City-Borough of Sitka
for the Former Alaska Pulp Corporation Pulp Mill Property” dated April 28, 1999, including all
attachments, which specifically includes “Memorandum of Understanding between the State of Alaska
and the City and Borough of Sitka [:] Management Plan for Sawmill Cove Property (Former APC
Property).”), and Appendix C (a map of Block 4, Lot 9a).

2. Definitions.



In this Agreement, the following terms shall have the definitions stated:
a) “acre-foot” or “af”” means 325,851 U.S. gallons.
b) “annually” means 12 consecutive months.
¢) “beneficial use” means the application of water, purchased by ABWI for export or for use at
the point of delivery, to a useful purpose, including domestic, commercial, agricultural, wildlife,
and recreational uses.

d) "BG" or “bg” means billions of gallons.

€) “bulk water” means raw water or potable water sold by Sitka to ABWI under this Agreement,
and delivered by Sitka to ABWI in the measured quantities specified in this Agreement.

f) “deliver” or “to deliver” or “delivered” means Sitka making a specific quantity of water
available to ABWI at the point of delivery.

g) '"export" means the transportation by ABWI of bulk water to a destination outside the
hydrological unit of the Blue Lake drainage.

h) "gallon" means one US gallon or 3.785 liters.

1) Loading means transporting the raw bulk water which is the subject of this Agreement from
Blue Lake through pipelines and other conveyances into the ABWI-chartered ship for
export outside Alaskan waters.

j) “MG” or “mg” means millions of gallons.

k) “MGD” means millions of gallons per consecutive 24-hour period.

1) "per day" means calendar day starting at midnight.

m) “per week” means during a period of seven (7) consecutive days.

n) “per year” means during a period of 12 consecutive months.

o) “point of delivery” means that physical location at which the Sitka-owned physical facilities

and equipment, employed in the transportation of Sitka’s bulk water for delivery to ABWI,

terminates.

p) "raw water" means untreated water delivered by Sitka to the point of delivery from Blue Lake

via the Blue Lake penstock, a conduit which transports water from Blue Lake to the Blue Lake

Powerhouse as shown on Exhibit A.

q) “rule curve” means the relationship between the elevation of the water surface of Blue Lake

and the volume of water contained in Blue Lake, which regulates the reservation of water for
fish, wildlife, and habitat protection.



r) “Stage” means a time period in this Agreement that starts 12 months after the effective date of
this Agreement; a Stage is composed of one or more 12-month periods, with each 12-month
period starting on the anniversary of the day the Stage begins.

s) “Stage Anniversary Date” means the day starting a 12-month period in a Stage.
t) "ton" means one US short ton or 2,000 pounds.

u) “unforeseen” means an exceptional event, not contemplated by the parties in negotiating this
Agreement. Performance made more difficult or expensive than expected is not “unforeseen.”
The burden of proving that an event is unforeseen is on the party that advances it as a reason for
non-performance.

v) “water rights” means those rights to the beneficial use of water which are held by Sitka under
certificates of appropriation issued by the State of Alaska pursuant to Alaska law.

3. Water Volumes Contracted by ABWI from Sitka.

3.1 Sitka will make available to ABWI a total of 3,069 acre-feet of raw bulk water for a period of 36
months after the effective date of this Agreement. At the conclusion of the 36-month period described
in the previous sentence, ABWI's access to such water will be governed by the stages set out in
Subsection 3.2 of this Agreement, provided that ABWI has met the minimum export volumes set out in
Section 3 (this Section) of this Agreement. During the 36-month period immediately after the effective
date of this Agreement, ABWI must take delivery of and export at least 50 million gallons of raw bulk
water. If ABWI does not take delivery of and export at least 50 million gallons of raw bulk water from
Sitka pursuant to this Agreement in the first 36 months after the effective date of this Agreement, this
Agreement shall, at Sitka’s election, terminate and expire without further action by Sitka on the forty-
fifth (45™) day after ABWI’s receipt of the Administrator’s notice to ABWI by certified mail that ABWI
has failed to comply with Paragraph 3.1, unless within said 45-day period, ABWI cures its failure to take
delivery of and export at least 50 million gallons of raw bulk water from Sitka.

3.2 The Stages described in this subsection start 36 months after the effective date of this Agreement.
The maximum quantity of raw water in bulk available for export by ABWI from Sitka under this
Agreement and the minimum export requirements are set forth below as follows:

Maximum Minimum Minimum
Contract Water Acre-Feet Export Export
Increment Delivery per | Available Required  to | Required  to | Required
Stages 24-Hour Annually Move to Next | Remain at | Period of
Period Stage Stage Performance
Stage 1 33.6 MG 1,000 af 230.2 af (75mg) | 153.4 af (50mg) | 12-month
period
Stage 2 33.6 MG 2,000 af 306.9 af | 230.2 af (75mg) | 12-month
(100mg) period
Stage 3 33.6 MG 4,000 af 920.7 af | 306.9 af | 12-month
(300mg) (100mg) period
Stage 4 33.6 MG 10,000 af 3,068.9 af (1bg) | 920.7 af | 12-month
(300mg) period




Stage 5 33.6 MG ( )! N/A 3,068.9 af (1bg) | 12-month

period

Stage 1: Stage 1 begins 36 months after the effective date of this Agreement. Sitka will make
available to ABWI not less than 1,000 acre-feet (325.8 MG) of raw bulk water in a 12-month
period in Stage 1. To remain at Stage 1 for a 12 month-period starting on the Stage Anniversary
Date of Stage 1, ABWI must have taken delivery of and exported from Sitka a minimum of 153.4
af (50 MG) of raw bulk water within the 12-month period immediately preceding the most recent
Stage Anniversary Date of Stage 1. If ABWI does not take delivery and export the said minimum,
this Agreement shall, at Sitka’s election, terminate and expire without further action by Sitka on
the forty-fifth (45th) day after the Administrator gives notice to ABWI by certified mail that
ABWI has failed to meet such requirement, unless within the 45-day period ABWI cures such
failure as determined by Sitka in its sole discretion.

Stage 2: ABWI shall take delivery and pay for a minimum of 230.2 acre feet of raw bulk water
within a 12-month period during this Stage. If ABWI takes delivery of and exports a total of at
least 230.2 acre-feet (75 MG) of bulk water in a 12-month period, then the amount of raw bulk
water Sitka will make available for delivery to ABWI will be increased to 2,000 acre-feet of
water in a 12-month period, provided at that time that the Administrator has determined in his/her
sole discretion that Sitka still has adequate water quantities available and uncommitted. To
remain at Stage 2 for the next 12 months ABWI must have taken delivery of and exported from
Sitka at least 230.2 af (75 MG) within the 12-month period immediately preceding the most
recent Stage 2 Anniversary Date. If ABWI does not meet the requirement to remain at Stage 2
set out in the previous sentence, ABWI shall revert to Stage 1 thereby establishing a new Stage
1 Anniversary Date.

Stage 3: ABWI shall take delivery and pay for a minimum of 306.9 acre feet of raw bulk water
in a 12-month period during this Stage. If ABWI takes delivery of and exports a total of at least
306.9 acre-feet (100 MG) of bulk water per 12-month period, then the amount of water Sitka will
make available for delivery to ABWI will be increased to 4,000 acre-feet per year, provided at
that time that the Administrator has determined in his/her sole discretion that Sitka still has
adequate water quantities available and uncommitted. To remain at Stage 3 for the next 12
months ABWI must have taken delivery of and exported from Sitka at least 306.9 af (100 MG)
within the 12-month period preceding the most recent Stage 3 Anniversary Date. If ABWI does
not meet the requirement set out in the previous sentence to remain at Stage 3, ABWI shall revert
to Stage 2 thereby establishing a new Stage 2 Anniversary Date.

Stage 4: ABWI shall take delivery and pay for a minimum of 920.7 acre feet of raw bulk water
in a 12-month period during this Stage. If ABWI takes delivery of and exports a total of at least
920.7 acre-feet (300 MG) per 12-month period, then the amount of raw bulk water Sitka will
make available for delivery to ABWI will be increased to 10,000 acre-feet per 12-month period,
provided at that time that Sitka’s Administrator has determined in his/her sole discretion that
Sitka still has adequate water quantities available and uncommitted. To remain at Stage 4 for the
next 12 months ABWI must have taken delivery of and exported from Sitka at least 920.7 af (300
MG) within the 12-month period immediately preceding the most recent Stage 4 Anniversary

! Annual acre-feet available and the minimum amount of water available for export per 12-month period will be determined
solely by Sitka at that time based on availability.
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Date. If ABWI does not meet the requirement set out in the previous sentence to remain at Stage
4, ABWI shall revert to Stage 3 thereby establishing a new Stage 3 Anniversary Date.

Stage 5: ABWI shall take delivery and pay for a minimum of 3,068.9 acre feet of raw bulk water
ina 12-month period during this Stage. If ABWI takes delivery of and exports a total of 3,068.9
acre feet (1 billion gallons) of raw bulk water per 12-month period, then ABWI may request from
Sitka additional raw bulk water in a volume to be determined by the Administrator in his/her sole
discretion at that time, provided that the Administrator has determined in his/her sole discretion
that Sitka still has adequate water quantities available and uncommitted. To remain at Stage 5
for the next 12 months ABWI must have taken delivery of and exported from Sitka at least
3,068.9 af (1 BG) within the 12-month period immediately preceding the most recent Stage 5
Anniversary Date. If ABWI does not meet the requirement set out in the previous sentence to
remain at Stage 5, ABWI shall revert to Stage 4 thereby establishing a new Stage 4 Anniversary
Date.

3.3 If ABWI fails to take delivery of and export the required minimum volume specified in Stages 2
through 5 within the time periods specified for those Stages as set out in Subsection 3.2, the respective
obligations of Sitka to make raw bulk water available, and of ABWI to take delivery of and accept and
export such volume shall be reduced to the next lower Stage for the next 12-month period. If ABWI
meets the minimum performance requirement of that lower Stage within the time period specified, then
the next higher Stage shall again be in effect during the next 12-month period. The date upon which
Sitka moves ABWI either up or down from stage to stage will start the 12-month time period anew and
create a new Stage Anniversary Date, provided at that time that Sitka still has adequate raw bulk water
quantities available and uncommitted for export.

3.4  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if raw bulk water delivered by Sitka to
ABWI and exported by ABWI falls below 50 million gallons during any period of 12 consecutive month
period after the first 36 months after the effective date of this Agreement, this Agreement shall, at Sitka’s
election, terminate and expire without further action by Sitka on the forty-fifth (45th) day after to ABWI
receives notice from the Administrator that ABWI has breached or failed to comply with this Paragraph
3.4, unless within the 45-day period, ABWI cures its failure to take delivery of and export at least 50
million gallons of water from Sitka.

3.5  Atno time may ABWI take delivery of raw bulk water at a rate greater than 33.6 MGD or at a
rate less than 50 million gallons during the 12-month period after operations have commenced.

4. The Parties’ Rights and Obligations Regarding Water Delivered for Export.

4.1.  Sitka is entering into this Agreement to sell raw water in bulk pursuant to water to Sitka’s water
export authority contained in Water Appropriation Certificates LAS 19669 and ADL 43826. Sitka’s
obligation to deliver water to ABWI in the quantities specified in this Agreement is subject to these
conditions and limitations:

a) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, Sitka shall retain first right and
priority to water required for its municipal drinking water supply system and its municipal
hydroelectric system, and it may suspend or limit raw water deliveries in bulk to ABWI to meet
the requirements of its municipal drinking water and hydroelectric systems. Whether there is a
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sufficient volume of raw water available for these purposes shall be decided in the sole discretion
of the Administrator.

b) Sitka will abide by the 1992 Blue Lake Watershed Control Plan as approved by the U.S.

Environmental Protection Agency and described in City and Borough of Sitka Ordinance No.
92-1091.

¢) The Administrator may temporarily suspend raw water deliveries in bulk in order to perform
routine maintenance on its municipal drinking water, hydroelectric and/or water delivery
systems, provided that the Administrator shall give not less than 60 days prior notice to ABWI
of any such planned suspension.

d) Sitka shall be relieved of its obligation to deliver raw water in bulk to ABWI in the event of
an interruption in water supply due to circumstances that require repair to or reconstruction of
the municipal drinking water, hydroelectric systems, water delivery system, or other of Sitka’s
facilities. Delivery of raw water in bulk to ABWI may be reduced to the extent necessary to make
such repair(s) or reconstruction, and for so long as the Administrator in his/her sole discretion
determined is required to make such repairs or reconstruction.

e) The volumes of Sitka’s raw water deliveries in bulk to ABWI for export are subject to Sitka’s
overriding obligation to comply with all of the conditions contained in Water Appropriation
Certificates ADL 43826, LAS 19669, and LAS 20526, including compliance with the rule curve
and the support of spawning, incubation, and rearing of certain species of fish in Sawmill Creek
and Blue Lake. Interpretation of applicable requirements and the means used to achieve
compliance with such requirements shall be in the Administrator’s sole discretion.

f) In the event Sitka is relieved of its obligation to make agreed quantities of water available to
ABWI for reasons noted in this paragraph or due to Force Majeure or due to unforeseen
circumstances, then ABWI’s obligation to take delivery of and to export water shall be reduced
to the volumes actually delivered by Sitka during that period of time and the time within which
ABWI is authorized to receive raw bulk water shall be extended for a period equal to the period
of time that Sitka has been so relieved of its obligation.

4.2 ABWI agrees and warrants that the raw bulk water delivered to it by Sitka for export shall be
put to one or more beneficial uses by it or by its water purchasers. Breach of this warranty shall be a
material breach of this Agreement.

4.3 For that portion of the raw bulk water which is made available for human consumption ABWI shall,
at ABWD’s sole cost, promptly comply with all Government Regulations relating to the condition, use
or quality of such water for human consumption. ABWI shall establish staff and maintain an on-site
Water Quality laboratory to perform ABWI’s obligations under Paragraph 13.3.

S. [This section deliberately left blank.]

6. No Warranty by Sitka of Water Quality or Fitness for a Particular Purpose.

6.1 SITKA DOES NOT WARRANT THE QUALITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR
PURPOSE OF ANY WATER CONTRACTED BY IT FOR DELIVERY, AND/OR ACTUALLY
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DELIVERED, TO ABWI UNDER THIS AGREEMENT. ABWI ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES
THAT BEFORE ENTERING INTO THIS AGREEMENT, IT HAS EXAMINED SITKA’S WATER
SOURCE, SITKA’S METHODS OF DIVERSION, AND SITKA’S MEANS OF DELIVERY TO
ABWI OF THE QUANTITIES OF WATER WHICH ARE CONTRACTED UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT, AND THAT IT HAS FOUND ALL SUCH ITEMS ADEQUATE AND
SATISFACTORY FOR ABWI’S PURPOSES, INCLUDING HUMAN CONSUMPTION.

6.2  ABWI acknowledges and agrees that Sitka’s routine alterations in its hydroelectric operations
may produce temporary changes in water quality due to turbidity, and that the occurrence of such events
shall not alter or affect ABWI’s obligations under this Agreement.

6.3  ABWIacknowledges and agrees that the quality of raw water contracted by Sitka to be delivered
in bulk to ABWI for export may vary due to natural events over which Sitka has no control, which
include, without limitation, rainfall, drought, snowfall, avalanches and landslides, and that the
occurrence of such events shall not alter or affect ABWI’s contractual obligations under this Agreement,
except that the quantity of water ABWT is obligated to take delivery of and to export shall be reduced to
the quantity Sitka can and does make available for delivery to ABWI, as a consequence of an occurrence
of any of such natural events.

64  ABWI SHALL BE SOLELY RESPONSIBLE AND LIABLE FOR THE QUALITY AND
USEFULNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE, INCLUDING HUMAN CONSUMPTION, OF
ALL WATER EXPORTED BY, TRANSPORTED BY, USED BY, OR SOLD BY, OR DELIVERED
BY ABWI.

7. Purchase Price for Raw Bulk Water.
7.1  ABWI shall pay the following prices for raw bulk water for export from Sitka:

a. Raw water delivered in bulk to ABWI for export shall be priced at U.S. $0.01 (one
cent) per gallon. The purchase price includes Sitka cargo wharfage charges for bulk water
delivered to ABWTI’s vessel.

b. Raw water delivered by Sitka to ABWI for vessel wash-down, washout and any other
non-export application shall be priced at US $0.005 (one-half of a cent) per gallon. Such
quantities shall be separately metered, and shall not be included in the total quantities of
raw water delivered to ABWI for export.

7.2 ABWI shall pay for each volume of water loaded no later than fifteen (15) days after the
presentation of an invoice by the Administrator to ABWI for such water. Failure by ABWI to make
timely payment shall be a material breach of this Agreement and be cause for the Administrator to
suspend water delivery to ABWI.

7.3 Beginning July 1, 2021 and every calendar year thereafter, the prices charged by Sitka for raw
water delivered in bulk to ABWTI under this Agreement will be adjusted by the Administrator based on
the "All Items" figure for Seattle, Washington as published in the "Consumer Price Index for All Urban
Consumers" (CPI) published the most immediately before January 1 of the calendar year for which prices
are being calculated. Notwithstanding the previous sentence, in no event will the CPI adjustment
described in the previous sentence exceed + 3.0% nor the adjustment be made if the result of such
adjustment would be a decrease in any price charged under this Agreement.



7.4  ABWI shall pay Sitka for the volume of water delivered to ABWI as measured by flow meters
owned, operated, and documented by Sitka at or near the point of delivery. One year after the first
delivery of water the Administrator shall arrange for an independent third party to calibrate the flow
meters after which they will calibrated every other year during the term of this Agreement.

7.5  The non-refundable payment of $100,000 made by ABWI to commence this Agreement, and the
non-refundable payments of $1,350,000 previously made by ABWI to Sitka will be credited toward
export of water payments over the term of this Agreement.

8. Conditions for Maintaining ABWI’s Purchase Right and Obligation; Termination.

8.1  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, this Agreement shall, at Sitka’s
Administrator’s election, terminate and expire without further action by Sitka on the forty-fifth (45th)
day after the Administrator mails notice to ABWI by certified mail that ABWI has breached or failed to
comply with one or more of the conditions or requirements of this Agreement, or become insolvent, or
abandoned the project unless within said 45-day period, ABWI cures the specified default or defaults to
Sitka’s satisfaction, as determined by Sitka in its sole discretion.

8.2 Upon termination, all legal rights and obligations as between Sitka and ABWI under this
Agreement shall cease, except that ABWI’s obligations to Sitka under Sections 13, 14, 15, 16, and 17 of
this Agreement shall survive termination.

9. Sitka’s Permitting Actions.

The Administrator shall take any and all actions which she/he determines, in the exercise of her/his sole
discretion, to be reasonable, necessary, and economically feasible to maintain in good standing any
permit, license, certificate, allocation, appropriation or other authorization required for Sitka to fulfill its
obligations under this Agreement.

10.  Delivery, Loading, and Transportation of Water in Bulk.

10.1 Sitka hereby grants a license to ABWI over a portion of Block 4, Lot 9A consisting of approximately
1,875 square feet as pictorially depicted on Appendix C to use the pipeline and other facilities for loading
water which ABWI has constructed in accordance with the following terms and conditions:

a. The Administrator may inspect the license area at any time. The Administrator shall review
the license for compliance with this Paragraph 10 every five years and make
recommendations about renewal to Sitka. The license granted herein is revocable at Sitka’s
sole discretion and shall terminate upon the earlier of completion of the work described in
subparagraphs d. and e. of this Paragraph 10 or termination of this Agreement.

b. The right to keep and maintain currently installed water loading infrastructure within Sitka-
owned tidelands is conditioned on ABWI making such infrastructure available for use by any
other bulk water export company for a loading fee not greater than $0.002 per gallon.

c. ABWI shall completely remove the pipeline and other facilities for loading bulk water, which
it has constructed within the license area as depicted on exhibit A, within 6 months of the
termination of this Agreement. Any such materials not removed from the license area within
6 months shall be deemed abandoned and become Sitka’s property at Sitka’s option.
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d. ABWI shall completely restore the license area as depicted on Exhibit A to its original,
preconstruction condition to the Administrator’s sole satisfaction within 6 months of the
termination of this Agreement. Should ABWI failed to restore the license area to the
Administrator’s satisfaction, the Administrator may contract with third parties to perform the
work and ABWI shall pay Sitka for all costs of restoration required to restore the license area
to the Administrator’s satisfaction.

e. Should ABWI fail to complete the work described in subparagraphs d. and e. above by the
fifth month after termination, it shall provide Sitka a written report describing the work that
remains to be done and ABWI’s plan for completing that work within the next 30 days.

10.2 ABWI shall be solely responsible for the costs of acquisition, construction and installation,
maintenance and repair of any structure, facility or vessel downstream of the point of delivery which it
determines to be required or convenient for the loading and transportation of bulk water delivered to it
by Sitka, and for initiating and completing such acquisition, construction and installation. All structures
and facilities must comply with all Federal, State, and local law, including zoning requirements. Within
30 days of the execution of this Agreement ABWI shall apply for and diligently pursue approval of all
of the permits and authorizations required to construct and operate the pipeline and other facilities for
loading raw bulk water which it has already constructed within the license area shown on Exhibit A.

10.3 Sitka shall retain the right to own, and operate a raw bulk water delivery pipeline that serves the
Gary Paxton Industrial Park. In such event, Sitka may require ABWI to use Sitka’s facilities and may
change the point of delivery to the point at which Sitka’s facilities end. Unless and until Sitka provides
such new facilitiecs ABWI shall be fully responsible, at its own cost and expense, for arranging and
accomplishing transport of raw bulk water from the point of delivery established by Sitka.

10.4 ABWI shall pay such port vessel dockage fees established by Sitka. SITKA DOES NOT
WARRANT THE QUALITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF ANY DOCK OR
WHARF AT SUCH WATERFRONT, AND ABWI MUST ASSURE THE ADMINISTRATOR OF
THE FEASIBILITY OF A PARTICULAR USE BEFORE ENGAGING IN SUCH USE.

10.5 ABWI shall be solely responsible for arranging the transportation of all water delivered to it by
Sitka for export.

10.6  No later than 30 days before the first delivery of water takes place under this Agreement, ABWI
will designate in a writing to the Administrator a local representative as ABWI’s continuing personal
contact with the Administrator and its subordinate departments, agencies and authorities.

10.7 Sitka’s flow meter which is used to calculate the quantities of water delivered to ABWI shall be
located near the point of delivery.

11.  Ballast Water and Wash Water Discharges.

11.1  ABWTI shall comply with all applicable international, federal, state, and local requirements
regarding the discharge of any ballast water (including bilge water) or any wastes at all times and as to
all vessels traveling to and from Silver Bay and/or Sawmill Cove for the purpose of receiving any raw
bulk water from Sitka under this Agreement. Such requirements described in this Section include, but



are not limited to, those in Section IV of the Sawmill Cove Management Plan, which is included in
Appendix B.

11.2 ABWI shall comply with all applicable federal, state and local requirements regarding the use
and disposal of any raw or treated water delivered to ABWI by Sitka for the purposes of vessel wash-
down or washout, or any other non-export application.

12. Water Loading Plan Requirements.

12.1 Before ABWI loads any bulk water delivered to it by Sitka, ABWI shall submit to the
Administrator a written Water Loading Plan. This Plan shall be deemed approved by the Administrator
unless no later than seven days after its submission the Administrator in his or her sole discretion
rejects—or requires ABWI to resubmit—any portion of the Plan. Such action by the Administrator shall
be in a writing to ABWI that states the deficiency. Sitka shall deliver no bulk water to ABWI and ABWI
shall not load any bulk water delivered to it by Sitka as long as any portion of the Plan has been rejected
and not approved after re-submittal. ABWI shall submit a separate Water Loading Plan at least ten (10)
days before each loading of bulk water under this Agreement.

12.2  The Water Loading Plans required by this section shall address administrative, environmental,
and logistical matters related to the loading of water. The issues and items to be addressed in each Water
Loading Plan shall include, without limitation, each of the following:

a) identify and provide information requested by the Administrator regarding any vessel to be
used by ABWTI in the loading or transport of raw bulk water;

b) steps to be taken to insure the safety of persons in any way involved in the loading
of bulk water;

c) certification that ABWI has a Contingency Plan that meets all of the requirements of State law
applicable to the vessel that is being loaded;

d) steps to be taken to insure the safety of the public before, during, and after loading of raw
bulk water;

€) steps to be taken to address the effects of wind and tidal conditions on the loading;
f) steps to be taken concerning moorage and access to vessels during loading;

g) steps to assure communication before, during, and after loading between those loading and
the Administrator or his/her designee;

h) details about the precise location and proposed use of any structure, facility, pipe, pipeline, or
other infrastructure to be used in the loading of raw bulk water and details describing how ABWI
intends to address the risks associated with a catastrophic event arising from ABWI’s loading
activities or ABWTI’s failure to adhere to the proposed Water Loading Plan;

1) steps to be taken to avoid conflicts with other vessel traffic and industrial park users;

J) details on proposed handling of any ballast water in any vessel to be used in the loading of
raw bulk water, including plans to respond to the unauthorized discharge of such water;
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k) details on proposed handling of any residual and/or wash water, or other materials in the tanks
of any vessel to be used in the loading;

1) the days and the periods of time within each day that raw bulk water is proposed to be loaded;

m) details describing how the proposed Water Loading Plan shall be made consistent with
Appendix B, which includes the “Prospective Purchaser Agreement Between the State of Alaska
and the City-Borough of Sitka for the Former Alaska Pulp Corporation Pulp Mill Property” dated
April 28, 1999, including all attachments, which specifically includes “Memorandum of
Understanding between the State of Alaska and the City and Borough of Sitka [:] Management
Plan for Sawmill Cove Property (Former APC Property).” The details describing such
consistency must include any and all specific steps to be taken to avoid anchoring in prohibited
areas and in any way disturbing the sea bottom in the “No Disturbance” zone described in the
last-referenced documents; and

12.3  ABWI shall comply with all provisions of each Water Loading Plan after all of such provisions
have been approved either upon submittal or re-submittal under Subsection 12.1 above, as to the water
loading operation for which the Water Loading Plan was submitted.

124 APPROVAL BY SITKA’S ADMINISTRATOR OF ANY WATER LOADING PLAN SHALL
NOT IMPOSE UPON SITKA THE STATUS OF GUARANTOR OF THE FEASIBILITY,
PROPRIETY, OR SAFETY OF ANY ASPECT OF AN APPROVED WATER LOADING PLAN, NOR
SHALL SUCH APPROVAL CREATE OR CONFER BENEFITS ON ANY THIRD PARTY.

13. Indemnification of Sitka.
13.1 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, ABWI shall defend, indemnify, and
hold Sitka harmless from any liability, claim, demand, action, obligation, or proceeding of any kind or
nature, based upon, arising out of, or related to:
a. any defect or flaw in the quality of raw bulk water supplied under this Agreement;
b. any delays on the part of Sitka in the delivery of raw bulk water under this Agreement as the
result of the mechanical or physical breakdown of equipment or facilities owned or operated by

the Sitka or other unforeseen event;

c. claims arising from the transportation or shipment of raw bulk water after such water has left
Sitka’s water delivery system and the point of delivery;

d. injuries to employees of ABWI or any of its contractors or their employees;
e. damages resulting from accidents involving mooring, unmooring, navigation of vessels, or

cargo loading operations, including but not limited to claims for personal injury, property
damage, and pollution; and
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f.  violations and claims of violations related to the water loading plan described in Paragraph
12.2;

g. harm, including illness and death, to persons who consume the raw bulk water caused by the
failure of ABWI to comply with Paragraph 4.3 of this Agreement.

13.2 ABWI shall at all times during this Agreement maintain insurance policies providing umbrella
coverage against matters including but not limited to those covered by this Agreement in an amount not
less than U.S. $5,000,000, with the City and Borough of Sitka named as an additional insured, and with
a waiver of subrogation against Sitka. ABWI shall provide a copy of the certificate insurance ABWI to
Sitka within 60 days after the effective date of this Agreement.

13.3 ABWI shall be responsible for ensuring that each of its contractors is qualified to do business in
Alaska and refrains from activities for which insurance cannot be obtained. ABWI shall assure that any
contractor for ABWI which is to perform any task or work within the territorial jurisdiction of Sitka has
insurance appropriate to any task to be performed by that contractor, and ABW1 shall deliver a certificate
of such insurance to the Administrator within 30 days of such hiring.

13.3 ABWI shall ensure that its customers take full responsibility for water product quality that they
receive subsequent to ABWI’s on-site Quality Control laboratory tests. ABWI’s Quality control staff
shall securely store a reasonable quantity of water sampled from each bulk water shipment for 24 months
for re-analysis, if required for any reason by the Administrator. At ABWI’s expense the Administrator
shall hire an independent third party Quality Control laboratory to monitor the security of ABWI’s Water
Quality Control staff’s water sample storage and ABWTI’s staff’s adherence to nationally recognized
storage protocols.

14.  Assignment.

This Agreement, which is in the nature of a personal services contract, may not be assigned by either
party without the prior written consent of the other party, which shall have full discretion to grant or
withhold such approval, in its sole and absolute discretion except as provided below.

Should Sitka form a Port Authority, or similar entity, this Agreement shall be completely transferable to
said Port Authority. A transfer of the Agreement to any such entity shall not create any restrictions upon
ABWI to purchase water other than those restrictions set out in this Agreement.

15S.  Waiver and Integration.

This Agreement integrates the entire Agreement between the parties regarding the sale and purchase of
raw water in bulk. This Agreement supersedes all previous agreements, discussions, and negotiations,
whether written or oral. Each party specifically acknowledges and represents that it has had ample
opportunity to consult with legal counsel regarding this Agreement, and that any rule that an agreement
should be construed against its drafter shall not apply to this Agreement.

16.  Force Majeure.

Neither party shall be in breach of this Agreement as the result of any failure or delay in performing any
of the obligations in this Agreement if such failure to perform or delay in performing is directly and
proximately caused by storm, flood, avalanche, landslide, earthquake, tsunami, act of the public enemy,
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war, rebellion, insurrection, sabotage, epidemic, quarantine restriction, or act of God. Sitka shall not be
in breach of this Agreement as the result of any failure or delay in performing any of its obligations in
this Agreement if such failure to perform or delay in performing is directly and proximately caused by
any order of any United States court of competent jurisdiction, or by any act, rule, regulation, order or
directive of any superior governmental unit or any agency thereof, or by any termination, modification,
suspension, or revocation of any permit, license, allocation, appropriation, or certificate held by Sitka.
In the event Sitka or ABWI is relieved of an obligation under this Agreement due to Force Majeure, time
periods under this Agreement shall be adjusted accordingly. The party asserting a Force Majeure event
must demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that the failure or delay in performance is directly
and proximately caused.by a Force Majeure event,

17. Applicable Law.

ABWI shall comply with all provisions of law applicable to its obligations under this Agreement.
This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws and procedures of the State of Alaska.

18. Dispute Resolution.

18.1 GOOD FAITH EFFORTS OF THE PARTIES. Upon notice by either party to the other party of
any dispute or claim arising out of or related to this Agreement the parties shall first make a good-faith
endeavor to resolve the dispute or claim by meeting informally “face-to-face” within 15 days of such
notice to mediate the dispute or claim in good faith without a third-party mediator.

18.2 JURISDICTION AND VENUE. Should any party hereto institute any action or proceeding to
enforce any provision hereof or for damages by reason of any alleged breach of any section of this
Agreement or for any other remedy, such an action shall be brought in the Superior Court for the State
of Alaska. Venue for any such action or lawsuit shall lie exclusively in Sitka, Alaska. The parties
specifically agree not to remove jurisdiction to federal courts on the grounds of diversity of citizenship.

18.3 ATTORNEY’S FEES AND LEGAL EXPENSES. Should any party hereto institute any action or
proceeding to enforce any provision hereof or for damages by reason of any alleged breach of any section
of this Agreement or for any other remedy, the party that is successful in such action shall be entitled to
receive from the losing party all of its reasonable legal costs and expenses, including without limitation,
reasonable attorneys’ fees and all arbitration costs.

19. Effective Date.

This Agreement shall become effective upon ABWI making a non-refundable payment of $100,000 to
Sitka, no later than June 30, 2016. The date on which ABWI makes such a payment will be the “effective
date” for the purpose of any time period which incorporates that term in this Agreement. Should ABWI
fail to make such a payment by June 30, 2016 this Agreement is null and void.

20.  Authority.

The parties represent and warrant to each other that they have the full, complete, and absolute authority
to enter into this Agreement; that this Agreement has been duly authorized by the governing body of
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each party; that the person executing this Agreement on its behalf has the full power and authority to do
so; and that this Agreement is binding and enforceable against it in accordance with its terms. ABWI
acknowledges that this Agreement is only effective against Sitka if the City and Borough of Sitka
Assembly votes to authorize the Administrator to execute this Agreement on behalf of Sitka. By affixing
his signature to this Agreement the Administrator represents and warrants that the Assembly has so
voted.

21. Amendment and Severability.

This Agreement may not be amended except by written agreement of both parties. If any provision of
this Agreement or any application thereof to any person, entity, or circumstance is held invalid, the
remainder of this Agreement and application thereof to any person, entity, or circumstances shall not be
affected thereby.

22. Time of Essence.
Time is of the essence in this Agreement.
23. Notices.

Any notices required or authorized to be given by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be sent
by email and by either commercial courier, facsimile, or by certified U.S. mail, postage prepaid and
return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party at the address stated below or such address as the
party shall have designated to the other parties in accordance with this Section. Such notice shall be
effective on the date of receipt through the mails or by courier by the addressee party, except that any
facsimiles received after 5:00 p.m. of the addressee's local time shall be deemed delivered the next day.

If to ABWI:  Weatherford Thompson
Alaska Bulk Water Inc.
1301 1% Ave. West
Albany, Oregon 97321
c/o Andrew J. Bean

If to Sitka: Administrator
City and Borough of Sitka
100 Lincoln St
Sitka, Alaska, 99835

IN WITNESS THEREQOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the dates shown
below.

ALASKA BULK WATER INC. THE CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA
DATE DATE

TERRY TRAPP, CEO MARK GORMAN, Administrator

ALASKA BULK WATER INC. THE CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA
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ATTEST:

DATE

SARA PETERSON CMC
Municipal Clerk
THE CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA

STATE OF ALASKA )
)ss. ACKNOWLEDGMENT
FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT )
THIS CERTIFIES that on this day of , 2016, before me, a Notary Public in and

for the State of Alaska personally appeared TERRY TRAPP to me known and known to me to be the
person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing PURCHASE AGREEMENT FOR BLUE LAKE
RAW BULK WATER and after being first duly sworn according to law, he stated to me under oath
that he is the CEO of ALASKA BULK WATER INC., that he has been authorized by said company
to execute the foregoing PURCHASE AGREEMENT FOR BLUE LAKE RAW BULK WATER on
its behalf and he executed the same freely and voluntarily as the free act and deed of said corporation.

Notary Public
My Commission Expires:

STATE OF ALASKA )
)ss. MUNICIPAL ACKNOWLEDGMENT
FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT )
THIS CERTIFIES that on this day of , 2016 before me, a Notary Public in and

for the State of Alaska, personally appeared MARK GORMAN to me known and known to me to be
the person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing PURCHASE AGREEMENT FOR BLUE
LAKE RAW BULK WATER, and after being first duly sworn according to law, he stated to me under
oath that he is the ADMINISTRATOR of the City and Borough of Sitka, Alaska, a municipality
organized under the laws of the State of Alaska, that he has been authorized by said municipality to
execute the foregoing PURCHASE AGREEMENT FOR BLUE LAKE RAW BULK WATER on
its behalf and he executed the same freely and voluntarily as the free act and deed of said corporation.

WITNESS my hand and official seal the day and year in this certificate first above written.

Notary Public for Alaska
My Commission Expires:
Residing at Sitka, Alaska
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PURCHASE AGREEMENT
FOR RAW WATER
IN BULK FOR EXPORT

BETWEEN:
City and Borough of Sitka
100 Lincoln Street
Sitka, Alaska 99835

AND
Alaska Bulk Water Inc.
4500 Sawmill Creek Road
Sitka, Alaska 99835

1. Term and Documents Comprising this Agreement.

1.1 The initial term of this Agreement shall commence upon Alaska Bulk Water Inc. making a non-
refundable payment of $128,205 to the Administrator of the City and Borough of Sitka (hereinafter
referred to as Administrator), and shall end at 11:59 p.m. Alaska Standard Time on June 15, 2036. The
City and Borough of Sitka (hereinafter referred to as Sitka) hereby grants to Alaska Bulk Water Inc.
(hereinafter referred to as ABWI), the right to purchase raw water in bulk for export, to be delivered to
it by Sitka from the Blue Lake reservoir, a water source within Sitka on the terms and conditions set
forth herein.

1.2 At the conclusion of the initial term of this Agreement, each of three additional terms of five

(5) years each for extension of this Agreement may be exercised upon the consent of both parties. ABWI
must notify the Administrator in writing no later than four (4) months before the end of the initial
Agreement period of its desire to add an additional five-year term, and shall thereafter notify the
Administrator no later than four (4) months prior to the expiration of each exercised additional term of
its desire to exercise the next five-year time period. If ABWI does not timely notify the Administrator
in writing, the Agreement shall terminate at the expiration of the then-current contract term. Sitka's bulk
raw water price is subject to re-negotiation before the commencement of each additional term. If said
price is not agreed, the Agreement shall terminate at the expiration of the then-current contract term.
Either party may decide to not implement any additional term for any reason, in its sole discretion.

1.3 The Agreement consists of the 23 sections in this Agreement plus Appendix A (a map), Appendix
B (the “Prospective Purchaser Agreement Between the State of Alaska and the City-Borough of Sitka
for the Former Alaska Pulp Corporation Pulp Mill Property” dated April 28, 1999, including all
attachments, which specifically includes “Memorandum of Understanding between the State of Alaska
and the City and Borough of Sitka [:] Management Plan for Sawmill Cove Property (Former APC
Property).”), and Appendix C (a map of Block 4, Lot 9a).

2. Definitions.



In this Agreement, the following terms shall have the definitions stated:
a) “acre-foot” or “af” means 325,851 U.S. gallons.
b) ‘“annually” means 12 consecutive months.
c) “beneficial use” means the application of water, purchased by ABWI for export or for use at
the point of delivery, to a useful purpose, including domestic, commercial, agricultural, wildlife,
and recreational uses.

d) "BG" or “bg” means billions of gallons.

€) “bulk water” means raw water or potable water sold by Sitka to ABWI under this Agreement,
and delivered by Sitka to ABWI in the measured quantities specified in this Agreement.

f) “deliver” or “to deliver” or “delivered” means Sitka making a specific quantity of water
available to ABWI at the point of delivery.

g) "export" means the transportation by ABWI of bulk water to a destination outside the
hydrological unit of the Blue Lake drainage.

h) "gallon" means one US gallon or 3.785 liters.

i) Loading means transporting the raw bulk water which is the subject of this Agreement from
Blue Lake through pipelines and other conveyances into the ABWI-chartered ship for
export outside Alaskan waters.

J) “MG” or “mg” means millions of gallons.

k) “MGD” means millions of gallons per consecutive 24-hour period.

1) "per day" means calendar day starting at midnight.

m) “per week” means during a period of seven (7) consecutive days.

n) “per year” means during a period of 12 consecutive months.

o) “point of delivery” means that physical location at which the Sitka-owned physical facilities

and equipment, employed in the transportation of Sitka’s bulk water for delivery to ABWI,

terminates.

p) "raw water" means untreated water delivered by Sitka to the point of delivery from Blue Lake

via the Blue Lake penstock, a conduit which transports water from Blue Lake to the Blue Lake

Powerhouse as shown on Exhibit A.

q) “rule curve” means the relationship between the elevation of the water surface of Blue Lake

and the volume of water contained in Blue Lake, which regulates the reservation of water for
fish, wildlife, and habitat protection.



r) “Stage” means a time period in this Agreement that starts 12 months after the effective date of
this Agreement; a Stage is composed of one or more 12-month periods, with each 12-month
period starting on the anniversary of the day the Stage begins.

s) “Stage Anniversary Date” means the day starting a 12-month period in a Stage.
t) "ton" means one US short ton or 2,000 pounds.

u) “unforeseen” means an exceptional event, not contemplated by the parties in negotiating this
Agreement. Performance made more difficult or expensive than expected is not “unforeseen.”
The burden of proving that an event is unforeseen is on the party that advances it as a reason for
non-performance.

v) “water rights” means those rights to the beneficial use of water which are held by Sitka under
certificates of appropriation issued by the State of Alaska pursuant to Alaska law.

3. Water Volumes Contracted by ABWI from Sitka.

3.1 Sitka will make available to ABWI a total of 3,069 acre-feet of raw bulk water for a period of 36
months after the effective date of this Agreement. At the conclusion of the 36-month period described
in the previous sentence, ABWI's access to such water will be governed by the stages set out in
Subsection 3.2 of this Agreement, provided that ABWI has met the minimum export volumes set out in
Section 3 (this Section) of this Agreement. During the 36-month period immediately after the effective
date of this Agreement, ABWI must take delivery of and export at least 50 million gallons of raw bulk
water. If ABWI does not take delivery of and export at least 50 million gallons of raw bulk water from
Sitka pursuant to this Agreement in the first 36 months after the effective date of this Agreement, this
Agreement shall, at Sitka’s election, terminate and expire without further action by Sitka on the forty-
fifth (45") day after ABWI’s receipt of the Administrator’s notice to ABWI by certified mail that ABWI
has failed to comply with Paragraph 3.1, unless within said 45-day period, ABWI cures its failure to take
delivery of and export at least 50 million gallons of raw bulk water from Sitka.

3.2 The Stages described in this subsection start 36 months after the effective date of this Agreement.
The maximum quantity of raw water in bulk available for export by ABWI from Sitka under this
Agreement and the minimum export requirements are set forth below as follows:

Maximum Minimum Minimum
Contract Water Acre-Feet Export Export
Increment Delivery per | Available Required to | Required to | Required
Stages 24-Hour Annually Move to Next | Remain at | Period of
Period Stage Stage Performance
Stage 1 33.6 MG 1,000 af 230.2 af (75mg) | 153.4 af (50mg) | 12-month
period
Stage 2 33.6 MG 2,000 af 306.9 af | 230.2 af (75mg) | 12-month
(100mg) period
Stage 3 33.6 MG 4,000 af 920.7 af | 306.9 af | 12-month
(300mg) (100mg) period
Stage 4 33.6 MG 10,000 af 3,068.9 af (1bg) | 920.7 af | 12-month
(300mg) period




Stage 5 33.6 MG ( Y | N/A 3,068.9 af (1bg) | 12-month

period

Stage 1. Stage 1 begins 36 months after the effective date of this Agreement. Sitka will make
available to ABWI not less than 1,000 acre-feet (325.8 MG) of raw bulk water in a 12-month
period in Stage 1. To remain at Stage 1 for a 12 month-period starting on the Stage Anniversary
Date of Stage 1, ABWI must have taken delivery of and exported from Sitka a minimum of 153.4
af (50 MG) of raw bulk water within the 12-month period immediately preceding the most recent
Stage Anniversary Date of Stage 1. If ABWI does not take delivery and export the said minimum,
this Agreement shall, at Sitka’s election, terminate and expire without further action by Sitka on
the forty-fifth (45th) day after the Administrator gives notice to ABWI by certified mail that
ABWI has failed to meet such requirement, unless within the 45-day period ABWI cures such
failure as determined by Sitka in its sole discretion.

Stage 2: ABWI shall take delivery and pay for a minimum of 230.2 acre feet of raw bulk water
within a 12-month period during this Stage. If ABWI takes delivery of and exports a total of at
least 230.2 acre-feet (75 MG) of bulk water in a 12-month period, then the amount of raw bulk
water Sitka will make available for delivery to ABWI will be increased to 2,000 acre-feet of
water in a 12-month period, provided at that time that the Administrator has determined in his/her
sole discretion that Sitka still has adequate water quantities available and uncommitted. To
remain at Stage 2 for the next 12 months ABW1 must have taken delivery of and exported from
Sitka at least 230.2 af (75 MG) within the 12-month period immediately preceding the most
recent Stage 2 Anniversary Date. If ABWI does not meet the requirement to remain at Stage 2
set out in the previous sentence, ABWI shall revert to Stage 1 thereby establishing a new Stage
1 Anniversary Date.

Stage 3: ABWI shall take delivery and pay for a minimum of 306.9 acre feet of raw bulk water
in a 12-month period during this Stage. If ABWI takes delivery of and exports a total of at least
306.9 acre-feet (100 MG) of bulk water per 12-month period, then the amount of water Sitka will
make available for delivery to ABWI will be increased to 4,000 acre-feet per year, provided at
that time that the Administrator has determined in his/her sole discretion that Sitka still has
adequate water quantities available and uncommitted. To remain at Stage 3 for the next 12
months ABWI must have taken delivery of and exported from Sitka at least 306.9 af (100 MG)
within the 12-month period preceding the most recent Stage 3 Anniversary Date. If ABWI does
not meet the requirement set out in the previous sentence to remain at Stage 3, ABWI shall revert
to Stage 2 thereby establishing a new Stage 2 Anniversary Date.

Stage 4: ABWI shall take delivery and pay for a minimum of 920.7 acre feet of raw bulk water
in a 12-month period during this Stage. If ABWI takes delivery of and exports a total of at least
920.7 acre-feet (300 MG) per 12-month period, then the amount of raw bulk water Sitka will
make available for delivery to ABWI will be increased to 10,000 acre-feet per 12-month period,
provided at that time that Sitka’s Administrator has determined in his/her sole discretion that
Sitka still has adequate water quantities available and uncommitted. To remain at Stage 4 for the
next 12 months ABWI must have taken delivery of and exported from Sitka at least 920.7 af (300
MG) within the 12-month period immediately preceding the most recent Stage 4 Anniversary

! Annual acre-feet available and the minimum amount of water available for export per 12-month period will be determined
solely by Sitka at that time based on availability.
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Date. If ABWI does not meet the requirement set out in the previous sentence to remain at Stage
4, ABWI shall revert to Stage 3 thereby establishing a new Stage 3 Anniversary Date.

Stage 5: ABWI shall take delivery and pay for a minimum of 3,068.9 acre feet of raw bulk water
ina 12-month period during this Stage. If ABWI takes delivery of and exports a total of 3,068.9
acre feet (1 billion gallons) of raw bulk water per 12-month period, then ABWI may request from
Sitka additional raw bulk water in a volume to be determined by the Administrator in his/her sole
discretion at that time, provided that the Administrator has determined in his/her sole discretion
that Sitka still has adequate water quantities available and uncommitted. To remain at Stage 5
for the next 12 months ABWI must have taken delivery of and exported from Sitka at least
3,068.9 af (1 BG) within the 12-month period immediately preceding the most recent Stage 5
Anniversary Date. If ABWI does not meet the requirement set out in the previous sentence to
remain at Stage 5, ABWI shall revert to Stage 4 thereby establishing a new Stage 4 Anniversary
Date.

3.3 If ABWI fails to take delivery of and export the required minimum volume specified in Stages 2
through 5 within the time periods specified for those Stages as set out in Subsection 3.2, the respective
obligations of Sitka to make raw bulk water available, and of ABWI to take delivery of and accept and
export such volume shall be reduced to the next lower Stage for the next 12-month period. If ABWI
meets the minimum performance requirement of that lower Stage within the time period specified, then
the next higher Stage shall again be in effect during the next 12-month period. The date upon which
Sitka moves ABWI either up or down from stage to stage will start the 12-month time period anew and
create a new Stage Anniversary Date, provided at that time that Sitka still has adequate raw bulk water
quantities available and uncommitted for export.

3.4  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if raw bulk water delivered by Sitka to
ABWTI and exported by ABWI falls below 50 million gallons during any period of 12 consecutive month
period after the first 36 months after the effective date of this Agreement, this Agreement shall, at Sitka’s
election, terminate and expire without further action by Sitka on the forty-fifth (45th) day after to ABWI
receives notice from the Administrator that ABWI has breached or failed to comply with this Paragraph
3.4, unless within the 45-day period, ABWI cures its failure to take delivery of and export at least 50
million gallons of water from Sitka.

3.5  Atno time may ABWI take delivery of raw bulk water at a rate greater than 33.6 MGD or at a
rate less than 50 million gallons during the 12-month period after operations have commenced.

4. The Parties’ Rights and Obligations Regarding Water Delivered for Export.

4.1.  Sitka is entering into this Agreement to sell raw water in bulk pursuant to water to Sitka’s water
export authority contained in Water Appropriation Certificates LAS 19669 and ADL 43826. Sitka’s
obligation to deliver water to ABWI in the quantities specified in this Agreement is subject to these
conditions and limitations:

a) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, Sitka shall retain first right and
priority to water required for its municipal drinking water supply system and its municipal
hydroelectric system, and it may suspend or limit raw water deliveries in bulk to ABWI to meet
the requirements of its municipal drinking water and hydroelectric systems. Whether there is a
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sufficient volume of raw water available for these purposes shall be decided in the sole discretion
of the Administrator.

b) Sitka will abide by the 1992 Blue Lake Watershed Control Plan as approved by the U.S.

Environmental Protection Agency and described in City and Borough of Sitka Ordinance No.
92-1091.

¢) The Administrator may temporarily suspend raw water deliveries in bulk in order to perform
routine maintenance on its municipal drinking water, hydroelectric and/or water delivery
systems, provided that the Administrator shall give not less than 60 days prior notice to ABWI
of any such planned suspension.

d) Sitka shall be relieved of its obligation to deliver raw water in bulk to ABWI in the event of
an interruption in water supply due to circumstances that require repair to or reconstruction of
the municipal drinking water, hydroelectric systems, water delivery system, or other of Sitka’s
facilities. Delivery of raw water in bulk to ABWI may be reduced to the extent necessary to make
such repair(s) or reconstruction, and for so long as the Administrator in his/her sole discretion
determined is required to make such repairs or reconstruction.

e€) The volumes of Sitka’s raw water deliveries in bulk to ABWI for export are subject to Sitka’s
overriding obligation to comply with all of the conditions contained in Water Appropriation
Certificates ADL 43826, LAS 19669, and LAS 20526, including compliance with the rule curve
and the support of spawning, incubation, and rearing of certain species of fish in Sawmill Creek
and Blue Lake. Interpretation of applicable requirements and the means used to achieve
compliance with such requirements shall be in the Administrator’s sole discretion.

f) In the event Sitka is relieved of its obligation to make agreed quantities of water available to
ABWI for reasons noted in this paragraph or due to Force Majeure or due to unforeseen
circumstances, then ABWI’s obligation to take delivery of and to export water shall be reduced
to the volumes actually delivered by Sitka during that period of time and the time within which
ABWI is authorized to receive raw bulk water shall be extended for a period equal to the period
of time that Sitka has been so relieved of its obligation.

4.2 ABWI agrees and warrants that the raw bulk water delivered to it by Sitka for export shall be
put to one or more beneficial uses by it or by its water purchasers. Breach of this warranty shall be a
material breach of this Agreement.

4.3 For that portion of the raw bulk water which is made available for human consumption ABWI shall,
at ABWI’s sole cost, promptly comply with all Government Regulations relating to the condition, use
or quality of such water for human consumption. ABWI shall establish staff and maintain an on-site
Water Quality laboratory to perform ABWI’s obligations under Paragraph 13.3.

3. [This section deliberately left blank.]

6. No Warranty by Sitka of Water Quality or Fitness for a Particular Purpose.

6.1 SITKA DOES NOT WARRANT THE QUALITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR
PURPOSE OF ANY WATER CONTRACTED BY IT FOR DELIVERY, AND/OR ACTUALLY
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DELIVERED, TO ABWI UNDER THIS AGREEMENT. ABWI ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES
THAT BEFORE ENTERING INTO THIS AGREEMENT, IT HAS EXAMINED SITKA’S WATER
SOURCE, SITKA’S METHODS OF DIVERSION, AND SITKA’S MEANS OF DELIVERY TO
ABWI OF THE QUANTITIES OF WATER WHICH ARE CONTRACTED UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT, AND THAT IT HAS FOUND ALL SUCH ITEMS ADEQUATE AND
SATISFACTORY FOR ABWI'S PURPOSES, INCLUDING HUMAN CONSUMPTION.

6.2  ABWI acknowledges and agrees that Sitka’s routine alterations in its hydroelectric operations
may produce temporary changes in water quality due to turbidity, and that the occurrence of such events
shall not alter or affect ABWI’s obligations under this Agreement.

6.3  ABWIacknowledges and agrees that the quality of raw water contracted by Sitka to be delivered
in bulk to ABWI for export may vary due to natural events over which Sitka has no control, which
include, without limitation, rainfall, drought, snowfall, avalanches and landslides, and that the
occurrence of such events shall not alter or affect ABW1’s contractual obligations under this Agreement,
except that the quantity of water ABWI is obligated to take delivery of and to export shall be reduced to
the quantity Sitka can and does make available for delivery to ABWI, as a consequence of an occurrence
of any of such natural events.

64 ABWI SHALL BE SOLELY RESPONSIBLE AND LIABLE FOR THE QUALITY AND
USEFULNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE, INCLUDING HUMAN CONSUMPTION, OF
ALL WATER EXPORTED BY, TRANSPORTED BY, USED BY, OR SOLD BY, OR DELIVERED
BY ABWL

7. Purchase Price for Raw Bulk Water.
7.1  ABWTI shall pay the following prices for raw bulk water for export from Sitka:

a. Raw water delivered in bulk to ABWI for export shall be priced at U.S. $0.01 (one

cent) per gallon. The purchase price includes Sitka cargo wharfage charges for bulk water
delivered to ABWI’s vessel.

b. Raw water delivered by Sitka to ABWI for vessel wash-down, washout and any other
non-export application shall be priced at US $0.005 (one-half of a cent) per gallon. Such
quantities shall be separately metered, and shall not be included in the total quantities of
raw water delivered to ABWI for export.

7.2  ABWI shall pay for each volume of water loaded no later than fifteen (15) days after the
presentation of an invoice by the Administrator to ABWI for such water. Failure by ABWI to make
timely payment shall be a material breach of this Agreement and be cause for the Administrator to
suspend water delivery to ABWI.

7.3 Beginning July 1, 2021 and every calendar year thereafter, the prices charged by Sitka for raw
water delivered in bulk to ABWI under this Agreement will be adjusted by the Administrator based on
the "All Items" figure for Seattle, Washington as published in the "Consumer Price Index for All Urban
Consumers" (CPI) published the most immediately before January 1 of the calendar year for which prices
are being calculated. Notwithstanding the previous sentence, in no event will the CPI adjustment
described in the previous sentence exceed + 3.0% nor the adjustment be made if the result of such
adjustment would be a decrease in any price charged under this Agreement.



7.4 ABWI shall pay Sitka for the volume of water delivered to ABWI as measured by flow meters
owned, operated, and documented by Sitka at or near the point of delivery. One year after the first
delivery of water the Administrator shall arrange for an independent third party to calibrate the flow
meters after which they will calibrated every other year during the term of this Agreement.

8. Conditions for Maintaining ABWI’s Purchase Right and Obligation; Termination.

8.1 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, this Agreement shall, at Sitka’s
Administrator’s election, terminate and expire without further action by Sitka on the forty-fifth (45th)
day after the Administrator mails notice to ABWI by certified mail that ABWI has breached or failed to
comply with one or more of the conditions or requirements of this Agreement, or become insolvent, or
abandoned the project unless within said 45-day period, ABWI cures the specified default or defaults to
Sitka’s satisfaction, as determined by Sitka in its sole discretion.

8.2 Upon termination, all legal rights and obligations as between Sitka and ABWI under this
Agreement shall cease, except that ABWI’s obligations to Sitka under Sections 13, 14, 15, 16, and 17 of
this Agreement shall survive termination.

9. Sitka’s Permitting Actions.

The Administrator shall take any and all actions which she/he determines, in the exercise of her/his sole
discretion, to be reasonable, necessary, and economically feasible to maintain in good standing any
permit, license, certificate, allocation, appropriation or other authorization required for Sitka to fulfill its
obligations under this Agreement.

10.  Delivery, Loading, and Transportation of Water in Bulk.

10.1 Sitka hereby grants a license to ABWI over a portion of Block 4, Lot 9A consisting of approximately
1,875 square feet as pictorially depicted on Appendix C to use the pipeline and other facilities for loading
water which ABWI has constructed in accordance with the following terms and conditions:

a. The Administrator may inspect the license area at any time. The Administrator shall review
the license for compliance with this Paragraph 10 every five years and make
recommendations about renewal to Sitka. The license granted herein is revocable at Sitka’s
sole discretion and shall terminate upon the earlier of completion of the work described in
subparagraphs d. and e. of this Paragraph 10 or termination of this Agreement.

b. The right to keep and maintain currently installed water loading infrastructure within Sitka-
owned tidelands is conditioned on ABWI making such infrastructure available for use by any
other bulk water export company for a loading fee not greater than $0.002 per gallon.

c. ABWTI shall pay Sitka $5,000 annually for the license rights granted herein.

d. ABWIshall completely remove the pipeline and other facilities for loading bulk water, which
it has constructed within the license area as depicted on exhibit A, within 6 months of the
termination of this Agreement. Any such materials not removed from the license area within
6 months shall be deemed abandoned and become Sitka’s property at Sitka’s option.



e. ABWI shall completely restore the license area as depicted on Exhibit A to its original,
preconstruction condition to the Administrator’s sole satisfaction within 6 months of the
termination of this Agreement. Should ABWI failed to restore the license area to the
Administrator’s satisfaction, the Administrator may contract with third parties to perform the
work and ABWI shall pay Sitka for all costs of restoration required to restore the license area
to the Administrator’s satisfaction.

f. Should ABWI fail to complete the work described in subparagraphs d. and e. above by the
fifth month after termination, it shall provide Sitka a written report describing the work that
remains to be done and ABWI’s plan for completing that work within the next 30 days.

10.2 ABWI shall be solely responsible for the costs of acquisition, construction and installation,
maintenance and repair of any structure, facility or vessel downstream of the point of delivery which it
determines to be required or convenient for the loading and transportation of bulk water delivered to it
by Sitka, and for initiating and completing such acquisition, construction and installation. All structures
and facilities must comply with all Federal, State, and local law, including zoning requirements. Within
30 days of the execution of this Agreement ABWI shall apply for and diligently pursue approval of all
of the permits and authorizations required to construct and operate the pipeline and other facilities for
loading raw bulk water which it has already constructed within the license area shown on Exhibit A.

10.3 Sitka shall retain the right to own, and operate a raw bulk water delivery pipeline that serves the
Gary Paxton Industrial Park. In such event, Sitka may require ABWI to use Sitka’s facilities and may
change the point of delivery to the point at which Sitka’s facilities end. Unless and until Sitka provides
such new facilities ABWI shall be fully responsible, at its own cost and expense, for arranging and
accomplishing transport of raw bulk water from the point of delivery established by Sitka.

10.4 ABWI shall pay such port vessel dockage fees established by Sitka. SITKA DOES NOT
WARRANT THE QUALITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF ANY DOCK OR
WHARF AT SUCH WATERFRONT, AND ABWI MUST ASSURE THE ADMINISTRATOR OF
THE FEASIBILITY OF A PARTICULAR USE BEFORE ENGAGING IN SUCH USE.

10.5 ABWI shall be solely responsible for arranging the transportation of all water delivered to it by
Sitka for export.

10.6  No later than 30 days before the first delivery of water takes place under this Agreement, ABWI
will designate in a writing to the Administrator a local representative as ABWI’s continuing personal
contact with the Administrator and its subordinate departments, agencies and authorities.

10.7 Sitka’s flow meter which is used to calculate the quantities of water delivered to ABWI shall be
located near the point of delivery.

11.  Ballast Water and Wash Water Discharges.

11.1  ABWI shall comply with all applicable international, federal, state, and local requirements
regarding the discharge of any ballast water (including bilge water) or any wastes at all times and as to
all vessels traveling to and from Silver Bay and/or Sawmill Cove for the purpose of receiving any raw
bulk water from Sitka under this Agreement. Such requirements described in this Section include, but
are not limited to, those in Section [V of the Sawmill Cove Management Plan, which is included in
Appendix B.



1.2 ABWI shall comply with all applicable federal, state and local requirements regarding the use
and disposal of any raw or treated water delivered to ABWI by Sitka for the purposes of vessel wash-
down or washout, or any other non-export application.

12. Water Loading Plan Requirements.

12.1 Before ABWI loads any bulk water delivered to it by Sitka, ABWI shall submit to the
Administrator a written Water Loading Plan. This Plan shall be deemed approved by the Administrator
unless no later than seven days after its submission the Administrator in his or her sole discretion
rejects—or requires ABWI to resubmit—any portion of the Plan. Such action by the Administrator shall
be in a writing to ABWI that states the deficiency. Sitka shall deliver no bulk water to ABWI and ABWI
shall not load any bulk water delivered to it by Sitka as long as any portion of the Plan has been rejected
and not approved after re-submittal. ABWI shall submit a separate Water Loading Plan at least ten (10)
days before each loading of bulk water under this Agreement.

12.2  The Water Loading Plans required by this section shall address administrative, environmental,
and logistical matters related to the loading of water. The issues and items to be addressed in each Water
Loading Plan shall include, without limitation, each of the following:

a) identify and provide information requested by the Administrator regarding any vessel to be
used by ABWI in the loading or transport of raw bulk water;

b) steps to be taken to insure the safety of persons in any way involved in the loading
of bulk water;

¢) certification that ABWI has a Contingency Plan that meets all of the requirements of State law
applicable to the vessel that is being loaded;

d) steps to be taken to insure the safety of the public before, during, and after loading of raw
bulk water;

e) steps to be taken to address the effects of wind and tidal conditions on the loading;
f) steps to be taken concerning moorage and access to vessels during loading;

g) steps to assure communication before, during, and after loading between those loading and
the Administrator or his/her designee;

h) details about the precise location and proposed use of any structure, facility, pipe, pipeline, or
other infrastructure to be used in the loading of raw bulk water and details describing how ABWI
intends to address the risks associated with a catastrophic event arising from ABWI’s loading
activities or ABWT’s failure to adhere to the proposed Water Loading Plan;

i) steps to be taken to avoid conflicts with other vessel traffic and industrial park users;

j) details on proposed handling of any ballast water in any vessel to be used in the loading of
raw bulk water, including plans to respond to the unauthorized discharge of such water;

k) details on proposed handling of any residual and/or wash water, or other materials in the tanks
of any vessel to be used in the loading;
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1) the days and the periods of time within cach day that raw bulk water is proposed to be loaded;

m) details describing how the proposed Water Loading Plan shall be made consistent with
Appendix B, which includes the “Prospective Purchaser Agreement Between the State of Alaska
and the City-Borough of Sitka for the Former Alaska Pulp Corporation Pulp Mill Property” dated
April 28, 1999, including all attachments, which specifically includes “Memorandum of
Understanding between the State of Alaska and the City and Borough of Sitka [:] Management
Plan for Sawmill Cove Property (Former APC Property).” The details describing such
consistency must include any and all specific steps to be taken to avoid anchoring in prohibited
areas and in any way disturbing the sea bottom in the “No Disturbance” zone described in the
last-referenced documents; and

12.3  ABWI shall comply with all provisions of each Water Loading Plan after all of such provisions
have been approved either upon submittal or re-submittal under Subsection 12.1 above, as to the water
loading operation for which the Water Loading Plan was submitted.

124 APPROVAL BY SITKA’S ADMINISTRATOR OF ANY WATER LOADING PLAN SHALL
NOT IMPOSE UPON SITKA THE STATUS OF GUARANTOR OF THE FEASIBILITY,
PROPRIETY, OR SAFETY OF ANY ASPECT OF AN APPROVED WATER LOADING PLAN, NOR
SHALL SUCH APPROVAL CREATE OR CONFER BENEFITS ON ANY THIRD PARTY.

13. Indemnification of Sitka.
13.1 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, ABWI shall defend, indemnify, and
hold Sitka harmless from any liability, claim, demand, action, obligation, or proceeding of any kind or
nature, based upon, arising out of, or related to:
a. any defect or flaw in the quality of raw bulk water supplied under this Agreement;
b. any delays on the part of Sitka in the delivery of raw bulk water under this Agreement as the
result of the mechanical or physical breakdown of equipment or facilities owned or operated by

the Sitka or other unforeseen event;

c. claims arising from the transportation or shipment of raw bulk water after such water has left
Sitka’s water delivery system and the point of delivery;

d. injuries to employees of ABWI or any of its contractors or their employees;
e. damages resulting from accidents involving mooring, unmooring, navigation of vessels, or

cargo loading operations, including but not limited to claims for personal injury, property
damage, and pollution; and

f. violations and claims of violations related to the water loading plan described in Paragraph
12.2;
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g. harm, including illness and death, to persons who consume the raw bulk water caused by the
failure of ABWI to comply with Paragraph 4.3 of this Agreement.

13.2 ABWI shall at all times during this Agreement maintain insurance policies providing umbrella
coverage against matters including but not limited to those covered by this Agreement in an amount not
less than U.S. $5,000,000, with the City and Borough of Sitka named as an additional insured, and with
a waiver of subrogation against Sitka. ABWI shall provide a copy of the certificate insurance ABWI to
Sitka within 60 days after the effective date of this Agreement.

13.3 ABWI shall be responsible for ensuring that each of its contractors is qualified to do business in
Alaska and refrains from activities for which insurance cannot be obtained. ABWI shall assure that any
contractor for ABWI which is to perform any task or work within the territorial jurisdiction of Sitka has
insurance appropriate to any task to be performed by that contractor, and ABWI shall deliver a certificate
of such insurance to the Administrator within 30 days of such hiring.

13.3 ABWI shall ensure that its customers take full responsibility for water product quality that they
receive subsequent to ABWI’s on-site Quality Control laboratory tests. ABWI’s Quality control staff
shall securely store a reasonable quantity of water sampled from each bulk water shipment for 24 months
for re-analysis, if required for any reason by the Administrator. At ABWI’s expense the Administrator
shall hire an independent third party Quality Control laboratory to monitor the security of ABWI’s Water
Quality Control staff’s water sample storage and ABWI’s staff’s adherence to nationally recognized
storage protocols.

14. Assignment.

This Agreement, which is in the nature of a personal services contract, may not be assigned by either
party without the prior written consent of the other party, which shall have full discretion to grant or
withhold such approval, in its sole and absolute discretion except as provided below.

Should Sitka form a Port Authority, or similar entity, this Agreement shall be completely transferable to
said Port Authority. A transfer of the Agreement to any such entity shall not create any restrictions upon
ABWI to purchase water other than those restrictions set out in this Agreement.

15. Waiver and Integration.

This Agreement integrates the entire Agreement between the parties regarding the sale and purchase of
raw water in bulk. This Agreement supersedes all previous agreements, discussions, and negotiations,
whether written or oral. Each party specifically acknowledges and represents that it has had ample
opportunity to consult with legal counsel regarding this Agreement, and that any rule that an agreement
should be construed against its drafter shall not apply to this Agreement.

16.  Force Majeure.

Neither party shall be in breach of this Agreement as the result of any failure or delay in performing any
of the obligations in this Agreement if such failure to perform or delay in performing is directly and
proximately caused by storm, flood, avalanche, landslide, earthquake, tsunami, act of the public enemy,
war, rebellion, insurrection, sabotage, epidemic, quarantine restriction, or act of God. Sitka shall not be
in breach of this Agreement as the result of any failure or delay in performing any of its obligations in
this Agreement if such failure to perform or delay in performing is directly and proximately caused by
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any order of any United States court of competent jurisdiction, or by any act, rule, regulation, order or
directive of any superior governmental unit or any agency thereof, or by any termination, modification,
suspension, or revocation of any permit, license, allocation, appropriation, or certificate held by Sitka.
In the event Sitka or ABW1 is relieved of an obligation under this Agreement due to Force Majeure, time
periods under this Agreement shall be adjusted accordingly. The party asserting a Force Majeure event
must demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that the failure or delay in performance is directly
and proximately caused.by a Force Majeure event.

17.  Applicable Law.

ABWTI shall comply with all provisions of law applicable to its obligations under this Agreement.
This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws and procedures of the State of Alaska.

18. Dispute Resolution.

18.1 GOOD FAITH EFFORTS OF THE PARTIES. Upon notice by either party to the other party of
any dispute or claim arising out of or related to this Agreement the parties shall first make a good-faith
endeavor to resolve the dispute or claim by meeting informally “face-to-face” within 15 days of such
notice to mediate the dispute or claim in good faith without a third-party mediator.

18.2 JURISDICTION AND VENUE. Should any party hereto institute any action or proceeding to
enforce any provision hereof or for damages by reason of any alleged breach of any section of this
Agreement or for any other remedy, such an action shall be brought in the Superior Court for the State
of Alaska. Venue for any such action or lawsuit shall lie exclusively in Sitka, Alaska. The parties
specifically agree not to remove jurisdiction to federal courts on the grounds of diversity of citizenship.

18.3 ATTORNEY’S FEES AND LEGAL EXPENSES. Should any party hereto institute any action or
proceeding to enforce any provision hereof or for damages by reason of any alleged breach of any section
of this Agreement or for any other remedy, the party that is successful in such action shall be entitled to
receive from the losing party all of its reasonable legal costs and expenses, including without limitation,
reasonable attorneys’ fees and all arbitration costs.

19. Effective Date.

This Agreement shall become effective upon ABWI making a non-refundable payment of $128,205 to
Sitka, no later than June 30, 2016. The date on which ABWI makes such a payment will be the “effective
date” for the purpose of any time period which incorporates that term in this Agreement. Should ABWI
fail to make such a payment by June 30, 2016 this Agreement is null and void.

20.  Authority.

The parties represent and warrant to each other that they have the full, complete, and absolute authority
to enter into this Agreement; that this Agreement has been duly authorized by the governing body of
each party; that the person executing this Agreement on its behalf has the full power and authority to do
so; and that this Agreement is binding and enforceable against it in accordance with its terms. ABWI
acknowledges that this Agreement is only effective against Sitka if the City and Borough of Sitka
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Assembly votes to authorize the Administrator to execute this Agreement on behalf of Sitka. By affixing

his signature to this Agreement the Administrator represents and warrants that the Assembly has so
voted.

21.  Amendment and Severability.

This Agreement may not be amended except by written agreement of both parties. If any provision of
this Agreement or any application thereof to any person, entity, or circumstance is held invalid, the
remainder of this Agreement and application thercof to any person, entity, or circumstances shall not be
affected thereby.

22. Time of Essence.
Time is of the essence in this Agreement.
23. Notices.

Any notices required or authorized to be given by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be sent
by email and by either commercial courier, facsimile, or by certified U.S. mail, postage prepaid and
return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party at the address stated below or such address as the
party shall have designated to the other parties in accordance with this Section. Such notice shall be
effective on the date of receipt through the mails or by courier by the addressee party, except that any
facsimiles received after 5:00 p.m. of the addressee's local time shall be deemed delivered the next day.

If to ABWI:  Weatherford Thompson
Alaska Bulk Water Inc.
1301 1% Ave. West
Albany, Oregon 97321
c/o Andrew J. Bean

If to Sitka: Administrator
City and Borough of Sitka
100 Lincoln St
Sitka, Alaska, 99835

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the dates shown
below.

ALASKA BULK WATER INC. THE CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA
DATE DATE ___

TERRY TRAPP, CEO MARK GORMAN, Administrator

ALASKA BULK WATER INC. THE CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA
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ATTEST:

DATE __

SARA PETERSON CMC
Municipal Clerk
THE CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA

STATE OF ALASKA )
)ss. ACKNOWLEDGMENT
FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT )
THIS CERTIFIES that on this day of , 2016, before me, a Notary Public in and

for the State of Alaska personally appeared TERRY TRAPP to me known and known to me to be the
person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing PURCHASE AGREEMENT FOR BLUE LAKE
RAW BULK WATER and after being first duly sworn according to law, he stated to me under oath
that he is the CEO of ALASKA BULK WATER INC., that he has been authorized by said company
to execute the foregoing PURCHASE AGREEMENT FOR BLUE LAKE RAW BULK WATER on
its behalf and he executed the same freely and voluntarily as the free act and deed of said corporation.

Notary Public
My Commission Expires:

STATE OF ALASKA )
)ss. MUNICIPAL ACKNOWLEDGMENT
FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT )
THIS CERTIFIES that on this day of , 2016 before me, a Notary Public in and

for the State of Alaska, personally appeared MARK GORMAN to me known and known to me to be
the person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing PURCHASE AGREEMENT FOR BLUE
LAKE RAW BULK WATER, and after being first duly sworn according to law, he stated to me under
oath that he is the ADMINISTRATOR of the City and Borough of Sitka, Alaska, a municipality
organized under the laws of the State of Alaska, that he has been authorized by said municipality to
execute the foregoing PURCHASE AGREEMENT FOR BLUE LAKE RAW BULK WATER on
its behalf and he executed the same freely and voluntarily as the free act and deed of said corporation.

WITNESS my hand and official seal the day and year in this certificate first above written.

Notary Public for Alaska
My Commission Expires:
Residing at Sitka, Alaska
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POSSIBLE MOTION

| MOVE TO approve a 20-year purchase
agreement between the City and Borough of
Sitka and Arctic Blue Waters (Canada) Inc.
for raw water in bulk for export as
recommended by the Gary Paxton Industrial
Park Board and authorize the Municipal
Administrator to execute the document.









Allows and defines terms of a license for Arctic to install, construct, maintain
water loading infrastructure.

Defines requirements for ballast water discharges and water loading.

Other standard terms and conditions.

Additional Information

Arctic has stated that it intends to use the water loading facility installed in the
CBS tidelands by ABWI. Arctic and ABWI have agreed on a mutual water
loading fee for the use of this infrastructure.
o Section 10 of Arctic’s contract allows it to install its own infrastructure with
CBS permission or use the CBS's infrastructure if/when it is installed.

The CBS is moving forward with potentially constructing a multipurpose dock in
the tidelands of Sawmill Cove.
o Section 10 addresses the CBS ability to require ABWI or Arctic to move
existing infrastructure and use CBS infrastructure.

The CBS retains 2,228 Acre-feet (~726 million gallons) of water annually to
support future water bottling operations with the execution of all water purchase
agreements recommended to ABWI and ARCTIC.

Attachments

The RFP the CBS released to solicit bulk water proposals.
Arctic’s submittal to the RFP.
Water purchase agreement between the CBS and Arctic for a 20-year term.

Action

The GPIP Board requests that the CBS Assembly approve the recommended water
purchase agreement.















Throughout his career, Mr. Robertson has demonstrated strong leadership qualities,
which resulted in significant achievements in the fields of Sales and Marketing.

Andy Pristol — Director
Sault Ste. Marie, Ontario

Andy Pristol commenced his Industrial/Commercial/Investment Real Estate career with
Re/Max in 1985. Investment strategies in property acquisitions, sales and management
of large tracks of vacant land (ranging in size from 25,000 to 5.0 million acres) earned
Andy top honours with Re/Max.

Recognitions:

e Andy was Re/Max North America’s Top IC| Real Estate Agent for 3 years;
e Andy was recognized as Re/Max’s International World Wide #2 ICI Agent in 2008,
e www.remonline,com/remax-honours-top-ontarioatlantic-sales-professionals/

Professional Accomplishments

2005 — 2016 Andy Pristol partnered and was then appointed President, of Algoma
Timberlakes Corporation Inc., by Carlo Fidani (http://www.orlandocorp.com/)

2011 Andy completed his first carbon offset program with TransCanada Energy.
Appointed by 4 Front Capital 2015 to manage their carbon offset program. 4 Front
Capital is a commodity trading company, which currently ships petroleum.

2013 Andy was appointed by the Forestland Group of Companies to manage
Forestland acquisitions. The Forestland Group owns more than three million acres of
forest lands.

Director for Canadian Resorts (1995 — 1999) and Partner/President for Algoma
Timberlakes Corporation Inc. (2005 — 2014). Andy headed the management team for
250 Canadian Tourism Camps in Northern Manitoba, Quebec, Ontario and the
Northwest Territories.

2001- 2014 Private Consultant. Operational Manager for a 147,000 acre estate
commencing selective hardwood logging operations in Algoma, Ontario that peaked at
3,500 rail car loads on an annual basis.

Additional Professional Experience

e Initial start-up of the operation and daily management;

e Responsible for mirroring the requirements for pension fund investment;
o Ability to create business plans, assess viability and fund projects;

e Preparing and delivering multilevel presentations and contracts;



Marketing and sales of all timber to regional and international markets;
Planning and controlling budgets, preparing costing and financial forecasts;
Forest inventory analysis;

Mineral rights research and development;

Negotiations and liaising with local authorities;

Andy is a pilot who has several thousand hours of flight time with his own aircrafts.
Services ranging from aerial assignments to GPS strategic planning.

Operational Personnel

Arctic Blue Waters will be working with Alaska Bulk Water Inc. (ABWI), who intend to
hire local personnel in Sitka, for operating the bulk water loading facility.

Financial Capabilities

Arctic Blue Waters is well funded with working capital of Six Million ($6,000,000) Dollars
and upon being the successful bidder of this project has the capability of providing the
One Million ($1,000,000) USD to the City and Borough of Sitka as outlined in the
attached letter from its’ legal counsel, sent by email to Mr. Gary White. The $1.0 million
USD is to be considered a pre-payment of bulk water at a rate of US$0.01 per US
gallon.

Business Plan Concept

Overall Business Plan

Over the last 30 years, senior management of Arctic Blue Waters has developed both
direct contacts both for the marketing of bulk water domestically and internationally.
Several sales trips have been made to S. Korea, Taiwan and China, meeting with large
beverage groups who had expressed interest in receiving bulk water from Alaska.
Drinking water continues to be polluted and depleted in these countries as the
population increases and industrial development continues to grow.

(The Economist January/February 2016 reports)
e China's population is so large, that it has quickly become the largest market for
almost anything it consumes.

e Such is the case with bottled water! Chinese drink 40 billion liters of the stuff
each year, up over 13-fold since 1998.

e Finding clean supplies is difficult; rivers, lakes and groundwater in China are
often polluted or depleted.






Rates Bid

Arctic Blue Waters proposes to purchase bulk water from CBS at the rate of US$0.01
per US gallon. Arctic Blue Waters is joint bidding the bulk water in the following fashion.
Arctic Blue Waters is seeking a long-term contract of 6,800,257,957 gallons, ABWI is
seeking the balance of 1,000,000,000 gallons for its own use. Arctic Blue Waters and
ABWI have an agreement for these respective amounts. Arctic Blue Waters will pay the
City and Borough of Sitka $1,000,000 as a pre-payment on 100,000,000 gallons of bulk
water from Blue Lake, for the benefit of both Arctic Blue Waters and ABWI. Each
company would receive its respective water credit. Each company is seeking a long-
term water purchase contract (20 years plus) with the CBS. The requirement to ship
50,000,000 gallons in the first 36 month period will be satisfied by the collective
shipments of both companies. That is, if both companies ship a total of 50 million
gallons in 36 months, then this requirement is satisfied and the contract reverts to a
long-term contract. The prepayment will be proportionately divided as water credits for
the benefit of each company.

Arctic Blue Water and ABWI are operating at arm’s length and not as a joint entity. Both
companies will pursue their own bulk water opportunities. Arctic Blue Waters and ABWI
have agreed that ABWI will load Arctic Blue Water's bulk water onto ship tankers at the
rate of US$0.002 per gallon.

Summary

Arctic Blue Waters and ABWI, we believe have more combined experience with the bulk
water business than anyone else in the world. Both companies understand what is
required to market raw bulk water, transport it by food-grade ships, ensure integrity of
the water while loading and off-loading into food-grade storage tanks, together with the
expertise to ensure use on a continuous basis.

ABWI has agreed to load the Arctic Blue vessels at a rate that is acceptable to Arctic
Blue Waters. That both companies would have separate allocation of water meets the
desires of the CBS for diversity of suppliers.

The offered rate of $0.01 per gallon is consistent with past purchases. Competition
from other water sources in the world reveal rates much lower than $0.01 per gallon.
However, both Arctic Blue Waters and ABWI feel they can obtain customers at this rate
for the benefit of the CBS. The offered deposit pre-payment of $1.0 million is
commensurate with the past bids for the water.

Both Arctic Blue Waters and ABWI request that this offer be accepted so that the
shipment of bulk water from Sitka can become a reality.



PURCHASE AGREEMENT
FOR RAW WATER
IN BULK FOR EXPORT

BETWEEN:
City and Borough of Sitka
100 Lincoln Street
Sitka, Alaska 99835

AND
Arctic Blue Waters (Canada) Inc.
B-677 Broughton Ave
Quesnel, BC V2] 4V9

1. Term and Documents Comprising this Agreement.

1.1 The initial term of this Agreement shall commence upon Arctic Blue Waters (Canada) Inc.
making a non-refundable payment of $871,795 to the Administrator of the City and Borough of Sitka
(hereinafter referred to as Administrator), and shall end at 11:59 p.m. Alaska Standard Time on June 15,
2036. The City and Borough of Sitka (hereinafter referred to as Sitka) hereby grants to Arctic Blue
Waters (Canada) Inc. (hereinafter referred to as ARCTIC), the right to purchase raw water in bulk for
export, to be delivered to it by Sitka from the Blue Lake reservoir, a water source within Sitka on the
terms and conditions set forth herein.

1.2 Atthe conclusion of the initial term of this Agreement, each of three additional terms of five

(5) years each for extension of this Agreement may be exercised upon the consent of both parties.
ARCTIC must notify the Administrator in writing no later than four (4) months before the end of the
initial Agreement period of its desire to add an additional five-year term, and shall thereafter notify the
Administrator no later than four (4) months prior to the expiration of each exercised additional term of
its desire to exercise the next five-year time period. If ARCTIC does not timely notify the Administrator
in writing, the Agreement shall terminate at the expiration of the then-current contract term. Sitka's bulk
raw water price is subject to re-negotiation before the commencement of each additional term. If said
price is not agreed, the Agreement shall terminate at the expiration of the then-current contract term.
Either party may decide to not implement any additional term for any reason, in its sole discretion.

1.3 The Agreement consists of the 23 sections in this Agreement plus Appendix A (a map), Appendix
B (the “Prospective Purchaser Agreement Between the State of Alaska and the City-Borough of Sitka
for the Former Alaska Pulp Corporation Pulp Mill Property” dated April 28, 1999, including all
attachments, which specifically includes “Memorandum of Understanding between the State of Alaska
and the City and Borough of Sitka [:] Management Plan for Sawmill Cove Property (Former APC
Property).”), and Appendix C (a map of Block 4, Lot 9a).



2.

Definitions.

In this Agreement, the following terms shall have the definitions stated:

a) “acre-foot” or “af”” means 325,851 U.S. gallons.

b) “annually” means 12 consecutive months.

c) “beneficial use” means the application of water, purchased by ARCTIC for export or for use
at the point of delivery, to a useful purpose, including domestic, commercial, agricultural,
wildlife, and recreational uses.

d) "BG" or “bg” means billions of gallons.

e) “bulk water” means raw water or potable water sold by Sitka to ARCTIC under this
Agreement, and delivered by Sitka to ARCTIC in the measured quantities specified in this

Agreement.

f) “deliver” or “to deliver” or “delivered” means Sitka making a specific quantity of water
available to ARCTIC at the point of delivery.

g) "export" means the transportation by ARCTIC of bulk water to a destination outside the
hydrological unit of the Blue Lake drainage.

h) "gallon" means one US gallon or 3.785 liters.

i) Loading means transporting the raw bulk water which is the subject of this Agreement from
Blue Lake through pipelines and other conveyances into the ARCTIC-chartered ship for
export outside Alaskan waters.

1) “MG” or “mg” means millions of gallons.

k) “MGD” means millions of gallons per consecutive 24-hour period.

1) "per day" means calendar day starting at midnight.

m) “per week” means during a period of seven (7) consecutive days.

n) “per year” means during a period of 12 consecutive months.

0) “point of delivery” means that physical location at which the Sitka-owned physical facilities

and equipment, employed in the transportation of Sitka’s bulk water for delivery to ARCTIC,

terminates.

p) "raw water" means untreated water delivered by Sitka to the point of delivery from Blue Lake

via the Blue Lake penstock, a conduit which transports water from Blue Lake to the Blue Lake
Powerhouse as shown on Exhibit A.



q) “rule curve” means the relationship between the elevation of the water surface of Blue Lake
and the volume of water contained in Blue Lake, which regulates the reservation of water for
fish, wildlife, and habitat protection.

r) “Stage” means a time period in this Agreement that starts 12 months after the effective date of
this Agreement; a Stage is composed of one or more 12-month periods, with each 12-month
period starting on the anniversary of the day the Stage begins.

s) “Stage Anniversary Date” means the day starting a 12-month period in a Stage.
t) "ton" means one US short ton or 2,000 pounds.

u) “unforeseen” means an exceptional event, not contemplated by the parties in negotiating this
Agreement. Performance made more difficult or expensive than expected is not “unforeseen.”
The burden of proving that an event is unforeseen is on the party that advances it as a reason for
non-performance.

v) “water rights” means those rights to the beneficial use of water which are held by Sitka under
certificates of appropriation issued by the State of Alaska pursuant to Alaska law.

3. Water Volumes Contracted by ARCTIC from Sitka.

3.1 Sitka will make available to ARCTIC a total of 20,869 acre-feet of raw bulk water for a period
of 36 months after the effective date of this Agreement. At the conclusion of the 36-month period
described in the previous sentence, ARCTIC's access to such water will be governed by the stages set
out in Subsection 3.2 of this Agreement, provided that ARCTIC has met the minimum export volumes
set out in Section 3 (this Section) of this Agreement. During the 36-month period immediately after the
effective date of this Agreement, ARCTIC must take delivery of and export at least 50 million gallons
of raw bulk water. If ARCTIC does not take delivery of and export at least 50 million gallons of raw
bulk water from Sitka pursuant to this Agreement in the first 36 months after the effective date of this
Agreement, this Agreement shall, at Sitka’s election, terminate and expire without further action by Sitka
on the forty-fifth (45"™) day after ARCTIC’s receipt of the Administrator’s notice to ARCTIC by certified
mail that ARCTIC has failed to comply with Paragraph 3.1, unless within said 45-day period, ARCTIC
cures its failure to take delivery of and export at least 50 million gallons of raw bulk water from Sitka.

3.2 The Stages described in this subsection start 36 months after the effective date of this Agreement.
The maximum quantity of raw water in bulk available for export by ARCTIC from Sitka under this
Agreement and the minimum export requirements are set forth below as follows:

Maximum Minimum Minimum
Contract Water Acre-Feet Export Export
Increment Delivery per | Available Required to | Required to | Required
Stages 24-Hour Annually Move to Next | Remain at | Period of
Period Stage Stage Performance
Stage 1 33.6 MG 1,000 af 230.2 af (75mg) | 153.4 af (50mg) | 12-month
period
Stage 2 33.6 MG 2,000 af 306.9 af | 230.2 af (75mg) | 12-month
(100mg) period




Stage 3 33.6 MG 4,000 af 920.7 af | 306.9 af | 12-month
(300mg) (100mg) period

Stage 4 33.6 MG 10,000 af 3,068.9 af (1bg) | 920.7 af | 12-month
(300mg) period

Stage 5 33.6 MG ( ) N/A 3,068.9 af (1bg) | 12-month
period

Stage 1: Stage 1 begins 36 months after the effective date of this Agreement. Sitka will make
available to ARCTIC not less than 1,000 acre-feet (325.8 MG) of raw bulk water in a 12-month
period in Stage 1. To remain at Stage 1 for a 12 month-period starting on the Stage Anniversary
Date of Stage 1, ARCTIC must have taken delivery of and exported from Sitka a minimum of
153.4 af (50 MG) of raw bulk water within the 12-month period immediately preceding the most
recent Stage Anniversary Date of Stage 1. If ARCTIC does not take delivery and export the said
minimum, this Agreement shall, at Sitka’s election, terminate and expire without further action
by Sitka on the forty-fifth (45th) day after the Administrator gives notice to ARCTIC by certified
mail that ARCTIC has failed to meet such requirement, unless within the 45-day period ARCTIC
cures such failure as determined by Sitka in its sole discretion.

Stage 2: ARCTIC shall take delivery and pay for a minimum of 230.2 acre feet of raw bulk water
within a 12-month period during this Stage. If ARCTIC takes delivery of and exports a total of
at least 230.2 acre-feet (75 MG) of bulk water in a 12-month period, then the amount of raw bulk
water Sitka will make available for delivery to ARCTIC will be increased to 2,000 acre-feet of
water in a 12-month period, provided at that time that the Administrator has determined in his/her
sole discretion that Sitka still has adequate water quantities available and uncommitted. To
remain at Stage 2 for the next 12 months ARCTIC must have taken delivery of and exported
from Sitka at least 230.2 af (75 MG) within the 12-month period immediately preceding the most
recent Stage 2 Anniversary Date. If ARCTIC does not meet the requirement to remain at Stage
2 set out in the previous sentence, ARCTIC shall revert to Stage 1 thereby establishing a new
Stage 1 Anniversary Date.

Stage 3: ARCTIC shall take delivery and pay for a minimum of 306.9 acre feet of raw bulk water
in a 12-month period during this Stage. If ARCTIC takes delivery of and exports a total of at
least 306.9 acre-feet (100 MG) of bulk water per 12-month period, then the amount of water
Sitka will make available for delivery to ARCTIC will be increased to 4,000 acre-feet per year,
provided at that time that the Administrator has determined in his/her sole discretion that Sitka
still has adequate water quantities available and uncommitted. To remain at Stage 3 for the next
12 months ARCTIC must have taken delivery of and exported from Sitka at least 306.9 af (100
MG) within the 12-month period preceding the most recent Stage 3 Anniversary Date.  If
ARCTIC does not meet the requirement set out in the previous sentence to remain at Stage 3,
ARCTIC shall revert to Stage 2 thereby establishing a new Stage 2 Anniversary Date.

Stage 4: ARCTIC shall take delivery and pay for a minimum of 920.7 acre feet of raw bulk water
in a 12-month period during this Stage. If ARCTIC takes delivery of and exports a total of at
least 920.7 acre-feet (300 MG) per 12-month period, then the amount of raw bulk water Sitka
will make available for delivery to ARCTIC will be increased to 10,000 acre-feet per 12-month
period, provided at that time that Sitka’s Administrator has determined in his/her sole discretion

! Annual acre-feet available and the minimum amount of water available for export per 12-month period will be determined
solely by Sitka at that time based on availability.
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that Sitka still has adequate water quantities available and uncommitted. To remain at Stage 4
for the next 12 months ARCTIC must have taken delivery of and exported from Sitka at least
920.7 af (300 MG) within the 12-month period immediately preceding the most recent Stage 4
Anniversary Date. If ARCTIC does not meet the requirement set out in the previous sentence to
remain at Stage 4, ARCTIC shall revert to Stage 3 thereby establishing a new Stage 3
Anniversary Date.

Stage 5: ARCTIC shall take delivery and pay for a minimum of 3,068.9 acre feet of raw bulk
water in a 12-month period during this Stage. If ARCTIC takes delivery of and exports a total
0f 3,068.9 acre feet (1 billion gallons) of raw bulk water per 12-month period, then ARCTIC may
request from Sitka additional raw bulk water in a volume to be determined by the Administrator
in his/her sole discretion at that time, provided that the Administrator has determined in his/her
sole discretion that Sitka still has adequate water quantities available and uncommitted. To
remain at Stage 5 for the next 12 months ARCTIC must have taken delivery of and exported
from Sitka at least 3,068.9 af (1 BG) within the 12-month period immediately preceding the most
recent Stage 5 Anniversary Date. If ARCTIC does not meet the requirement set out in the
previous sentence to remain at Stage 5, ARCTIC shall revert to Stage 4 thereby establishing a
new Stage 4 Anniversary Date.

3.3 If ARCTIC fails to take delivery of and export the required minimum volume specified in Stages
2 through 5 within the time periods specified for those Stages as set out in Subsection 3.2, the respective
obligations of Sitka to make raw bulk water available, and of ARCTIC to take delivery of and accept
and export such volume shall be reduced to the next lower Stage for the next 12-month period. If
ARCTIC meets the minimum performance requirement of that lower Stage within the time period
specified, then the next higher Stage shall again be in effect during the next 12-month period. The date
upon which Sitka moves ARCTIC either up or down from stage to stage will start the 12-month time
period anew and create a new Stage Anniversary Date, provided at that time that Sitka still has adequate
raw bulk water quantities available and uncommitted for export.

3.4  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if raw bulk water delivered by Sitka to
ARCTIC and exported by ARCTIC falls below 50 million gallons during any period of 12 consecutive
month period after the first 36 months after the effective date of this Agreement, this Agreement shall,
at Sitka’s election, terminate and expire without further action by Sitka on the forty-fifth (45th) day after
to ARCTIC receives notice from the Administrator that ARCTIC has breached or failed to comply with
this Paragraph 3.4, unless within the 45-day period, ARCTIC cures its failure to take delivery of and
export at least 50 million gallons of water from Sitka.

3.5  Atno time may ARCTIC take delivery of raw bulk water at a rate greater than 33.6 MGD or at
arate less than 50 million gallons during the 12-month period after operations have commenced.

4. The Parties’ Rights and Obligations Regarding Water Delivered for Export.

4.1.  Sitka is entering into this Agreement to sell raw water in bulk pursuant to water to Sitka’s water
export authority contained in Water Appropriation Certificates LAS 19669 and ADL 43826. Sitka’s
obligation to deliver water to ARCTIC in the quantities specified in this Agreement is subject to these
conditions and limitations:



a) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, Sitka shall retain first right and
priority to water required for its municipal drinking water supply system and its municipal
hydroelectric system, and it may suspend or limit raw water deliveries in bulk to ARCTIC to
meet the requirements of its municipal drinking water and hydroelectric systems. Whether there
is a sufficient volume of raw water available for these purposes shall be decided in the sole
discretion of the Administrator.

b) Sitka will abide by the 1992 Blue Lake Watershed Control Plan as approved by the U.S.

Environmental Protection Agency and described in City and Borough of Sitka Ordinance No.
92-1091.

¢) The Administrator may temporarily suspend raw water deliveries in bulk in order to perform
routine maintenance on its municipal drinking water, hydroelectric and/or water delivery
systems, provided that the Administrator shall give not less than 60 days prior notice to ARCTIC
of any such planned suspension.

d) Sitka shall be relieved of its obligation to deliver raw water in bulk to ARCTIC in the event
of an interruption in water supply due to circumstances that require repair to or reconstruction of
the municipal drinking water, hydroelectric systems, water delivery system, or other of Sitka’s
facilities. Delivery of raw water in bulk to ARCTIC may be reduced to the extent necessary to
make such repair(s) or reconstruction, and for so long as the Administrator in his/her sole
discretion determined is required to make such repairs or reconstruction.

€) The volumes of Sitka’s raw water deliveries in bulk to ARCTIC for export are subject to
Sitka’s overriding obligation to comply with all of the conditions contained in Water
Appropriation Certificates ADL 43826, LAS 19669, and LAS 20526, including compliance with
the rule curve and the support of spawning, incubation, and rearing of certain species of fish in
Sawmill Creek and Blue Lake. Interpretation of applicable requirements and the means used to
achieve compliance with such requirements shall be in the Administrator’s sole discretion.

f) In the event Sitka is relieved of its obligation to make agreed quantities of water available to
ARCTIC for reasons noted in this paragraph or due to Force Majeure or due to unforeseen
circumstances, then ARCTIC’s obligation to take delivery of and to export water shall be reduced
to the volumes actually delivered by Sitka during that period of time and the time within which
ARCTIC is authorized to receive raw bulk water shall be extended for a period equal to the period
of time that Sitka has been so relieved of its obligation.

4.2 ARCTIC agrees and warrants that the raw bulk water delivered to it by Sitka for export shall be
put to one or more beneficial uses by it or by its water purchasers. Breach of this warranty shall be a
material breach of this Agreement.

4.3 For that portion of the raw bulk water which is made available for human consumption ARCTIC
shall, at ARCTIC’s sole cost, promptly comply with all Government Regulations relating to the
condition, use or quality of such water for human consumption. ARCTIC shall establish staff and
maintain an on-site Water Quality laboratory to perform ARCTIC’s obligations under Paragraph 13.3.

5. [This section deliberately left blank.]



6. No Warranty by Sitka of Water Quality or Fitness for a Parcticular Purpose.

6.1  SITKA DOES NOT WARRANT THE QUALITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARCTICULAR
PURPOSE OF ANY WATER CONTRACTED BY IT FOR DELIVERY, AND/OR ACTUALLY
DELIVERED, TO ARCTIC UNDER THIS AGREEMENT. ARCTIC ACKNOWLEDGES AND
AGREES THAT BEFORE ENTERING INTO THIS AGREEMENT, IT HAS EXAMINED SITKA’S
WATER SOURCE, SITKA’S METHODS OF DIVERSION, AND SITKA’S MEANS OF DELIVERY
TO ARCTIC OF THE QUANTITIES OF WATER WHICH ARE CONTRACTED UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT, AND THAT IT HAS FOUND ALL SUCH ITEMS ADEQUATE AND
SATISFACTORY FOR ARCTIC’S PURPOSES, INCLUDING HUMAN CONSUMPTION.

6.2 ARCTIC acknowledges and agrees that Sitka’s routine alterations in its hydroelectric operations
may produce temporary changes in water quality due to turbidity, and that the occurrence of such events
shall not alter or affect ARCTIC’s obligations under this Agreement.

6.3  ARCTIC acknowledges and agrees that the quality of raw water contracted by Sitka to be
delivered in bulk to ARCTIC for export may vary due to natural events over which Sitka has no control,
which include, without limitation, rainfall, drought, snowfall, avalanches and landslides, and that the
occurrence of such events shall not alter or affect ARCTIC’s contractual obligations under this
Agreement, except that the quantity of water ARCTIC is obligated to take delivery of and to export shall
be reduced to the quantity Sitka can and does make available for delivery to ARCTIC, as a consequence
of an occurrence of any of such natural events.

6.4  ARCTIC SHALL BE SOLELY RESPONSIBLE AND LIABLE FOR THE QUALITY AND
USEFULNESS FOR ANY PARCTICULAR PURPOSE, INCLUDING HUMAN CONSUMPTION,
OF ALL WATER EXPORTED BY, TRANSPORTED BY, USED BY, OR SOLD BY, OR
DELIVERED BY ARCTIC.

7. Purchase Price for Raw Bulk Water.
7.1 ~ ARCTIC shall pay the following prices for raw bulk water for export from Sitka:

a. Raw water delivered in bulk to ARCTIC for export shall be priced at U.S. $0.01 (one
cent) per gallon. The purchase price includes Sitka cargo wharfage charges for bulk water
delivered to ARCTIC’s vessel.

b. Raw water delivered by Sitka to ARCTIC for vessel wash-down, washout and any
other non-export application shall be priced at US $0.005 (one-half of a cent) per gallon.
Such quantities shall be separately metered, and shall not be included in the total
quantities of raw water delivered to ARCTIC for export.

7.2 ARCTIC shall pay for each volume of water loaded no later than fifteen (15) days after the
presentation of an invoice by the Administrator to ARCTIC for such water. Failure by ARCTIC to make
timely payment shall be a material breach of this Agreement and be cause for the Administrator to
suspend water delivery to ARCTIC.

7.3 Beginning July 1, 2021 and every calendar year thereafter, the prices charged by Sitka for raw
water delivered in bulk to ARCTIC under this Agreement will be adjusted by the Administrator based
on the "All Items" figure for Seattle, Washington as published in the "Consumer Price Index for All
Urban Consumers" (CPI) published the most immediately before January 1 of the calendar year for
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which prices are being calculated. Notwithstanding the previous sentence, in no event will the CPI
adjustment described in the previous sentence exceed + 3.0% nor the adjustment be made if the result of
such adjustment would be a decrease in any price charged under this Agreement.

7.4 ARCTIC shall pay Sitka for the volume of water delivered to ARCTIC as measured by flow meters
owned, operated, and documented by Sitka at or near the point of delivery. One year after the first
delivery of water the Administrator shall arrange for an independent third party to calibrate the flow
meters after which they will calibrated every other year during the term of this Agreement.

8. Conditions for Maintaining ARCTIC’s Purchase Right and Obligation; Termination.

8.1  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, this Agreement shall, at Sitka’s
Administrator’s election, terminate and expire without further action by Sitka on the forty-fifth (45th)
day after the Administrator mails notice to ARCTIC by certified mail that ARCTIC has breached or
failed to comply with one or more of the conditions or requirements of this Agreement, or become
insolvent, or abandoned the project unless within said 45-day period, ARCTIC cures the specified default
or defaults to Sitka’s satisfaction, as determined by Sitka in its sole discretion.

8.2 Upon termination, all legal rights and obligations as between Sitka and ARCTIC under this
Agreement shall cease, except that ARCTIC’s obligations to Sitka under Sections 13, 14, 15, 16, and 17
of this Agreement shall survive termination.

9. Sitka’s Permitting Actions.

The Administrator shall take any and all actions which she/he determines, in the exercise of her/his sole
discretion, to be reasonable, necessary, and economically feasible to maintain in good standing any
permit, license, certificate, allocation, appropriation or other authorization required for Sitka to fulfill its
obligations under this Agreement.

10.  Delivery, Loading, and Transportation of Water in Bulk.

10.1 The parties agree that ARCTIC shall be solely responsible for the costs of acquisition, construction
and installation, maintenance and repair of any structure, facility or vessel downstream of the point of
delivery which it determines to be required or convenient for the loading and transportation of bulk water
delivered to it by Sitka, and for initiating and completing such acquisition, construction and installation.
All structures and facilities must comply with all Federal, State, and local law, including zoning
requirements.

10.3 Sitka shall retain the right to own, and operate a raw bulk water delivery pipeline that serves the
Gary Paxton Industrial Park. In such event, Sitka may require ARCTIC to use Sitka’s facilities and may
change the point of delivery to the point at which Sitka’s facilities end. Unless and until Sitka provides
such new facilities ARCTIC shall be fully responsible, at its own cost and expense, for arranging and
accomplishing transport of raw bulk water from the point of delivery established by Sitka.

10.4 ARCTIC shall pay such port vessel dockage fees established by Sitka. SITKA DOES NOT
WARRANT THE QUALITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARCTICULAR PURPOSE OF ANY DOCK OR
WHARF AT SUCH WATERFRONT, AND ARCTIC MUST ASSURE THE ADMINISTRATOR OF
THE FEASIBILITY OF A PARCTICULAR USE BEFORE ENGAGING IN SUCH USE.

10.5 ARCTIC shall be solely responsible for arranging the transportation of all water delivered to it by
8



Sitka for export.

10.6  No later than 30 days before the first delivery of water takes place under this Agreement,
ARCTIC will designate in a writing to the Administrator a local representative as ARCTIC’s continuing
personal contact with the Administrator and its subordinate departments, agencies and authorities.

10.7 Sitka’s flow meter which is used to calculate the quantities of water delivered to ARCTIC shall be
located near the point of delivery.

11.  Ballast Water and Wash Water Discharges.

11.1  ARCTIC shall comply with all applicable international, federal, state, and local requirements
regarding the discharge of any ballast water (including bilge water) or any wastes at all times and as to
all vessels traveling to and from Silver Bay and/or Sawmill Cove for the purpose of receiving any raw
bulk water from Sitka under this Agreement. Such requirements described in this Section include, but
are not limited to, those in Section IV of the Sawmill Cove Management Plan, which is included in
Appendix B.

11.2 ARCTIC shall comply with all applicable federal, state and local requirements regarding the use
and disposal of any raw or treated water delivered to ARCTIC by Sitka for the purposes of vessel wash-
down or washout, or any other non-export application.

12. Water Loading Plan Requirements.

12.1 Before ARCTIC loads any bulk water delivered to it by Sitka, ARCTIC shall submit to the
Administrator a written Water Loading Plan. This Plan shall be deemed approved by the Administrator
unless no later than seven days after its submission the Administrator in his or her sole discretion
rejects—or requires ARCTIC to resubmit—any portion of the Plan. Such action by the Administrator
shall be in a writing to ARCTIC that states the deficiency. Sitka shall deliver no bulk water to ARCTIC
and ARCTIC shall not load any bulk water delivered to it by Sitka as long as any portion of the Plan has
been rejected and not approved after re-submittal. ARCTIC shall submit a separate Water Loading Plan
at least ten (10) days before each loading of bulk water under this Agreement.

12.2  The Water Loading Plans required by this section shall address administrative, environmental,
and logistical matters related to the loading of water. The issues and items to be addressed in each Water
Loading Plan shall include, without limitation, each of the following:

a) identify and provide information requested by the Administrator regarding any vessel to be
used by ARCTIC in the loading or transport of raw bulk water;

b) steps to be taken to insure the safety of persons in any way involved in the loading
of bulk water;

c) certification that ARCTIC has a Contingency Plan that meets all of the requirements of State
law applicable to the vessel that is being loaded;

d) steps to be taken to insure the safety of the public before, during, and after loading of raw
bulk water;

€) steps to be taken to address the effects of wind and tidal conditions on the loading;



f) steps to be taken concerning moorage and access to vessels during loading;

g) steps to assure communication before, during, and after loading between those loading and
the Administrator or his/her designee;

h) details about the precise location and proposed use of any structure, facility, pipe, pipeline, or
other infrastructure to be used in the loading of raw bulk water and details describing how
ARCTIC intends to address the risks associated with a catastrophic event arising from ARCTIC’s
loading activities or ARCTIC’s failure to adhere to the proposed Water Loading Plan;

1) steps to be taken to avoid conflicts with other vessel traffic and industrial park users;

J) details on proposed handling of any ballast water in any vessel to be used in the loading of
raw bulk water, including plans to respond to the unauthorized discharge of such water;

k) details on proposed handling of any residual and/or wash water, or other materials in the tanks
of any vessel to be used in the loading;

1) the days and the periods of time within each day that raw bulk water is proposed to be loaded;

m) details describing how the proposed Water Loading Plan shall be made consistent with
Appendix B, which includes the “Prospective Purchaser Agreement Between the State of Alaska
and the City-Borough of Sitka for the Former Alaska Pulp Corporation Pulp Mill Property” dated
April 28, 1999, including all attachments, which specifically includes “Memorandum of
Understanding between the State of Alaska and the City and Borough of Sitka [:] Management
Plan for Sawmill Cove Property (Former APC Property).” The details describing such
consistency must include any and all specific steps to be taken to avoid anchoring in prohibited
areas and in any way disturbing the sea bottom in the “No Disturbance” zone described in the
last-referenced documents; and

12.3  ARCTIC shall comply with all provisions of each Water Loading Plan after all of such provisions
have been approved either upon submittal or re-submittal under Subsection 12.1 above, as to the water
loading operation for which the Water Loading Plan was submitted.

124 APPROVAL BY SITKA’S ADMINISTRATOR OF ANY WATER LOADING PLAN SHALL
NOT IMPOSE UPON SITKA THE STATUS OF GUARANTOR OF THE FEASIBILITY,
PROPRIETY, OR SAFETY OF ANY ASPECT OF AN APPROVED WATER LOADING PLAN, NOR
SHALL SUCH APPROVAL CREATE OR CONFER BENEFITS ON ANY THIRD PARTY.

13. Indemnification of Sitka.
13.1 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, ARCTIC shall defend, indemnify,
and hold Sitka harmless from any liability, claim, demand, action, obligation, or proceeding of any kind

or nature, based upon, arising out of, or related to:

a. any defect or flaw in the quality of raw bulk water supplied under this Agreement;
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b. any delays on the part of Sitka in the delivery of raw bulk water under this Agreement as the
result of the mechanical or physical breakdown of equipment or facilities owned or operated by
the Sitka or other unforeseen event;

¢. claims arising from the transportation or shipment of raw bulk water after such water has left
Sitka’s water delivery system and the point of delivery;

d. injuries to employees of ARCTIC or any of its contractors or their employees;

e. damages resulting from accidents involving mooring, unmooring, navigation of vessels, or
cargo loading operations, including but not limited to claims for personal injury, property
damage, and pollution; and

f. violations and claims of violations related to the water loading plan described in Paragraph
12.2;

g harm, including illness and death, to persons who consume the raw bulk water caused by the
failure of ARCTIC to comply with Paragraph 4.3 of this Agreement.

13.2 ARCTIC shall at all times during this Agreement maintain insurance policies providing umbrella
coverage against matters including but not limited to those covered by this Agreement in an amount not
less than U.S. $5,000,000, with the City and Borough of Sitka named as an additional insured, and with
a waiver of subrogation against Sitka. ARCTIC shall provide a copy of the certificate insurance ARCTIC
to Sitka within 60 days after the effective date of this Agreement.

13.3 ARCTIC shall be responsible for ensuring that each of its contractors is qualified to do business in
Alaska and refrains from activities for which insurance cannot be obtained. ARCTIC shall assure that
any contractor for ARCTIC which is to perform any task or work within the territorial jurisdiction of
Sitka has insurance appropriate to any task to be performed by that contractor, and ARCTIC shall deliver
a certificate of such insurance to the Administrator within 30 days of such hiring.

13.3 ARCTIC shall ensure that its customers take full responsibility for water product quality that they
receive subsequent to ARCTIC’s on-site Quality Control laboratory tests. ARCTIC’s Quality control
staff shall securely store a reasonable quantity of water sampled from each bulk water shipment for 24
months for re-analysis, if required for any reason by the Administrator. At ARCTIC’s expense the
Administrator shall hire an independent third party Quality Control laboratory to monitor the security of
ARCTIC’s Water Quality Control staff’s water sample storage and ARCTIC’s staff’s adherence to
nationally recognized storage protocols.

14.  Assignment.
This Agreement, which is in the nature of a personal services contract, may not be assigned by either

party without the prior written consent of the other party, which shall have full discretion to grant or
withhold such approval, in its sole and absolute discretion except as provided below.

Should Sitka form a Port Authority, or similar entity, this Agreement shall be completely transferable to
said Port Authority. A transfer of the Agreement to any such entity shall not create any restrictions upon
ARCTIC to purchase water other than those restrictions set out in this Agreement.
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15.  Waiver and Integration.

This Agreement integrates the entire Agreement between the parties regarding the sale and purchase of
raw water in bulk. This Agreement supersedes all previous agreements, discussions, and negotiations,
whether written or oral. Each party specifically acknowledges and represents that it has had ample
opportunity to consult with legal counsel regarding this Agreement, and that any rule that an agreement
should be construed against its drafter shall not apply to this Agreement.

16.  Force Majeure.

Neither party shall be in breach of this Agreement as the result of any failure or delay in performing any
of the obligations in this Agreement if such failure to perform or delay in performing is directly and
proximately caused by storm, flood, avalanche, landslide, earthquake, tsunami, act of the public enemy,
war, rebellion, insurrection, sabotage, epidemic, quarantine restriction, or act of God. Sitka shall not be
in breach of this Agreement as the result of any failure or delay in performing any of its obligations in
this Agreement if such failure to perform or delay in performing is directly and proximately caused by
any order of any United States court of competent jurisdiction, or by any act, rule, regulation, order or
directive of any superior governmental unit or any agency thereof, or by any termination, modification,
suspension, or revocation of any permit, license, allocation, appropriation, or certificate held by Sitka.
In the event Sitka or ARCTIC is relieved of an obligation under this Agreement due to Force Majeure,
time periods under this Agreement shall be adjusted accordingly. The party asserting a Force Majeure
event must demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that the failure or delay in performance is
directly and proximately caused.by a Force Majeure event.

17.  Applicable Law.

ARCTIC shall comply with all provisions of law applicable to its obligations under this
Agreement. This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws and procedures of the State
of Alaska.

18. Dispute Resolution.

18.1 GOOD FAITH EFFORTS OF THE PARTIES. Upon notice by either party to the other party of
any dispute or claim arising out of or related to this Agreement the parties shall first make a good-faith
endeavor to resolve the dispute or claim by meeting informally “face-to-face” within 15 days of such
notice to mediate the dispute or claim in good faith without a third-party mediator.

18.2 JURISDICTION AND VENUE. Should any party hereto institute any action or proceeding to
enforce any provision hereof or for damages by reason of any alleged breach of any section of this
Agreement or for any other remedy, such an action shall be brought in the Superior Court for the State
of Alaska. Venue for any such action or lawsuit shall lie exclusively in Sitka, Alaska. The parties
specifically agree not to remove jurisdiction to federal courts on the grounds of diversity of citizenship.

18.3 ATTORNEY’S FEES AND LEGAL EXPENSES. Should any party hereto institute any action or
proceeding to enforce any provision hereof or for damages by reason of any alleged breach of any section
of this Agreement or for any other remedy, the party that is successful in such action shall be entitled to
receive from the losing party all of its reasonable legal costs and expenses, including without limitation,

12



reasonable attorneys’ fees and all arbitration costs.

19. Effective Date.

This Agreement shall become effective upon ARCTIC making a non-refundable payment of $871,795
to Sitka, no later than June 30, 2016. The date on which ARCTIC makes such a payment will be the
“effective date” for the purpose of any time period which incorporates that term in this Agreement.
Should ARCTIC fail to make such a payment by June 30, 2016 this Agreement is null and void.

20.  Authority.

The parties represent and warrant to each other that they have the full, complete, and absolute authority
to enter into this Agreement; that this Agreement has been duly authorized by the governing body of
each party; that the person executing this Agreement on its behalf has the full power and authority to do
so; and that this Agreement is binding and enforceable against it in accordance with its terms. ARCTIC
acknowledges that this Agreement is only effective against Sitka if the City and Borough of Sitka
Assembly votes to authorize the Administrator to execute this Agreement on behalf of Sitka. By affixing
his signature to this Agreement the Administrator represents and warrants that the Assembly has so
voted.

21. Amendment and Severability.

This Agreement may not be amended except by written agreement of both parties. If any provision of
this Agreement or any application thereof to any person, entity, or circumstance is held invalid, the
remainder of this Agreement and application thereof to any person, entity, or circumstances shall not be
affected thereby.

22.  Time of Essence.
Time is of the essence in this Agreement.
23. Notices.

Any notices required or authorized to be given by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be sent
by email and by either commercial courier, facsimile, or by certified U.S. mail, postage prepaid and
return receipt requested, addressed to the proper party at the address stated below or such address as the
party shall have designated to the other parties in accordance with this Section. Such notice shall be
effective on the date of receipt through the mails or by courier by the addressee party, except that any
facsimiles received after 5:00 p.m. of the addressee's local time shall be deemed delivered the next day.

If to ARCTIC: Fred Paley, CEO
Arctic Blue Waters (Canada) Inc.
B-677 Broughton Ave
Quesnel, BC V2] 4V9

If to Sitka: Administrator
City and Borough of Sitka
100 Lincoln St
Sitka, Alaska, 99835
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IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the dates shown

below.

ARCTIC BLUE WATERS INC. THE CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA
DATE DATE

FRED PALEY, CEO MARK GORMAN, Administrator

ARCTIC BLUE WATERS (CANADA) INC. THE CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA

ATTEST:

DATE ___

SARA PETERSON CMC
Municipal Clerk
THE CITY AND BOROUGH OF SITKA

STATE OF ALASKA )
)ss. ACKNOWLEDGMENT
FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT )
THIS CERTIFIES that on this day of , 2016, before me, a Notary Public in and

for the State of Alaska personally appeared FRED PALEY to me known and known to me to be the
person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing PURCHASE AGREEMENT FOR BLUE LAKE
RAW BULK WATER and after being first duly sworn according to law, he stated to me under oath
that he is the CEO of ARCTIC BLUE WATERS (CANADA) INC., that he has been authorized by
said company to execute the foregoing PURCHASE AGREEMENT FOR BLUE LAKE RAW
BULK WATER on its behalf and he executed the same freely and voluntarily as the free act and deed
of said corporation.

Notary Public
My Commission Expires:

STATE OF ALASKA )
)ss. MUNICIPAL ACKNOWLEDGMENT
FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT )
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THIS CERTIFIES thaton this _ day of , 2016 before me, a Notary Public in and
for the State of Alaska, personally appeared MARK GORMAN to me known and known to me to be
the person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing PURCHASE AGREEMENT FOR BLUE
LAKE RAW BULK WATER, and after being first duly sworn according to law, he stated to me under
oath that he is the ADMINISTRATOR of the City and Borough of Sitka, Alaska, a municipality
organized under the laws of the State of Alaska, that he has been authorized by said municipality to
execute the foregoing PURCHASE AGREEMENT FOR BLUE LAKE RAW BULK WATER on
its behalf and he executed the same freely and voluntarily as the free act and deed of said corporation.

WITNESS my hand and official seal the day and year in this certificate first above written.

Notary Public for Alaska
My Commission Expires:
Residing at Sitka, Alaska
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